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Documents Incorporated by Reference: Portions of the registrant�s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed by
the registrant on or prior to 120 days following the end of the registrant�s fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 are incorporated by reference in Part III of this
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Except as expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, the �Company,� �PHH,� �we,� �our� or �us� means PHH Corporation, a Maryland
corporation, and its subsidiaries.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995.  Forward-looking statements may also be made in other documents filed or furnished with the SEC or may be made orally
to analysts, investors, representatives of the media and others.

Generally, forward-looking statements are not based on historical facts but instead represent only our current beliefs regarding future events.  All
forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors. Investors are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements.  Such statements may be identified by words such as �expects,� �anticipates,� �intends,� �projects,�
�estimates,� �plans,� �may increase,� �may fluctuate� and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as �will,� �should,� �would,� �may� and �could�. 
Forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

§ the impact of the adoption of recently issued accounting pronouncements on our financial statements;

§ the impact of the risk retention requirements and other provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act;

§ future origination volumes and loan margins in the mortgage industry;

§ our belief that sources of liquidity will be adequate to fund operations and repayment of upcoming debt maturities;

§ our expectations regarding our ability to achieve our liquidity plans;

§ our expectation of future income from new client signings;

§ our expectation of reinsurance losses and associated reserves and actuarial estimates of total reinsurance losses and expected future
reinsurance premiums; and
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§ mortgage repurchase and indemnification requests and associated reserves and provisions.

Actual results, performance or achievements may differ materially from those expressed or implied in forward-looking statements due to a
variety of factors, including but not limited to the factors listed and discussed in �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors� in this Form 10-K and those factors
described below:

§ the effects of continued market volatility or continued economic decline on the availability and cost of our financing arrangements and
the value of our assets;

§ the effects of a continued decline in the volume of U.S. home sales and home prices, due to adverse economic changes or otherwise, on
our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments;

§ the effects of changes in current interest rates on our business and our financing costs;

§ our decisions regarding the use of derivatives related to mortgage servicing rights, if any, and the resulting potential volatility of the
results of operations of our Mortgage Servicing segment;

§ the impact of the failure to maintain our credit ratings, including the impact on our cost of capital and ability to incur new indebtedness
or refinance our existing indebtedness, as well as our current or potential customers� assessment of our counterparty credit risk;

§ the effects of increases in our actual and projected repurchases of, indemnification given in respect of, or related losses associated with,
sold mortgage loans for which we have provided representations and warranties or other contractual recourse to purchasers and insurers of such
loans, including increases in our loss severity and reserves associated with such loans;

§ the effects of reinsurance claims in excess of projected levels and in excess of reinsurance premiums we are entitled to receive or
amounts currently held in trust to pay such claims;

1
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§ the effects of any significant adverse changes in the underwriting criteria or existence or programs of government-sponsored entities,
including Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, including any changes caused by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or
other actions of the federal government;

§ the effects of any inquiries and investigations of foreclosure procedures or other servicing activities by attorneys general of certain
states and the U.S. Department of Justice, any litigation related to our mortgage servicing activities, or any related fines, penalties and increased
costs;

§ the ability to maintain our status as a government sponsored entity-approved seller and servicer, including the ability to continue to
comply with the respective selling and servicing guides, including any changes caused by the Dodd-Frank Act;

§ the effects of any changes to the servicing compensation structure for mortgage servicers pursuant to the programs of government
sponsored-entities;

§ changes in laws and regulations, including changes in mortgage- and real estate-related laws and regulations (including changes caused
by the Dodd-Frank Act), status of government sponsored-entities and state, federal and foreign tax laws and accounting standards;

§ the effects of the insolvency of any of the counterparties to our significant customer contracts or financing arrangements or the inability
or unwillingness of such counterparties to perform their respective obligations under, or to renew on terms favorable to us, such contracts, or our
ability to continue to comply with the terms of our significant customer contracts, including service level agreements;

§ the effects of competition in our existing and potential future lines of business, including the impact of consolidation within the
industries in which we operate and competitors with greater financial resources and broader product lines;

§ the ability to obtain financing (including refinancing and extending existing indebtedness) on acceptable terms, if at all, to finance our
operations or growth strategy, to operate within the limitations imposed by our financing arrangements and to maintain the amount of cash
required to service our indebtedness;

§ the ability to maintain our relationships with our existing clients and to establish relationships with new clients;

§ the ability to attract and retain key employees;

§ a deterioration in the performance of assets held as collateral for secured borrowings;
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§ any failure to comply with covenants under our financing arrangements;

§ the effects of the consolidation of financial institutions and the related impact on the availability of credit; and

§ the impact of changes in the U.S. financial condition and fiscal and monetary policies, or any actions taken or to be taken by the U.S.
Department of the Treasury and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System on the credit markets and the U.S. economy.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made.  Factors and assumptions discussed above, and other factors not
identified above, may have an impact on the continued accuracy of any forward-looking statements that we make. Except for our ongoing
obligations to disclose material information under the federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any
forward-looking statements. For any forward-looking statements contained in any document, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for
forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

2
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PART I

Item 1. Business

HISTORY

We were incorporated in 1953 as a Maryland corporation.  For periods between April 30, 1997 and February 1, 2005, we were a wholly owned
subsidiary of Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.) and its predecessors that provided mortgage banking services,
facilitated employee relocations and provided vehicle fleet management and fuel card services.  On February 1, 2005, we began operating as an
independent, publicly traded company pursuant to our spin-off from Cendant.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading outsource provider of mortgage and fleet management services.  We provide mortgage banking services to a variety of clients,
including financial institutions and real estate brokers, throughout the U.S.  Our mortgage banking activities include originating, purchasing,
selling and servicing mortgage loans through our wholly owned subsidiary, PHH Mortgage Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively, �PHH
Mortgage�).  We provide commercial fleet management services to corporate clients and government agencies throughout the U.S. and Canada
through our wholly owned subsidiary, PHH Vehicle Management Services Group LLC (�PHH VMS�). PHH VMS is a fully integrated provider of
fleet management services with a broad range of product offerings, including managing and leasing vehicle fleets and providing other fee-based
services for our clients� vehicle fleets.

According to Inside Mortgage Finance, as of December 31, 2011, PHH Mortgage was the 4th largest retail mortgage loan originator in the U.S.
with a 4.6% market share, the 6th largest overall mortgage loan originator with a 3.8% market share and the 7th largest mortgage loan servicer
with a 1.8% market share.  According to the Automotive Fleet 2011 Fact Book, PHH VMS is the 3rd largest provider of outsourced commercial
fleet management services in the U.S. and Canada combined and had over 500,000 in vehicle units under management as of December 31, 2011.

Our corporate website is www.phh.com, and our reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act are available free on
our website under the tabs �Investor Relations�SEC Reports� as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The SEC also maintains a website (www.sec.gov) where our filings can be accessed for free. Our
Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct for Employees, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors and the
charters of the committees of our Board of Directors are also available on our corporate website and printed copies are available upon request.
The information contained on our corporate website is not part of this Form 10-K.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
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Our business activities are organized and presented in three operating segments: (i) Mortgage Production; (ii) Mortgage Servicing; and (iii) Fleet
Management Services.  A description of each operating segment is presented below and the results of operations for each of our reportable
segments is presented in �Part II�Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Results of
Operations.�

Mortgage Production Segment

Our Mortgage Production segment provides mortgage services, including private-label mortgage services, to financial institutions and real estate
brokers through PHH Mortgage.  The Mortgage Production segment generates revenue through fee-based mortgage loan origination services and
the origination and sale of mortgage loans into the secondary market.  PHH Mortgage generally sells all mortgage loans that it originates to
secondary market investors, which include a variety of institutional investors, and typically retains the servicing rights on mortgage loans sold. 
During 2011, 92% of our mortgage loans were sold to, or were sold pursuant to, programs sponsored by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie
Mae and the remaining 8% were sold to private investors.

3
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The Mortgage Production segment includes PHH Home Loans, LLC (together with its subsidiaries, �PHH Home Loans�), which is a joint venture
that we maintain with Realogy Corporation.  We own 50.1% of PHH Home Loans through our subsidiaries and Realogy owns the remaining
49.9% through their affiliates.  We have the exclusive right to use the Century 21, Coldwell Banker and ERA brand names in marketing our
mortgage loan products through PHH Home Loans and other arrangements that we have with Realogy.

The Mortgage Production segment also includes our interest in Speedy Title & Appraisal Review Services LLC (�STARS�), which provides
appraisal services utilizing a network of professional licensed firms offering local coverage throughout the U.S. and also provides credit
research, flood certification and tax services.  On March 31, 2011, we sold 50.1% of the equity interests in STARS to CoreLogic, Inc.  For
additional information regarding the sale, see �Part II�Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Results of Operations�Consolidated Results� in this Form 10-K.

We source mortgage loans through our retail and wholesale/correspondent platforms.  Within our retail platform, we operate through two
principal business channels: (i) private label services (outsourced mortgage services for financial institutions); and (ii) real estate (mortgage
services for brokers associated with brokerages owned or franchised by Realogy and third-party brokers).

Retail Platform

Through our retail platform, we maintain direct contact with borrowers who are purchasing a home or refinancing a mortgage loan.  We operate
either through our teleservices operation or our network of field sales professionals.  Within our teleservices operation, we provide centralized
application and loan processing capabilities for our customers.  Our network of field sales professionals are generally located in real estate
brokerage offices or are affiliated with financial institution clients around the U.S. and are equipped to provide product information and take
mortgage applications.  We also maintain multiple internet sites that provide online mortgage application capabilities for our customers.

Our retail platform consists of our private label services and real estate channels:

§ Private Label Services Channel:  We are a leading provider of private-label mortgage loan originations for financial institutions and
other entities throughout the U.S.  In this channel, we offer a complete outsourcing solution, from processing applications through funding, for
clients that wish to offer mortgage services to their customers but are not equipped to handle all aspects of the process cost-effectively.  We also
purchase closed mortgage loans from financial institutions.  During 2011, we were unable to reach an agreement to renew our relationship with
Charles Schwab Bank.  See �Part II�Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Overview�Executive Summary� for more information.

§ Real Estate Channel:  We work with real estate brokers to provide their customers with mortgage loans.  Through our affiliations with
real estate brokers, we have access to home buyers at the time of purchase.  We work with brokers associated with NRT Incorporated, Realogy�s
owned real estate brokerage business, brokers associated with Realogy�s franchised brokerages (�Realogy Franchisees�) and third-party brokers
that are not affiliated with Realogy.  NRT Incorporated is the largest owner and operator of residential real estate brokerages in the U.S. and
Realogy is a franchisor of some of the most recognizable residential real estate brands.  During the year ended December 31, 2011,
approximately 22% of our mortgage loan originations were derived from our relationship with Realogy and its affiliates.  In this channel, we
also work with Cartus Corporation, Realogy�s relocation business, to provide mortgage loans to employees of Cartus� clients.  Cartus is an
industry leader of outsourced corporate relocation services in the U.S.
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The following presents a summary of the relationships with Realogy-owned brokers and its franchisees and third-party brokers within the Real
Estate Channel:

Realogy-owned Brokers

Realogy has agreed that the real estate brokerage business owned and operated by NRT Incorporated and the title and settlement services
business owned and operated by Title Resource Group LLC will exclusively recommend PHH Home Loans as provider of mortgage loans to:
(i) the independent sales associates affiliated with Realogy, excluding the independent sales associates of any Realogy Franchisee; and (ii) all
customers of Realogy Services Group LLC and Realogy Services Venture Partner, Inc.,  excluding Realogy Franchisees.  In general, our capture
rate of mortgage loans where we are the exclusive recommended provider is much higher than in other situations.

Realogy Franchisees and Third Party Brokers

Certain Realogy Franchisees have agreed to exclusively recommend PHH Mortgage as provider of mortgage loans to their respective
independent sales associates. Additionally, for other Realogy Franchisees and third-party brokers, we endeavor to enter into separate marketing
service agreements or other arrangements whereby we are the exclusive recommended provider of mortgage loans to each franchise or broker.
We have entered into exclusive marketing service agreements with 5% of Realogy Franchisees as of December 31, 2011.

Substantially all of the originations through the real estate channel during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, were originated
from Realogy and Realogy Franchisees.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, we originated mortgage loans for approximately 17% of the
transactions in which real estate brokerages owned by Realogy represented the home buyer and approximately 8% of the transactions in which
real estate brokerages franchised by Realogy where we have exclusive marketing service agreements, represented the home buyer.

Wholesale/Correspondent Platform

Through our wholesale/correspondent platform, we purchase closed mortgage loans from community banks, credit unions, mortgage brokers and
mortgage bankers.  We also acquire mortgage loans from mortgage brokers that receive applications from and qualify the borrowers. 
Wholesale/correspondent originations are highly dependent upon pricing margins and overall industry capacity.

For 2012, we are taking certain actions to reposition our business, which may include reductions in our correspondent mortgage originations. 
See �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Overview�Executive Summary� for a further
discussion.

The following table sets forth the composition of our mortgage loan originations by platform and channel:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Retail Platform:
Private label services 47 % 41 % 48 %
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Real estate 22 % 27 % 37 %
Total retail 69 % 68 % 85 %

Wholesale/Correspondent Platform:
Total wholesale/correspondent 31 % 32 % 15 %
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Mortgage Servicing Segment

We principally generate revenue in our Mortgage Servicing segment through fees earned from our servicing rights or from our subservicing
agreements.  Mortgage servicing rights are the rights to receive a portion of the interest coupon and fees collected from the mortgagors for
performing specified mortgage servicing activities, which consist of collecting loan payments, remitting principal and interest payments to
investors, managing escrow funds for the payment of mortgage-related expenses such as taxes and insurance, performing loss mitigation
activities on behalf of investors, and otherwise administering our mortgage loan servicing portfolio.  Mortgage servicing rights for sold loans are
initially recorded at fair value in our Mortgage Production Segment�s results of operations.  Changes in fair value subsequent to the initial
capitalization are recorded in our Mortgage Servicing Segment�s results of operations. Our Mortgage Servicing segment also includes the results
of our reinsurance activities from our wholly owned subsidiary, Atrium Reinsurance Corporation.

We provide mortgage reinsurance to certain third-party insurance companies that provide primary mortgage insurance on loans originated in our
Mortgage Production segment.  While we do not underwrite primary mortgage insurance directly, we provide reinsurance that covers losses in
excess of a specified percentage of the principal balance of a given pool of mortgage loans, subject to a contractual limit.  In exchange for
assuming a portion of the risk of loss related to the reinsured loans, Atrium receives a portion of borrowers� premiums from the third-party
insurance companies.  Our two contracts with primary insurance companies are inactive and in runoff.  We did not provide reinsurance on loans
originated after 2009.  While in runoff, Atrium will continue to collect premiums and have risk of loss on the remaining population of loans
reinsured, but may not add to that population of loans.  For additional information regarding mortgage reinsurance, see �Part II�Item 7.
Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Risk Management� in this Form 10-K.

See ��Operating Segments�Mortgage Production Segment� and ��Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�The industries in which we
operate are highly competitive and, if we fail to meet the competitive challenges in our industries, it would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  Many of our competitors have access to greater financial resources, lower
funding costs and greater access to liquidity, which places us at a competitive disadvantage that we may not be able to overcome.� for more
information.

Fleet Management Services Segment

We provide fleet management services to corporate clients and government agencies throughout the U.S. and Canada.  The following table sets
forth the Net revenues attributable to our domestic and foreign operations:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Net revenues:
Domestic $ 1,352 $ 1,378 $ 1,489
Foreign 294 215 160

We are a fully integrated provider of these services with a broad range of product offerings.  We primarily focus on clients with fleets of greater
than 75 vehicles.  As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately 270,000 vehicles leased, primarily consisting of cars and light-duty trucks
and, to a lesser extent, medium and heavy-duty trucks, trailers and equipment, and approximately 300,000 additional vehicles serviced under
fuel cards, maintenance cards, accident management services arrangements and/or similar arrangements.  During the year ended December 31,
2011, we purchased approximately 61,000 vehicles.
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We differentiate ourselves from our competitors primarily on three factors: the breadth of our product offering, customer service and technology.
We are able to offer customized solutions to clients based on their needs.  We believe we have developed an industry-leading technology
infrastructure.  Our data warehousing, information management and online systems enable clients to download customized reports to better
monitor and manage their corporate fleets. We place an emphasis on customer service and focus on a consultative approach with our clients. Our
employees support each client in achieving the full benefits of an outsourced fleet management program, including lower costs and increased
productivity.  We offer 24-hour customer service for the end-users of our products and services.

We provide corporate clients and government agencies the following services and products:

§ Fleet Leasing and Fleet Management Services.  These services include vehicle leasing, fleet policy analysis and recommendations,
benchmarking, vehicle recommendations, ordering and purchasing vehicles, arranging for vehicle delivery and administration of the title and
registration process, as well as tax and insurance requirements, pursuing warranty claims and remarketing used vehicles.  We lease vehicles to
our clients under both open-end and closed-end leases.

Open-End Leases

Open-end leases represent 97% of our lease portfolio and are a form of lease in which the client bears substantially all of the vehicle�s residual
value risk.  These leases typically have a minimum term of 12 months and can be continued after that at the lessee�s election for successive
monthly renewals.  Upon return of the vehicle by the lessee, we typically sell the vehicle into the secondary market and the client receives a
credit or pays the difference between the sale proceeds and the vehicle�s book value.

Open-end leases may be classified as operating or direct financing depending upon the nature of the residual guarantee.  Revenues for operating
leases contain a depreciation component, an interest component and a management fee component, and are recognized over the lease term.  For
direct financing leases, revenues contain an interest component and a management fee component, and are recognized over the lease term.

Closed-End Leases

Closed-end leases represent 3% of our lease portfolio, and are a form of lease in which we retain the residual risk of the value of the vehicle at
the end of the lease term.  Closed-end leases may be classified as operating or direct financing based on the terms of the individual contracts.

§ Maintenance Services. We offer clients vehicle maintenance service cards that are used to facilitate payment for repairs and
maintenance. We maintain an extensive network of third-party service providers in the U.S. and Canada to ensure ease of use by the clients�
drivers.  The vehicle maintenance service cards provide clients with the following benefits: (i) negotiated discounts off of full retail prices
through our convenient supplier network; (ii) access to our in-house team of certified maintenance experts that monitor transactions for policy
compliance, reasonability and cost-effectiveness; and (iii) inclusion of vehicle maintenance transactions in a consolidated information and
billing database, which assists clients with the evaluation of overall fleet performance and costs.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, we
averaged  324,000 maintenance service cards outstanding in the U.S. and Canada.  We receive a fixed monthly fee for these services from our
clients as well as additional fees from service providers in our third-party network for individual maintenance services.
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§ Accident Management Services.  We provide our clients with comprehensive accident management services such as immediate
assistance upon receiving the initial accident report from the driver (e.g., facilitating emergency towing services and car rental assistance), an
organized vehicle appraisal and repair process through a network of third-party preferred repair and body shops and coordination and negotiation
of potential accident claims.  Our accident management services provide our clients with the following benefits: (i) convenient, coordinated
24-hour assistance from our call center; (ii) access to our relationships with the repair and body shops included in our preferred supplier
network, which typically provide clients with favorable terms; and (iii) expertise of our damage specialists, who ensure that vehicle appraisals
and repairs are appropriate, cost-efficient and in accordance with each client�s specific repair policy. During the year ended December 31, 2011,
we averaged  298,000 vehicles that were participating in accident management programs with us in the U.S. and Canada.  We receive fees from
our clients for these services as well as additional fees from service providers in our third-party network for individual incident services.

§ Fuel Card Services.  We provide our clients with fuel card programs that facilitate the payment, monitoring and control of fuel
purchases. Fuel is typically the single largest fleet-related operating expense.  Our fuel cards provide our clients with the following benefits:
(i) access to more fuel brands and outlets than other private-label corporate fuel cards; (ii) point-of-sale processing technology for fuel card
transactions that enhances clients� ability to monitor purchases and consolidated billing; and (iii) access to other information on fuel card
transactions, which assists clients with the evaluation of overall fleet performance and costs.  Our fuel cards are offered through relationships
with third parties in the U.S. and a proprietary card in Canada, which offer expanded fuel management capabilities on one service card. During
the year ended December 31, 2011, we averaged 295,000 fuel cards outstanding in the U.S. and Canada.  We receive both monthly fees from our
fuel card clients and additional fees from fuel partners and providers.

Trademarks and Intellectual Property

The trade names and related logos of our private-label clients are material to our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments, as
these clients license the use of their names to us in connection with our mortgage outsourcing business.  These trademark licenses generally run
for the duration of our origination services agreements with such financial institution clients and facilitate the origination services that we
provide to them.  Realogy�s brand names and related items, such as logos and domain names, of its owned and franchised residential real estate
brokerages are material to our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments.

Realogy licenses its real estate brands and related items, such as logos and domain names, to us for use in the mortgage loan origination services
that we provide to Realogy�s owned real estate brokerage, relocation and settlement services businesses.  In connection with our spin-off from
Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.), we entered into trademark license agreements with TM Acquisition Corp.,
Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation and ERA Franchise Systems, Inc.  Pursuant to these agreements, PHH Mortgage was granted a license
in connection with mortgage loan origination services on behalf of Realogy�s franchised real estate brokerage business and PHH Home Loans
was granted a license in connection with its mortgage loan origination services on behalf of Realogy�s owned real estate brokerage business
owned and operated by NRT, the relocation business owned and operated by Cartus Corporation and the settlement services business owned and
operated by Title Resource Group LLC.

The service mark �PHH� and related trademarks and logos are meaningful to our Fleet Management Services segment.  All of the material marks
used by us in our Fleet Management Services segment are registered (or have applications pending for registration) with the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office. All of the material marks used by us in our Fleet Management Services segment are also registered in Canada and the �PHH�
mark and logo are registered (or have applications pending) in those major countries where we have strategic partnerships with local providers
of fleet management services.  Except for the �Arval� mark, which we license from a third party so that we can do business as PHH Arval in the
U.S. and Canada, we own the material marks used by us in our Fleet Management Services segment.
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Competition

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive.  The principal factors for competition in our business are service, quality, products
and price.  We focus on customer service while working to enhance the efficiency of our operating platform. Excellent customer service is also a
critical component of our competitive strategy to win new clients and maintain existing clients.  We, along with our clients, consistently track
and monitor customer service levels and look for ways to improve customer service.  Some of our largest competitors in the mortgage business
include Bank of America, Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, Chase Home Finance and CitiMortgage.  Our competitors in the fleet management
business include GE Commercial Finance Fleet Services, Wheels, Inc., Automotive Resources International, Lease Plan International, and other
local and regional competitors, including numerous competitors who focus on one or two products.

Competitive conditions in the mortgage business can be impacted by shifts in consumer preference between variable-rate and fixed-rate
mortgage loans, depending on the interest rate environment.  Many smaller and mid-sized financial institutions may find it difficult to compete
in the mortgage industry due to the consolidation in the industry and the need to invest in technology in order to reduce operating costs while
maintaining compliance in an increasingly complex regulatory environment.  Additionally, more restrictive underwriting standards and the
elimination of Alt-A and subprime products has resulted in a more homogenous product offering, which has increased competition for
conforming mortgages across the industry.  Recently, many large mortgage lenders have slowed or shut down the purchase of loans from
third-party correspondents.  While we believe this may result in better pricing margins in our wholesale/correspondent business, we cannot
determine whether these margins will continue at higher levels in the future.  Furthermore, our level of correspondent originations may be
impacted by the execution of our liquidity and capital plan as further described in �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations�Overview�Executive Summary.�

We are party to a strategic relationship agreement dated as of January 31, 2005 between PHH Mortgage, PHH Home Loans, PHH Broker
Partner, Realogy Services Venture Partner, Inc. and Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.), which, among other things,
restricts us and our affiliates, subject to limited exceptions, from engaging in certain residential real estate services, including any business
conducted by Realogy.  The strategic relationship agreement also provides that we will not directly or indirectly sell any mortgage loans or
mortgage loan servicing to certain competitors in the residential real estate brokerage franchise businesses in the U.S. (or any company affiliated
with them).

Many of our competitors are larger than we are and have access to greater financial resources than we do, which can place us at a competitive
disadvantage. In addition, many of our largest competitors are banks or affiliated with banking institutions, the advantages of which include, but
are not limited to, the ability to hold new mortgage loan originations in an investment portfolio and having access to financing with more
favorable terms than we do, including lower rate bank deposits as a source of liquidity.  See ��Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our
Company�The businesses in which we engage are complex and heavily regulated, and changes in the regulatory environment affecting our
businesses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.�

Seasonality

Our Mortgage Production segment is subject to seasonal trends that reflect the pattern in the national housing market.  Home sales typically rise
during the spring and summer seasons and decline during the fall and winter seasons. Seasonality has less of an effect on mortgage refinancing
activity, which is primarily driven by prevailing mortgage rates relative to borrowers� current interest rate, home prices and levels of home
equity.
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Our Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management segments are generally not subject to seasonal trends.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we employed a total of approximately 5,740 persons.  Management considers our employee relations to be
satisfactory.  None of our employees were covered under collective bargaining agreements during the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Company

The businesses in which we engage are complex and heavily regulated, and changes in the regulatory environment affecting our businesses
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations and may be
subject to various judicial and administrative decisions imposing various requirements and restrictions on our business. These laws, regulations
and judicial and administrative decisions to which our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments are subject include those
pertaining to: real estate settlement procedures; fair lending; fair credit reporting; truth in lending; compliance with net worth and financial
statement delivery requirements; compliance with federal and state disclosure and licensing requirements; the establishment of maximum
interest rates, finance charges and other charges; secured transactions; collection, foreclosure, repossession and claims-handling procedures;
other trade practices and privacy regulations providing for the use and safeguarding of non-public personal financial information of borrowers
and guidance on non-traditional mortgage loans issued by the federal financial regulatory agencies. By agreement with our private-label clients,
we are required to comply with additional requirements that our clients may be subject to through their regulators.

During the third quarter of 2010, several of our mortgage servicing competitors announced the suspension of foreclosure proceedings in various
judicial foreclosure states due to concerns associated with the preparation and execution of affidavits used in connection with foreclosure
proceedings in such states.  Due in part to these announcements, we have received inquiries from regulators and attorneys general of certain
states requesting information as to our foreclosure processes and procedures.  Furthermore, some local and state governmental authorities have
taken, and others are contemplating taking, regulatory action to require increased loss mitigation outreach for borrowers, including the
imposition of waiting periods prior to the filing of notices of default and the completion of foreclosure sales and, in some cases, moratoriums on
foreclosures altogether.

While we are continuing to monitor these developments, these developments have resulted and could continue to result in new legislation and
regulations that could materially and adversely affect the manner in which we conduct our mortgage servicing business, heightened federal or
state regulation and oversight of our mortgage servicing activities, increased costs and potential litigation associated with our mortgage servicing
business and foreclosure related activities, and a temporary decline in home purchase loan originations in our mortgage production business due
to the heightened number of distressed property sales that have recently characterized existing home sales.  Such regulatory changes in the
foreclosure process or delays in completing foreclosures could increase mortgage servicing costs and could reduce the ultimate proceeds
received on the sale of foreclosed properties if real estate values continue to decline. In such event, these changes would also have a negative
impact on our liquidity as we may be required to repurchase loans without the ability to sell the underlying property on a timely basis.

Additionally, on July 21, 2010 the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law for the express purpose of further regulating the financial services
industry, including mortgage origination, sales, and securitization. Certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act may impact the operation and
practices of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and require sponsors of securitizations to retain a portion of the economic interest in the credit risk
associated with the assets securitized by them. Federal regulators have been authorized to provide exceptions to the risk retention requirements
for certain �qualified mortgages� and mortgages meeting certain underwriting standards prescribed in such regulations. It is unclear whether future
regulations related to the definition of �qualified mortgages� will include the types of conforming mortgage loans we typically sell into GSE
sponsored mortgage-backed securities.  If the mortgage loans we typically sell into GSE-sponsored mortgage-backed securities do not meet the
definition of a �qualified mortgage,� then the GSEs may be required to retain a portion of the risk of assets they securitize, which may in turn
substantially reduce or eliminate the GSEs� ability to issue mortgage-backed securities.  Substantial reduction in, or the elimination of, GSE
demand for the mortgage loans we originate would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
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cash flows since we sell substantially all of our loans pursuant to GSE sponsored programs.  It is also unclear what effect future laws or
regulations may have on the
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ability of the GSEs to issue mortgage-backed securities and it is not currently possible to determine what changes, if any, Congress may make to
the structure of the GSEs.

The Dodd-Frank Act also establishes an independent federal bureau of consumer financial protection to enforce laws involving consumer
financial products and services, including mortgage finance.  The bureau is empowered with examination and enforcement authority. The
Dodd-Frank Act also establishes new standards and practices for mortgage originators, including determining a prospective borrower�s ability to
repay their mortgage, removing incentives for higher cost mortgages, prohibiting prepayment penalties for non-qualified mortgages, prohibiting
mandatory arbitration clauses, requiring additional disclosures to potential borrowers and restricting the fees that mortgage originators may
collect.  In addition, our ability to enter into future asset-backed securities transactions may be impacted by the Dodd-Frank Act and other
proposed reforms related thereto, the effect of which on the asset-backed securities market is currently uncertain.  While we are continuing to
evaluate all aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act, such legislation and regulations promulgated pursuant to such legislation could materially and
adversely affect the manner in which we conduct our businesses, result in heightened federal regulation and oversight of our business activities,
and result in increased costs and potential litigation associated with our business activities.

In January 2012, we were notified that the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau had opened an investigation to determine whether our
mortgage insurance premium ceding practices to captive reinsurers comply with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and other laws
enforced by the CFPB.  The CFPB requested certain related documents and information for review. We have provided reinsurance services in
exchange for premiums ceded and believe that we have complied with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and other laws. We have not
provided reinsurance on loans originated after 2009. There can be no assurance whether or not this investigation will result in the imposition of
any penalties and fines against us or our subsidiaries.

Our failure to comply with the laws, rules or regulations to which we are subject, whether actual or alleged, would expose us to fines, penalties
or potential litigation liabilities, including costs, settlements and judgments, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive and, if we fail to meet the competitive challenges in our industries, it would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  Many of our competitors have access to
greater financial resources, lower funding costs and greater access to liquidity, which places us at a competitive disadvantage that we may
not be able to overcome.

We operate in highly competitive industries that could become even more competitive as a result of economic, legislative, regulatory or
technological changes.  Competition for mortgage loan originations comes primarily from commercial banks and savings institutions.  Many of
our competitors for mortgage loan originations that are commercial banks or savings institutions typically have access to greater financial
resources, have lower funding costs, are less reliant than we are on the sale of mortgage loans into the secondary markets to maintain their
liquidity, and may be able to participate in government programs that we are unable to participate in because we are not a state or federally
chartered depository institution, all of which places us at a competitive disadvantage.  The advantages of our largest competitors include, but are
not limited to, their ability to hold new mortgage loan originations in an investment portfolio and their access to lower rate bank deposits as a
source of liquidity.  Additionally, more restrictive loan underwriting standards and the widespread elimination of Alt-A and subprime mortgage
products throughout the industry have resulted in a more homogenous product offering, which has increased competition across the industry for
mortgage originations.

The fleet management industry in which we operate is also highly competitive. We compete against national competitors, such as GE
Commercial Finance Fleet Services, Wheels Inc., Automotive Resources International, Lease Plan International and other local and regional
competitors, including numerous competitors who focus on one or two products. Growth in our Fleet Management Services segment is driven
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principally by increased market share in fleets greater than 75 units and increased fee-based services.  Competitive pressures in the Fleet
Management industry resulting in a decrease in our market share or lower prices would adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.
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We are substantially dependent upon our secured and unsecured funding arrangements.  If any of our funding arrangements are
terminated, not renewed or otherwise become unavailable to us, we may be unable to find replacement financing on economically viable
terms, if at all, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We are substantially dependent upon various sources of funding, including unsecured credit facilities and other unsecured debt, as well as
secured funding arrangements, including asset-backed securities, mortgage warehouse facilities and other secured credit facilities to fund
mortgage loans and vehicle acquisitions, a significant portion of which is short-term in nature.  Our access to both the secured and unsecured
credit markets is subject to prevailing market conditions.  Renewal of our existing series of, or the issuance of new series of, vehicle lease
asset-backed notes on terms acceptable to us or our ability to enter into alternative vehicle management asset-backed debt arrangements could be
adversely affected in the event of: (i) the deterioration in the quality of the assets underlying the asset-backed debt arrangement; (ii) increased
costs associated with accessing or our inability to access the asset-backed debt market; (iii) termination of our role as servicer of the underlying
lease assets in the event that we default in the performance of our servicing obligations or we declare bankruptcy or become insolvent or (iv) our
failure to maintain a sufficient level of eligible assets or credit enhancements, including collateral intended to provide for any differential
between variable-rate lease revenues and the underlying variable-rate debt costs. In addition, our access to and our ability to renew our existing
mortgage asset-backed debt could suffer in the event of: (i) the deterioration in the performance of the mortgage loans underlying the
asset-backed debt arrangement; (ii) our failure to maintain sufficient levels of eligible assets or credit enhancements; (iii) increased costs
associated with accessing or our inability to access the mortgage asset-backed debt market; (iv) our inability to access the secondary market for
mortgage loans; (v) termination of our role as servicer of the underlying mortgage assets in the event that (a) we default in the performance of
our servicing obligations or (b) we declare bankruptcy or become insolvent or (vi) a lowering of our credit ratings.

Certain of our debt arrangements require us to comply with certain financial covenants and other affirmative and restrictive covenants, including
requirements to post additional collateral or to fund assets that become ineligible under our secured funding arrangements.  An uncured default
of one or more of these covenants would result in a cross-default between and amongst our various debt arrangements. Consequently, an
uncured default under any of our debt arrangements that is not waived by our lenders and that results in an acceleration of amounts payable to
our lenders or the termination of credit facilities would materially and adversely impact our liquidity, could force us to sell assets at below
market prices to repay our indebtedness, and could force us to seek relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, all of which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. See Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements� in the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our debt arrangements and related financial
covenants and other affirmative and restrictive covenants.

If any of our credit facilities are terminated, including as a result of our breach or a lowering of our credit ratings, or are not renewed or if
conditions in the credit markets worsen dramatically and it is not possible or economical for us to complete the sale or securitization of our
originated mortgage loans or vehicle leases, we may be unable to find replacement financing on commercially favorable terms, if at all, which
could adversely impact our operations and prevent us from: (i) executing our business plan and related risk management strategies;
(ii) originating new mortgage loans or vehicle leases; or (iii) fulfilling commitments made in the ordinary course of business. These factors could
reduce revenues attributable to our business activities or require us to sell assets at below market prices, either of which would have a material
adverse effect on our overall business and consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Due to the downgrade of our
credit rating by S&P on December 21, 2011, Fannie Mae has the right to terminate its $1.0 billion committed early funding letter agreement. 
We are currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various agreements with Fannie Mae, including the committed early
funding facility agreement. There can be no assurance that we will reach agreement with Fannie Mae concerning such proposed amendments or
that Fannie Mae will not exercise its rights to terminate the committed early funding letter agreement.
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Adverse developments in the secondary mortgage market have had, and in the future could have, a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

We historically have relied on selling or securitizing our mortgage loans into the secondary market in order to generate liquidity to fund
maturities of our indebtedness, the origination and warehousing of mortgage loans, the retention of mortgage servicing rights and for general
working capital purposes. We bear the risk of being unable to sell or securitize our mortgage loans at advantageous times and prices or in a
timely manner. Demand in the secondary market and our ability to complete the sale or securitization of our mortgage loans depends on a
number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including general economic conditions, general conditions in the banking system, the
willingness of lenders to provide funding for mortgage loans, the willingness of investors to purchase mortgage loans and mortgage-backed
securities and changes in regulatory requirements.  If it is not possible or economical for us to complete the sale or securitization of certain of
our mortgage loans held for sale, we may lack liquidity under our mortgage financing facilities to continue to fund such mortgage loans and our
revenues and margins on new loan originations would be materially and negatively impacted, which would materially and negatively impact our
Net revenues and Segment profit (loss) of our Mortgage Production segment and also have a material adverse effect on our overall business and
our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  The severity of the impact would be most significant to the extent we
were unable to sell conforming mortgage loans to the GSEs or securitize such loans pursuant to GSE sponsored programs.

Our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings are below investment grade (and were subject to a downgrade in December 2011) and, as a
result, we may be limited in our ability to obtain or renew financing on economically viable terms or at all.

Our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings are below investment grade.  As a result of our senior unsecured long-term debt credit ratings being
below investment grade, our access to the public debt markets may be severely limited in comparison to the ability of investment grade issuers to
access such markets. We may be required to rely on alternative financing, such as bank lines and private debt placements and pledge otherwise
unencumbered assets. There can be no assurances that we would be able to find such alternative financing on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
Furthermore, we may be unable to renew all of our existing bank credit commitments beyond the then-existing maturity dates. As a
consequence, our cost of financing could rise significantly, thereby negatively impacting our ability to finance our mortgage loans held for sale,
mortgage servicing rights and net investment in fleet leases. Any of the foregoing would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

On December 21, 2011, S&P lowered our senior unsecured debt rating two notches to BB- with a negative outlook. S&P may lower our rating
by another notch or more if we are unable to refinance the $421 million aggregate principal amount of our debt maturing in 2013 or are unable to
put in place sources of liquidity to fund our business satisfactory to S&P. The December 21, 2011 S&P downgrade and any possible negative
future action by S&P or any of the other ratings agencies will exacerbate the risks described above.

On January 10, 2012, Moody�s affirmed our senior unsecured debt rating and corporate family rating at Ba2 and our commercial paper rating at
NP. Additionally, Moody�s changed its outlook for our senior unsecured debt and corporate family ratings to negative from stable. In addition, on
January 10, 2012, Fitch announced that it has maintained our long-term issuer default rating and senior unsecured debt rating at BB+ and placed
our long-term issuer default rating and senior unsecured debt rating on Rating Watch Negative.

Due to the December 21, 2011 S&P downgrade Fannie Mae, among other termination rights, has the right to terminate the $1.0 billion
committed early funding letter agreement.   We are currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various agreements with
Fannie Mae, including the committed early funding facility agreement.  There can be no assurance that we will reach agreement with Fannie
Mae concerning such proposed amendments or that Fannie Mae will not exercise its rights to terminate the committed early funding letter
agreement.  In addition, Fannie Mae has required, and other counterparties may require, an increased level of credit enhancements including but
not limited to additional collateral posting requirements for derivative and debt agreements and a reduction in advance rates on mortgage
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warehouse asset-backed debt.  Further, we cannot assure you what, if any, impact the December 21, 2011 S&P downgrade or future ratings
actions will have on our current
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or potential customers� perception of our counterparty credit risk, and whether such action will result in any customer attrition or requests for
changes in the terms of any existing or potential agreements.

There can be no assurances that our credit rating by the primary ratings agencies reflects all of the risks of an investment in our debt securities.
Our credit ratings are an assessment by the rating agency of our ability to pay our obligations. Any of our credit ratings are subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the applicable rating agency. Actual or anticipated changes in our credit ratings will generally affect the market value
of our debt securities. Our credit ratings, however, may not reflect the potential impact of risks related to market conditions generally or other
factors on the market value of, or trading market for, our debt securities.

We are currently pursuing various alternatives to improve our liquidity in order to fulfill upcoming debt maturities.  We cannot assure you
that our efforts will be successful or that future ratings actions will not occur.

We are currently pursuing various alternatives to improve our liquidity. Such alternatives may involve one or more of the following: (i) focusing
our efforts to ensure that our operations are cash flow positive, which may include reductions in our correspondent mortgage originations and
capital expenditures,  (ii) disposition of assets that are not necessary to support our business strategies, which may include the assets of our
reinsurance business; and (iii) generating mortgage servicing rights with minimal use of cash. While we believe that these alternatives will
ensure that we have sufficient liquidity to meet our debt service obligations and operate our business, there can be no assurance that we will be
successful in implementing any such alternatives, or if we are successful, that such alternatives will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs.
Additionally, if we are successful in executing upon such alternatives, it could negatively impact our future results of operations, including
revenue and net income. In addition, we may seek to undertake one or more deleveraging transactions, which may include purchases of our
outstanding indebtedness through open market or privately negotiated transactions with third parties or pursuant to one or more tender or
exchange offers or otherwise, upon such terms and at such prices as well as with such consideration as we may determine.

We do not know if or when we would consummate any such transactions, or alternative transactions, or the final terms of any such transactions.
If we are forced to liquidate assets, the resulting proceeds may be below the fair value or our carrying value of the related assets.  While we
believe we will be able to successfully execute certain of these alternatives and meet our debt maturities in 2012 and 2013, our failure to execute
on such alternatives or generate positive cash flow from our business could, among other things, negatively impact our various business
relationships and, as a result, our results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.

We are highly dependent upon programs administered by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae. Changes in existing U.S.
government-sponsored mortgage programs or servicing eligibility standards could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Our ability to generate revenues through mortgage loan sales to institutional investors in the form of mortgage-backed securities depends to a
significant degree on programs administered by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae and others that facilitate the issuance of
mortgage-backed securities in the secondary market.  These entities play a powerful role in the residential mortgage industry, and we have
significant business relationships with them. Our status as a Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae approved seller/servicer is subject to
compliance with each entity�s respective selling and servicing guidelines and failure to meet such guidelines could result in the unilateral
termination of our status as an approved seller/servicer.
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During 2011, 92% of our mortgage loan sales were sold to, or were sold pursuant to programs sponsored by, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie
Mae. We also derive other material financial benefits from our relationships with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae, including the
assumption of credit risk by these entities on loans included in mortgage-backed securities in exchange for our payment of guarantee fees, the
ability to avoid certain loan inventory finance costs through streamlined loan funding and sale procedures and the use of mortgage warehouse
facilities with Fannie Mae pursuant to which, as of December 31, 2011, we had total capacity of $3.0 billion, made up of $1.0 billion of
committed and $2.0 billion uncommitted capacity. Fannie Mae has the right to terminate $1.0 billion of our committed mortgage warehouse
capacity since our credit rating by S&P has fallen below BB. We are currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various
agreements with Fannie Mae, including the committed early funding facility agreement.  There can be no assurance that we will reach
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agreement with Fannie Mae concerning such proposed amendments or that Fannie Mae will not exercise its rights to terminate the committed
early funding letter agreement.  Any such amendments could result in changes to our agreements with Fannie Mae, including, without limitation,
(i) a reduction or elimination of the use of certain Fannie Mae products or programs, (ii) the modification of certain legal agreements, and
(iii) the exercise of certain contractual rights by Fannie Mae intended to reduce Fannie Mae�s counterparty risk exposure, including requiring us
to post collateral in respect of unresolved loan repurchase demands and reducing the advance rate on the servicing advance facility.

In addition, we service loans on behalf of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, as well as loans that have been securitized pursuant to securitization
programs sponsored by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae in connection with the issuance of agency guaranteed mortgage-backed
securities and a majority of our mortgage servicing rights relate to these servicing activities.  These entities establish the base service fee to
compensate us for servicing loans as well as the assessment of fines and penalties that may be imposed upon us for failing to meet servicing
standards.

In January 2011, the Federal Housing Finance Agency directed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to develop a joint initiative to consider alternatives
for future mortgage servicing structures and compensation.  Under this proposal, the GSEs are considering potential structures in which the
minimum service fee would be reduced or eliminated altogether.  This would provide mortgage bankers with the ability to either sell all or a
portion of the retained servicing fee for cash up front, or retain an excess servicing fee.  While the proposal provides additional flexibility in
managing liquidity and capital requirements, it is unclear how the various options might impact mortgage-backed security pricing and the related
pricing of excess servicing fees.  The GSEs are also considering different pricing options for non-performing loans to better align servicer
incentives with MBS investors and provide the loan guarantor the ability to transfer non-performing servicing.  The Federal Housing Finance
Agency has indicated that any change in the servicing compensation structure would be prospective and the changes, if implemented, could have
a significant impact on the entire mortgage industry and on the results of operations and cash flows of our mortgage business.

In February 2011 the Obama administration issued a report to Congress, and in February 2012 the Federal Housing Finance Agency issued a
report to Congress outlining the long-term strategic plan for, and various options for long-term reform of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  These
options involve gradually reducing the role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the mortgage market and ultimately winding down both
institutions such that the private sector provides the majority of mortgage credit.  Such reforms may include, among other actions: (i) further
reductions in conforming loan limits; (ii) increases in guarantee fees; (iii) standardization of servicing protocols; (iv) changes to servicer
compensation; and (v) increased MBS disclosures.  In addition, it is possible that some of these reforms could be accelerated depending on the
outcome of the 2012 U.S. Presidential and Congressional elections, among other things.  Any of these options are likely to result in higher
mortgage rates in the future, which could have a negative impact on our Mortgage production business.  Additionally, it is unclear what impact
these changes will have on the secondary mortgage markets, mortgage-backed securities pricing, and competition in the industry.

The potential changes to the government-sponsored mortgage programs, and related servicing compensation structures, could require us to
fundamentally change our business model in order to effectively compete in the market.  Our inability to make the necessary changes to respond
to these changing market conditions or loss of our approved seller/servicer status with any of these entities, would have a material adverse effect
on our overall business and our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows and could result in a lowering of our credit
ratings.  Any discontinuation of, significant reduction of or material change in, the operation or underwriting standards of these entities would
likely prevent us from originating and selling most, if not all, of our salable mortgage loan originations and could result in the discontinuation of
or material decrease in the availability of our mortgage warehouse facilities with Fannie Mae.

Continued or worsening conditions in the real estate market have adversely impacted, and in the future could continue to adversely impact,
our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Adverse economic conditions in the United States have resulted, and could continue to result, in increased mortgage loan payment
delinquencies, home price depreciation and a lower volume of home sales. These trends have negatively impacted and may continue to
negatively impact our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments through increased loss severities in connection with loan
repurchase and indemnification claims due to
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declining home prices, increased mortgage reinsurance losses due to increased delinquencies and loss severities, and lower home purchase
mortgage originations.

However, we have experienced a relatively smaller impact from these trends than many of our current and former competitors because we
generally sell substantially all of the mortgage loans we originate shortly after origination, we do not generally maintain credit risk on the loans
we originate or maintain a loan investment portfolio, substantially all of our mortgage loan originations are prime mortgages rather than Alt-A or
subprime mortgages, and our mortgage loan servicing portfolio has experienced a lower rate of payment delinquencies than that of many of our
competitors.  Nevertheless, these trends have resulted in an increase in the incidence of loan repurchase and indemnification claims, as well as
an increase in incurred mortgage reinsurance losses, resulting in an increase in our recorded reserves for expected and realized losses for loan
repurchases and indemnifications and mortgage reinsurance.  Continuation of these trends could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Our Mortgage Production segment is substantially dependent upon our relationships with Realogy and Merrill Lynch Home Loans, a
division of Bank of America, National Association, and the termination or non-renewal of our contractual agreements with these clients
would materially and adversely impact our mortgage loan originations and resulting Net revenues and Segment profit (loss) of our Mortgage
Production segment and this would have a material adverse effect on our overall business and our consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

We have relationships with several clients that represent a significant portion of our revenues and mortgage loan originations for our Mortgage
Production segment.  In particular, Realogy and Merrill Lynch Home Loans, a division of Bank of America, National Association, represented
approximately 22% and 21%, respectively, of our mortgage loan originations for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The loss of any one of
these clients, whether due to insolvency, their unwillingness or inability to perform their obligations under their respective contractual
relationships with us, or if we are not able to renew on commercially reasonable terms any of their respective contractual relationships with us,
would materially and adversely impact our mortgage loan originations and resulting Net revenues and Segment profit (loss) of our Mortgage
Production segment and this would also have a material adverse effect on our overall business and our consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

In the third quarter of 2011, we were unable to reach an agreement to renew our existing relationship with Charles Schwab, which represented
9% of our mortgage loan originations for the year ended December 31, 2011, as well as approximately $8.9 billion of subserviced loans as of
December 31, 2011. See Item 7, �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Overview�Executive
Summary�.

The termination of our status as the exclusive recommended provider of mortgage products and services promoted by Realogy�s affiliates
would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We are party to a strategic relationship agreement dated as of January 31, 2005 between PHH Mortgage, PHH Home Loans, PHH Broker
Partner, Realogy Services Venture Partner, Inc. and Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.). Under the Strategic
Relationship Agreement we are the exclusive recommended provider of mortgage loans to the independent sales associates affiliated with the
real estate brokerage business owned and operated by Realogy�s affiliates and certain customers of Realogy. The marketing agreement entered
into between Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation, Century 21 Real Estate LLC, ERA Franchise Systems, Inc., Sotheby�s International
Affiliates, Inc. and PHH Mortgage Corporation similarly provides that we are the exclusive recommended provider of mortgage loans and
related products to the independent sales associates of Realogy�s real estate brokerage franchisees, which include Coldwell Banker Real Estate
Corporation, Century 21 Real Estate LLC, ERA Franchise Systems, Inc. and Sotheby�s International Affiliates, Inc.
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In addition, the Strategic Relationship Agreement provides that Realogy has the right to terminate the covenant requiring it to exclusively
recommend us as the provider of mortgage loans to the independent sales associates affiliated with the real estate brokerage business owned and
operated by Realogy�s affiliates and certain customers of Realogy, following notice and a cure period, if:

§ we materially breach any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Strategic Relationship Agreement, the
Marketing Agreement, trademark license agreements  or certain other related agreements, including, without limitation, our confidentiality
agreements in the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement and the Strategic Relationship Agreement, and our non-competition agreements in
the Strategic Relationship Agreement;

§ we become subject to any regulatory order or governmental proceeding and such order or proceeding prevents or materially impairs PHH
Home Loans� ability to originate mortgage loans for any period of time (which order or proceeding is not generally applicable to companies in
the mortgage lending business) in a manner that adversely affects the value of one or more of the quarterly distributions to be paid by PHH
Home Loans pursuant to the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement;

§ PHH Home Loans otherwise is not permitted by law, regulation, rule, order or other legal restriction to perform its origination function in
any jurisdiction, but in such case exclusivity may be terminated only with respect to such jurisdiction; or

§ PHH Home Loans does not comply with its obligations to complete an acquisition of a mortgage loan origination company under the
terms of the Strategic Relationship Agreement.

If Realogy were to terminate its exclusivity obligations with respect to us, one of our competitors could replace us as the recommended provider
of mortgage loans to Realogy and its affiliates and franchisees, which would result in our loss of most, if not all, of our mortgage loan
originations, Net revenues and Segment profit (loss) of our Mortgage Production segment derived from Realogy�s affiliates, which loss would
have a material adverse effect on our overall business and our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Moreover, certain of the events that give Realogy the right to terminate its exclusivity obligations with respect to us under the Strategic
Relationship Agreement would also give Realogy the right to terminate its other agreements and arrangements with us.  For example, the PHH
Home Loans Operating Agreement also permits Realogy to terminate the mortgage venture with us upon our material breach of any
representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained in the Strategic Relationship Agreement, the Marketing Agreement, the
Trademark License Agreements or certain other related agreements that is not cured following any applicable notice or cure period or if we
become subject to any regulatory order or governmental proceeding that prevents or materially impairs PHH Home Loans� ability to originate
mortgage loans for any period of time (which order or proceeding is not generally applicable to companies in the mortgage lending business) in
a manner that adversely affects the value of one or more of the quarterly distributions to be paid by PHH Home Loans pursuant to the PHH
Home Loans Operating Agreement.  Upon a termination of the PHH Home Loans joint venture by Realogy or its affiliates, Realogy will have
the right either (i) to require that we or certain of our affiliates purchase all of Realogy�s interest in PHH Home Loans; or (ii) to cause us to sell
our interest in PHH Home Loans to an unaffiliated third party designated by certain of Realogy�s affiliates.  Additionally, any termination of
PHH Home Loans will also result in a termination of the Strategic Relationship Agreement and our exclusivity rights under the Strategic
Relationship Agreement.  Pursuant to the terms of the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, beginning on February 1, 2015, Realogy will
have the right at any time upon two years� notice to us to terminate its interest in PHH Home Loans. If Realogy were to terminate PHH Home
Loans or our other arrangements with Realogy, including its exclusivity obligations with respect to us, any such termination would likely result
in our loss of most, if not all, of our mortgage loan originations, Net revenues and Segment profit (loss) of our Mortgage Production segment
derived from Realogy�s affiliates, which loss would have a material adverse effect on our overall business and our consolidated financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Certain hedging strategies that we may use to manage risks associated with our assets, including mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate
lock commitments, mortgage servicing rights and foreign currency denominated assets, may not be effective in mitigating those risks and
could result in substantial losses that could exceed the losses that would have been incurred had we not used such hedging strategies.

We may employ various economic hedging strategies in an attempt to mitigate the interest rate and prepayment risk inherent in many of our
assets, including our mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate lock commitments and, from time to time, our mortgage servicing rights. Our
hedging activities may include entering into derivative instruments. We also seek to manage interest rate risk in our Mortgage Production and
Mortgage Servicing segments partially without the use of financial derivatives by monitoring and seeking to maintain an appropriate balance
between our loan production volume and the size of our mortgage servicing portfolio, as the value of mortgage servicing rights and the income
they provide tend to be counter-cyclical to the changes in production volumes and the gain or loss on loans that result from changes in interest
rates. This approach requires our management to make assumptions with regards to future replenishment rates for our mortgage servicing rights,
loan margins, the value of additions to our mortgage servicing rights and loan origination costs, and many factors can impact these estimates,
including loan pricing margins and our ability to adjust staffing levels to meet changing consumer demand.

We are also exposed to foreign exchange risk associated with our investment in our Canadian operations and with foreign exchange forward
contracts that we have entered into, or may in the future enter into, to hedge U.S. dollar denominated borrowings used to fund Canadian dollar
denominated leases and operations.  Our hedging decisions in the future to manage these foreign exchange risks will be determined in light of
the facts and circumstances existing at the time and may differ from our current hedging strategy.

During the third quarter of 2008, we assessed the composition of our capitalized mortgage servicing portfolio and its relative sensitivity to
refinance if interest rates decline, the costs of hedging and the anticipated effectiveness of the hedge given the current economic environment.
Based on that assessment, we made the decision to close out substantially all of our derivatives related to mortgage servicing rights during the
third quarter of 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we executed certain derivative transactions to serve as an economic hedge of a
portion of the interest rate risk associated with our mortgage servicing rights. We entered into these derivative transactions to ensure that there
would be sufficient capacity under our debt facilities to fund higher origination volumes given the declining mortgage rates, while maintaining
compliance with the leverage covenants in our debt agreements. The increase in mortgage asset-backed debt, coupled with the decline in value
of mortgage servicing rights resulting from lower mortgage rates, could have the effect of increasing our indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio
in the short term.  Our decisions regarding the levels, if any, of our derivatives related to mortgage servicing rights could result in continued
volatility in the results of operations for our Mortgage Servicing segment.

Our hedging strategies, including our decision not to use financial derivatives to hedge a substantial portion of our Mortgage servicing rights,
may not be effective in mitigating the risks related to changes in interest rates or foreign exchange rates and we may have insufficient liquidity to
exercise our strategies. Poorly designed strategies or improperly executed transactions could actually increase our risk and losses, and could
result in losses in excess of what our losses would have been from had we not used such hedging strategies. There have been periods, and it is
likely that there will be periods in the future, during which we incur significant losses after consideration of the results of our hedging strategies.
As stated earlier, the success of our interest rate risk management strategy and our replenishment strategies for our mortgage servicing rights are
largely dependent on our ability to predict the earnings sensitivity of our loan servicing and loan production activities in various interest rate
environments, as well as our ability to successfully manage any capacity constraints in our mortgage production business and our ability to
maintain sufficient liquidity to exercise these strategies. Our hedging strategies also rely on assumptions and projections regarding our assets and
general market factors. If these assumptions and projections prove to be incorrect or our hedges do not adequately mitigate the impact of
changes including, but not limited to, interest rates or prepayment speeds or foreign exchange rate fluctuations, we may incur losses that could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Changes in interest rates could materially and adversely affect our volume of mortgage loan originations or reduce the value of our
mortgage servicing rights, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Changes in and the level of interest rates are key drivers of our mortgage loan originations in our Mortgage Production segment and mortgage
loan refinancing activity, in particular.  The level of interest rates are significantly affected by monetary and related policies of the federal
government, its agencies and government sponsored entities, which are particularly affected by the policies of the Federal Reserve Board that
regulates the supply of money and credit in the United States.  The Federal Reserve Board�s policies, including initiatives to stabilize the U.S.
housing market and to stimulate overall economic growth, affect the size of the mortgage loan origination market, the pricing of our
interest-earning assets and the cost of our interest-bearing liabilities. Changes in any of these policies are beyond our control, difficult to predict,
particularly in the current economic environment, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Historically, rising interest rates have generally been associated with a lower volume of loan originations and lower pricing margins in our
Mortgage Production segment due to a disincentive for borrowers to refinance at a higher interest rate, while falling interest rates have generally
been associated with higher loan originations and higher pricing margins, due to an incentive for borrowers to refinance at a lower interest rate.
Our ability to generate Gain on mortgage loans, net in our Mortgage Production segment is significantly dependent on our level of mortgage
loan originations. Accordingly, increases in interest rates could materially and adversely affect our mortgage loan origination volume, which
could have a material and adverse effect on our Mortgage Production segment, as well as our overall business and our consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.  In addition, changes in interest rates may require us to post additional collateral under certain of
our financing arrangements and derivative agreements which could impact our liquidity.

Changes in interest rates are also a key driver of the performance of our Mortgage Servicing segment as the values of our mortgage servicing
rights are highly sensitive to changes in interest rates.  Historically, the value of our mortgage servicing rights have increased when interest rates
rise and have decreased when interest rates decline due to the effect those changes in interest rates have on prepayment estimates, with changes
in fair value of our mortgage servicing rights being included in our consolidated results of operations. Because we do not currently utilize
derivatives to hedge a substantial portion of our mortgage servicing rights, our consolidated financial positions, results of operations and cash
flows are susceptible to significant volatility due to changes in the fair value of our mortgage servicing rights as interest rates change. As a
result, substantial volatility in interest rates materially affects our Mortgage Servicing segment, as well as our consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Losses incurred in connection with actual or projected loan repurchase and indemnification claims may exceed our financial statement
reserves and we may be required to increase such reserves in the future. Increases to our reserves and losses incurred in connection with
actual loan repurchases and indemnification payments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operation or cash flows.

In connection with the sale of mortgage loans, we make various representations and warranties concerning such loans that, if breached, require
us to repurchase such loans or indemnify the purchaser of such loans for actual losses incurred in respect of such loans.  These representations
and warranties vary based on the nature of the transaction and the purchaser�s or insurer�s requirements but generally pertain to the ownership of
the mortgage loan, the real property securing the loan and compliance with applicable laws and applicable lender and government-sponsored
entity underwriting guidelines in connection with the origination of the loan.  The aggregate unpaid principal balance of loans sold or serviced
by us represents the maximum potential exposure related to loan repurchase and indemnification claims, including claims for breach of
representation and warranty provisions.  Due, in part, to elevated mortgage payment delinquency rates and declining housing prices, we have
experienced, and may in the future continue to experience, an increase in loan repurchase and indemnification claims due to actual or alleged
breaches of representations and warranties in connection with the sale or servicing of mortgage loans.  The estimation of our loan repurchase and
indemnification liability is subjective and based upon our projections of the incidence of loan repurchase and indemnification claims, as well as

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

39



loss severities.  Given these trends, losses incurred in connection with such actual or projected loan repurchase and indemnification claims may
be in excess of our financial statement reserves, and we may be required to increase such reserves and may sustain additional losses
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associated with such loan repurchase and indemnification claims in the future.  Accordingly, increases to our reserves and losses incurred by us
in connection with actual loan repurchases and indemnification payments in excess of our reserves could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Additionally, some of our counterparties from whom we have purchased mortgage loans or mortgage servicing rights and from whom we may
seek indemnification or against whom we may assert a loan repurchase demand in connection with a breach of a representation or warranty are
highly leveraged and have been adversely affected by the recent economic decline in the United States, including the pronounced downturn in
the debt and equity capital markets and the U.S. housing market, and unprecedented levels of credit market volatility.  As a result, we are
exposed to counterparty risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties to our various contracts, including, without limitation, as a result
of the rejection of an agreement or transaction in bankruptcy proceedings, which could result in substantial losses for which we may not have
insurance coverage.

The fair values of a substantial portion of our assets are determined based upon significant estimates and assumptions made by our
management.  As a result, there could be material uncertainty about the fair value of such assets that, if subsequently proven incorrect or
inaccurate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  The ultimate
realization of the value of our assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis may be materially different than the fair values of
such assets as reflected in our consolidated statement of financial position as of any particular date.

A substantial portion of our assets are recorded at fair value based upon significant estimates and assumptions with changes in fair value
included in our consolidated results of operations.  The determination of the fair value of such assets, including our mortgage loans held for sale,
interest rate lock commitments and mortgage servicing rights, involves numerous estimates and assumptions made by our management. Such
estimates and assumptions include, without limitation, estimates of future cash flows associated with our mortgage servicing rights based upon
assumptions involving interest rates as well as the prepayment rates and delinquencies and foreclosure rates of the underlying serviced mortgage
loans.

As of December 31, 2011, 44% of our total assets were measured at fair value on a recurring basis, and 1% of our total liabilities were measured
at fair value on a recurring basis.  As of December 31, 2011, approximately 69% of our assets and liabilities measured at fair value were valued
using primarily observable inputs and were categorized within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy. Our assets and liabilities categorized within
Level Two of the valuation hierarchy are comprised of the majority of our mortgage loans held for sale and derivative assets and liabilities.  As
of December 31, 2011, approximately 33% of our assets and liabilities measured at fair value were valued using significant unobservable inputs
and were categorized within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy.  Approximately 82% of our assets and liabilities categorized within Level
Three of the valuation hierarchy are comprised of our mortgage servicing rights.

The ultimate realization of the value of our assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis may be materially different than the fair
values of such assets as reflected in our consolidated statement of financial position as of any particular date.  The use of different estimates or
assumptions in connection with the valuation of these assets could produce materially different fair values for such assets, which could have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  Accordingly, there may be material
uncertainty about the fair value of a substantial portion of our assets.

A failure in or breach of our technology infrastructure or information protection programs, or those of our outsource providers, could result
in the inadvertent disclosure of the confidential personal information of our customers, as well as the confidential personal information of
the employees and customers of our clients.  Any such failure or breach could have a material and adverse effect on our business,
reputation, results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Our business model and our reputation as a service provider to our clients are dependent upon our ability to safeguard the confidential personal
information of our customers, as well as the confidential personal information of the employees and customers of our clients.  Although we have
put in place a comprehensive information security program that we monitor and update as needed, security breaches could occur through
intentional or unintentional

20

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

42



acts by individuals having authorized or unauthorized access to confidential information of our customers or the employees or customers of our
clients which could potentially compromise confidential information processed and stored in or transmitted through our technology
infrastructure.

A failure in or breach of the security of our information systems, or those of our outsource providers, could result in significant damage to our
reputation or the reputation of our clients, could negatively impact our ability to attract or retain clients and could result in increased costs
attributable to related litigation or regulatory actions, claims for indemnification, higher insurance premiums and remediation activities, the
result of any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, reputation, results of operations, financial position, or cash
flows.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

There may be a limited public market for our common stock and our stock price may experience volatility.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, under the symbol �PHH.�  However, there can be no assurance that
an active trading market for our common stock will be sustained in the future.  In addition, the stock market has from time-to-time experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that often have been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. Changes in earnings
estimates by analysts, our results in relation to such estimates, and economic and other external factors may have a significant impact on the
market price of our common stock. Further, the downgrade of our credit rating by S&P on December 21, 2011 has caused recent volatility in the
price of our common stock. Fluctuations or decreases in the trading price of our common stock may adversely affect the liquidity of the trading
market for our common stock and our ability to raise capital through future equity financing.

Future issuances of our Common stock or securities convertible into our Common stock and hedging activities may result in dilution of our
stockholders or depress the trading price of our Common stock.

If we issue any shares of our Common stock or securities convertible into our Common stock in the future, including the issuance of shares of
Common stock upon conversion of any convertible notes or the issuance of shares of Common stock upon exercise or settlement of any
outstanding stock options, restricted stock units or performance stock units granted under the PHH Corporation Amended and Restated 2005
Equity and Incentive Plan, such issuances will dilute the voting power and ownership percentage of our stockholders and could substantially
decrease the trading price of our Common stock.  In addition, the price of our Common stock could also be negatively affected by possible sales
of our Common stock by investors who engage in hedging or arbitrage trading activity that we expect to develop involving our Common stock
following the issuance of the Convertible Notes.

We also may issue shares of our Common stock or securities convertible into our Common stock in the future for a number of reasons, including
to finance our operations and business strategy (including in connection with acquisitions, strategic collaborations or other transactions), to
increase our capital, to adjust our ratio of debt to equity, to satisfy our obligations upon the exercise of outstanding warrants or options or for
other reasons.  We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our Common stock or securities convertible into our Common stock or the
effect, if any, that such future issuances might have to dilute the voting interests of our stockholders or otherwise on the market price for our
Common stock.
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The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions may negatively affect the value of our Common stock.

In connection with our offering of the 2012 Convertible Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions that cover, subject to
anti-dilution adjustments, approximately 12,195,125 shares of our Common stock and sold warrants to purchase, subject to anti-dilution
adjustments, up to approximately 12,195,125 shares of our Common stock with affiliates of the initial purchasers of the 2012 Convertible
Notes.  In connection with the issuance and sale of the 2014 Convertible Notes, we also entered into convertible note hedge transactions that
cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, approximately 8,525,484 shares of our Common stock and sold warrants to purchase, subject to
anti-dilution adjustments, up to approximately 8,525,484 shares of our Common stock with affiliates of the initial
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purchasers of the 2014 Convertible Notes (together with the affiliates of the initial purchasers of the 2012 Convertible Notes that are parties to
the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions associated with the 2012 Convertible Notes, the �Option Counterparties�). The convertible
note hedge and warrant transactions are expected to reduce the potential dilution upon conversion of the 2012 Convertible Notes and 2014
Convertible Notes, respectively.

In connection with hedging these transactions, the Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates entered into various derivative
transactions with respect to our Common stock. The Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by
entering into or unwinding various derivative transactions with respect to our Common stock or by selling or purchasing our Common stock in
secondary market transactions while the Convertible Notes are convertible, which could adversely impact the price of our Common stock. In
order to unwind their hedge position with respect to those exercised options, the Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates are
likely to sell shares of our Common stock in secondary transactions or unwind various derivative transactions with respect to our Common stock
during the observation period for the converted 2012 Convertible Notes and 2014 Convertible Notes. These activities could negatively affect the
value of our Common stock.

Provisions in our charter documents, the Maryland General Corporation Law, and New York insurance law may delay or prevent our
acquisition by a third party.

Our charter and by-laws contain several provisions that may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us without the approval
of our board of directors. These provisions include, among other things, a classified board of directors, advance notice for raising business or
making nominations at meetings and �blank check� preferred stock. Blank check preferred stock enables our board of directors, without
stockholder approval, to designate and issue additional series of preferred stock with such dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other
rights, including the right to issue convertible securities with no limitations on conversion, as our board of directors may determine, including
rights to dividends and proceeds in a liquidation that are senior to the common stock.

We are also subject to certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law which could delay, prevent or deter a merger, acquisition,
tender offer, proxy contest or other transaction that might otherwise result in our stockholders receiving a premium over the market price for
their common stock or may otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. These include, among other provisions:

§ the �business combinations� statute which prohibits transactions between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an
affiliate of an interested stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder and

§ the �control share� acquisition statute which provides that control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition
have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Our by-laws contain a provision exempting any share of our capital stock from the control share acquisition statute to the fullest extent permitted
by the Maryland General Corporation Law. However, our Board of Directors has the exclusive right to amend our by-laws and, subject to their
fiduciary duties, could at any time in the future amend the by-laws to remove this exemption provision.
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In addition, we are registered as an insurance holding company in the state of New York as a result of our wholly owned subsidiary, Atrium
Insurance Corporation. New York insurance law requires regulatory approval of a change in control of an insurer or an insurer�s holding
company. Accordingly, there can be no effective change in control of us unless the person seeking to acquire control has filed a statement
containing specified information with the New York state insurance regulators and has obtained prior approval for the proposed change from
such regulators. The measure for a presumptive change of control pursuant to New York law is the acquisition of 10% or more of the voting
stock or other ownership interest of an insurance company or its parent. These laws may discourage potential acquisition proposals and may
delay, deter or prevent a change in control of us, including through transactions, and in particular unsolicited transactions, that some or all of our
stockholders might consider to be desirable.
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Certain provisions of the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement and the Strategic Relationship Agreement that we have with Realogy and
certain provisions in our other mortgage loan origination agreements could discourage third parties from seeking to acquire us or could
reduce the amount of consideration they would be willing to pay our stockholders in an acquisition transaction.

Pursuant to the terms of the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, Realogy has the right to terminate PHH Home Loans, at its election, at any
time on or after February 1, 2015 by providing two years� notice to us. In addition, under the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, Realogy
may terminate PHH Home Loans if we effect a change in control transaction involving certain competitors or other third parties. In connection
with such termination, we would be required to make a liquidated damages payment in cash to Realogy of an amount equal to the sum of (i) two
times PHH Home Loans� trailing 12 months net income (except that, in the case of a termination by Realogy following a change in control of us,
we may be required to make a cash payment to Realogy in an amount equal to PHH Home Loans� trailing 12 months net income multiplied by
(a) if the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement is terminated prior to its twelfth anniversary, the number of years remaining in the first 12
years of the term of the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, or (b) if the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement is terminated on or after
its tenth anniversary, two years), and (ii) all costs reasonably incurred by Cendant (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.) and its subsidiaries
in unwinding its relationship with us pursuant to the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement and the related agreements, including the Strategic
Relationship Agreement, the Marketing Agreement and the Trademark License Agreements. Pursuant to the terms of the Strategic Relationship
Agreement, we are subject to a non-competition provision, the breach of which could result in Realogy having the right to terminate the
Strategic Relationship Agreement, seek an injunction prohibiting us from engaging in activities in breach of the non-competition provision or
result in our liability for damages to Realogy.

In addition, our agreements with some of our financial institution clients provide the applicable financial institution client with the right to
terminate its relationship with us prior to the expiration of the contract term if we complete certain change in control transactions with certain
third parties. Because we may be unable to obtain consents or waivers from such clients in connection with certain change in control
transactions, the existence of these provisions could discourage certain third parties from seeking to acquire us or could reduce the amount of
consideration they would be willing to pay to our stockholders in an acquisition transaction.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2.  Properties

Our principal offices are located at 3000 Leadenhall Road, Mt. Laurel, New Jersey 08054.

Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing Segments

Our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments have centralized operations in approximately 555,000 square feet of shared leased
office space in the Mt. Laurel, New Jersey area. We have a second area of centralized offices that are shared by our Mortgage Production and
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Mortgage Servicing segments in Jacksonville, Florida, where approximately 150,000 square feet is occupied. In addition, our Mortgage
Production segment leases 49 smaller offices located throughout the U.S. and our Mortgage Servicing segment leases one additional office
located in New York.

Fleet Management Services Segment

Our Fleet Management Services segment maintains a headquarters office in a 210,000 square-foot office building in Sparks, Maryland. Our
Fleet Management Services segment also leases office space and marketing centers in five locations in Canada and has seven smaller regional
locations throughout the U.S.

23

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

48



Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

We are party to various claims and legal proceedings from time to time related to contract disputes and other commercial, employment and tax
matters. We are not aware of any pending legal proceedings that we believe could have, individually or in the aggregate, a material effect on our
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved)
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Price of Common Stock

Shares of our Common stock are listed on the NYSE under the symbol �PHH�.  The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our
Common stock for the periods indicated as reported by the NYSE:

Stock Price
High Low

January 1, 2010 to March 31, 2010 $ 23.81 $ 15.84
April 1, 2010 to June 30, 2010 25.86 19.04
July 1, 2010 to September 30, 2010 22.39 17.83
October 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010 23.36 18.68
January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011 25.55 20.48
April 1, 2011 to June 30, 2011 22.50 19.41
July 1, 2011 to September 30, 2011 20.92 14.36
October 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 19.27 8.75

As of February 17, 2012, there were 6,728 holders of record of our Common stock.

Dividend Policy

Since our spin-off from Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.) in 2005, we have not paid any cash dividends on our
Common stock nor do we foresee paying any cash dividends on our Common stock in the foreseeable future.

The declaration and payment of dividends in the future will be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon many
factors, including our financial condition, earnings, capital requirements of our operating subsidiaries, legal requirements, regulatory constraints
and other factors deemed relevant.

Many of our subsidiaries (including certain consolidated partnerships, trusts and other non-corporate entities) are subject to restrictions on their
ability to pay dividends or otherwise transfer funds to other consolidated subsidiaries and, ultimately, to PHH Corporation (the parent company).
These restrictions relate to loan agreements applicable to certain of our asset-backed debt arrangements and to regulatory restrictions applicable
to the equity of our reinsurance subsidiary. The aggregate restricted net assets of these subsidiaries totaled $1.2 billion as of December 31, 2011.
The restrictions on net assets of certain subsidiaries do not directly limit our ability to pay dividends from consolidated Retained earnings.
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Certain debt arrangements require the maintenance of ratios and contain restrictive covenants applicable to our consolidated financial statement
elements that potentially could limit our ability to pay dividends.  As of December 31, 2011, we may not pay dividends without the written
consent of the lenders of the Amended Credit facility.  See Note 15, �Stock-Related Matters,� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below is derived from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods indicated.  Because of
the inherent uncertainties of our business, the historical financial information for such periods may not be indicative of our future results of
operations, financial position or cash flows:

Year Ended and As of December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In millions, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Net revenues $ 2,214 $ 2,438 $ 2,606 $ 2,056 $ 2,240
Net (loss) income attributable to PHH
Corporation(1) (127) 48 153 (254) (12)
Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to
PHH Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.87 $ 2.80 $ (4.68) $ (0.23)
Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to
PHH Corporation (2.26) 0.86 2.77 (4.68) (0.23)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Total assets $ 9,777 $ 11,270 $ 8,123 $ 8,273 $ 9,357
Debt 6,914 8,085 5,160 5,764 6,279
PHH Corporation stockholders� equity 1,442 1,564 1,492 1,266 1,529
_______________

(1) Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2011 includes a $68 million pre-tax gain on the sale of 50.1% of the
equity interests in our appraisal services business. Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2008 included $42
million of pre-tax income related to a terminated merger agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation and a $61 million non-cash charge for
Goodwill impairment ($26 million net impact after the income tax benefit and the portion attributable to noncontrolling interest).
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Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with �Part I�Item 1. Business� and our Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes
thereto included in this Form 10-K. The following discussion should also be read in conjunction with the �Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements� and the risks and uncertainties described in �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors� set forth above.

Our Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is presented in sections as follows:

§ Overview

§ Results of Operations

§ Risk Management

§ Liquidity and Capital Resources

§ Contractual Obligations

§ Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Guarantees

§ Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

§ Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

OVERVIEW

We are a leading outsource provider of mortgage and fleet management services. We conduct our business through three operating segments: a
Mortgage Production segment, a Mortgage Servicing segment and a Fleet Management Services segment. Our Mortgage Production segment
originates, purchases and sells mortgage loans through PHH Mortgage. Our Mortgage Servicing segment services mortgage loans originated by
PHH Mortgage, and also purchases mortgage servicing rights and acts as a subservicer for certain clients that own the underlying servicing
rights. Our Fleet Management Services segment provides commercial fleet management services to corporate clients and government agencies
throughout the United States and Canada.

Although our Fleet Management Services segment has historically generated a larger portion of our Net revenues, our Mortgage Production and
Mortgage Servicing segments have historically contributed a significantly larger portion of our Net income (loss).  Our Mortgage Production and
Mortgage Servicing segments have experienced, and may continue to experience, high degrees of earnings volatility due to significant exposure
to interest rates and the real estate markets, which impacts our loan origination volumes, valuation of our mortgage servicing rights and
foreclosure-related charges.
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See ��Risk Management� in this Form 10-K for additional information regarding our interest rate and market risks.

Executive Summary

Our goals for 2011 included the following:

§ profitably growing market share of loan originations in our Mortgage Production segment;

§ increasing the unpaid principal balance of our mortgage servicing rights in our Mortgage Servicing Segment; and

§ continuing to grow earnings in our Fleet Management Services segment while focusing on increasing fee based products.

In our Mortgage Production segment, we were successful in signing agreements with five new private label clients to provide mortgage
outsourcing services. We were unable to reach an agreement to renew our existing relationship with Charles Schwab Bank, which represented
9% and 11% of our mortgage loan originations for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as well as approximately $8.9
billion of subserviced loans as of December 31, 2011.  We will continue to service the mortgage loans resulting from our relationship with
Charles Schwab Bank in our owned servicing portfolio.  We expect the addition of these new private label clients to more
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than offset the estimated income, including subservicing income, which we would have expected to have earned in 2012 through our relationship
with Charles Schwab Bank.

On March 31, 2011, we sold 50.1% of the equity interests in our appraisal services business (Speedy Title and Appraisal Review Services, or
�STARS�) to CoreLogic, Inc. and retained the remaining 49.9% of the interests.  STARS provides appraisal services, credit research, flood
certification, and tax services.  We believe this new relationship will enable us to leverage the technology and product expertise of CoreLogic to
enhance the customer experience and, ultimately, drive earnings growth.  We received a $20 million cash payment in March 2011, with three $5
million installment payments to be received on March 31, 2012, 2014 and 2016. The sale resulted in a total gain of $68 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011, which was inclusive of a $34 million non-cash gain from the initial valuation of our equity method investment upon
deconsolidation of STARS.

We successfully grew the unpaid principal balance of our capitalized loan servicing portfolio by $12.3 billion and ended the year with $147.1
billion of loans in our capitalized loan servicing portfolio.  Additions to the capitalized servicing portfolio were 149% of the reductions in the
portfolio due to loan payments and payoffs.  The value of capitalized servicing, however, declined significantly during the year due to a
significant decrease in mortgage interest rates.  During 2011, foreclosure activities remained elevated and we observed an increase in loan
repurchase requests by investors, particularly the GSEs. We expect foreclosure losses to remain elevated throughout 2012 as investors continue
to review both performing and non-performing loans for potential underwriting defects and representation and warranty violations.

Our Fleet Management Services segment continued to grow earnings in 2011 driven by increases in maintenance service, fuel, and accident
management average units.  Remarketing activities and strong used-car prices further contributed to the positive segment results compared to
2010.

The overall economic climate was characterized by low interest rates as the U.S. Federal Reserve continued its accommodative monetary policy,
which helped fuel mortgage refinance activity in the second half of 2011.  Continued high unemployment and concerns over sovereign debt
issues in Europe created significant uncertainty and volatility in the economy and in the capital markets.

In December 2011, we announced that we did not proceed with a previously announced public offering of $250 million of Senior notes due to
market conditions and instead issued an additional $100 million of Senior notes due in 2016 under an existing indenture.  Concerns regarding
our ability to repay medium term notes due in March 2013 resulting from potentially limited access to the capital markets prompted S&P to
downgrade our debt rating from BB+ to BB- and place us on negative outlook.  In January 2012, we raised $250 million through a convertible
bond issuance.  Concurrent with this bond issuance, both Moody�s and Fitch placed us on negative watch, but did not take any further ratings
actions.

Given the uncertainty surrounding the economy at large and the uncertainty in the capital markets, including our cost of capital, the Company
has shifted focus in 2012 from growing origination market share and mortgage servicing rights to focusing on liquidity and cash generation.

For 2012, we are focusing on four key strategies to increase shareholder value:
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§ pursue disciplined growth in our three franchise platforms which are mortgage private label services, our mortgage relationship with
Realogy and our fleet management business;

§ drive industry-leading operational excellence;

§ continue our unwavering commitment to customer service; and

§ in the near-term, prioritize liquidity and cash flow generation from our mortgage and fleet businesses and deleverage the balance
sheet.

We are prioritizing liquidity and cash flow generation, which may involve one or more of the following:

§ focusing our efforts to ensure that our operations are cash flow positive, which may include reductions in our correspondent
mortgage originations and capital expenditures;
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§ disposition of assets that are not necessary to support our business strategies, which may include the assets of our reinsurance
business; and

§ generating mortgage servicing rights with minimal use of cash.

Some of the actions we are taking to reposition the business, combined with lower mortgage industry volumes, may have a negative impact on
our 2012 earnings.  However, we expect that our narrowed focus, deliberate growth strategy, focus on operational excellence, continued focus
on customer satisfaction, along with our near-term focus on liquidity, will result in less volatile earnings, and a more profitable and better
capitalized company beyond 2012.

See �� Liquidity and Capital Resources� for additional information regarding our outstanding indebtedness, upcoming debt maturities and our
liquidity and capital plan.

Industry Trends

Regulatory Trends

We are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations and may be subject to various judicial and administrative decisions
imposing various requirements and restrictions on our business. By agreement with our private label clients in our mortgage business, we are
required to comply with additional requirements that our clients may be subject to through their regulators.  These laws, regulations and judicial
and administrative decisions include those pertaining to the following areas:

§ Real estate settlement procedures;

§ Consumer credit provisions; fair lending, fair credit reporting and truth in lending;

§ The establishment of maximum interest rates, finance charges and other charges;

§ Secured transactions; collections, foreclosure, repossession and claims-handling procedures;
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§ Privacy regulations providing for the use and safeguarding of non-public personal financial information of borrowers and guidance
on non-traditional mortgage loans issued by the federal financial regulatory agencies;

§ Taxing and licensing of vehicles and environmental protection;

§ Insurance regulations and licensing requirements pertaining to standards of solvency that must be met and maintained; reserves and
provisions for unearned premiums, losses and other obligations and deposits of securities for the benefit of policyholders.

Financial Regulatory Reform

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, among other provisions, established the Bureau of Consumer Financial
Protection (�CFPB�), which began operations on July 21, 2011.  The CFPB will implement and enforce the consumer protection provisions of the
Dodd-Frank Act and will have the authority to examine all non-bank mortgage lenders, brokers and servicers, among other entities.  During
January 2012, Richard Cordray was named as the first Director of the CFPB through a presidential appointment, which provided the authority
for the CFPB to carry out its regulatory agenda.  We will be subject to the regulatory authority of the CFPB through our mortgage subsidiaries.

Six federal agencies, including the SEC, have proposed a rule providing sponsors of securitizations with various options for meeting the
risk-retention requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act. Among other things, the options include retaining risk of the securitization transactions equal
to at least 5% of each class of asset-backed security, 5% of par value of all asset-backed security interests issued, 5% of a representative pool of
assets, or a combination of these options.
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As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the proposal includes descriptions of loans that would not be subject to these requirements, including
asset-backed securities that are collateralized exclusively by residential mortgages that qualify as �qualified residential mortgages� (or QRMs). 
Proposed criteria to qualify for an exemption from the risk retention requirements include, but are not limited to: (i) maximum loan-to-value
ratios for purchases and refinances of 80% and 75%, respectively; (ii) mortgage payment to gross income and debt payments to gross income
ratios of 28% and 36%, respectively; (iii) borrower credit requirements including no current delinquencies, 60-day plus delinquencies in the past
2 years, or bankruptcies/ foreclosures in the past 3 years; and (iv) loan-type requirements including no interest only, negative amortization,
balloon payments or prepayment penalties.

The proposed rule would also recognize that the 100% guarantee of principal and interest provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac meets their
risk-retention requirements as sponsors of mortgage-backed securities for as long as they are in conservatorship or receivership with capital
support from the U.S. government.

Substantially all of our loans are sold to, or pursuant to programs sponsored by, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae and therefore would
be exempt from the risk-retention requirements under the current proposal.  For our lease securitizations, we believe we currently retain a
subordinate position relative to the issued asset-backed securities in excess of the proposed 5% requirement, and we are continuing to monitor
the potential impact under the proposed rules.

In February 2011 the Obama administration issued a report to Congress, and in February 2012 the Federal Housing Finance Agency issued a
report to Congress outlining the long-term strategic plan for, and various options for long-term reform of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  These
options involve gradually reducing the role of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the mortgage market and ultimately winding down both
institutions such that the private sector provides the majority of mortgage credit.  Such reforms may include, among other actions: (i) further
reductions in conforming loan limits; (ii) increases in guarantee fees; (iii) standardization of servicing protocols; (iv) changes to servicer
compensation; and (v) increased MBS disclosures.  These potential changes could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, it is possible that some of these reforms could be accelerated depending on the outcome
of the 2012 U.S. Presidential and Congressional elections, among other things.

See �� Item 1A. Risk Factors � Risks Related to our Company � We are highly dependent upon programs administered by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac
and Ginnie Mae. Changes in existing U.S. government-sponsored mortgage programs or servicing eligibility standards could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.� for further information.

Focus on Foreclosure Practices

During the first quarter of 2011, various federal regulators completed a review of 14 entities involved in the mortgage servicing process and
noted weaknesses in foreclosure governance processes, foreclosure document preparation processes, and oversight and monitoring of third-party
vendors, including foreclosure attorneys.  These regulators took formal actions against each of the 14 entities subject to this review to address
those weaknesses and risks. These actions require each entity, among other things, to conduct a more complete review of certain aspects of
foreclosure actions that occurred between January 1, 2009 and December 31, 2010.

While we were not included in these reviews, we have received inquiries and requests for information from regulators and attorneys general of
certain states as well as from the Committee on Oversight and Government Reform of the U.S. House of Representatives and the U.S. Senate
Judiciary Committee, requesting information as to our foreclosure processes and procedures, among other things.  While we have not been
assessed any material penalties from regulatory agencies resulting from our foreclosure practices to date, we have been notified of potential
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compensatory fees for failing to meet foreclosure timelines outlined in the Agency servicing guides. We expect the higher level of focus on
foreclosure practices will result in higher legal and servicing related costs as well as potential regulatory fines and penalties.
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Home Affordability Program

On October 24, 2011, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (�FHFA�) announced changes to the existing Home Affordability Refinance Program
(�HARP�) for certain loans sold to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  The changes to HARP are designed to allow more mortgage loans to be eligible
for refinancing under the program.  Specifically, these changes eliminate the maximum loan-to-value ratio and appraisal requirements and
reduce risk-based pricing and other fees to borrowers.  The FHFA further announced that it is waiving certain lender representations and
warranties for loans refinanced under the program.  To be eligible for refinance under these changes to HARP, the loan must have been sold to
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac prior to May 31, 2009, and the loan must be current at the time of refinance with no late payments in the past six
months.  In addition to these changes, the FHFA announced that HARP will continue through December 31, 2013. We expect these changes will
increase mortgage loan prepayment speeds, which has unfavorably impacted the valuation of our mortgage servicing rights by approximately
$20 million as of December 31, 2011 and we expect these changes will increase loan origination volumes which could favorably impact
mortgage production segment profit

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Investigation

In January 2012, we were notified that the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau had opened an investigation to determine whether our
mortgage insurance premium ceding practices to captive reinsurers comply with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and other laws
enforced by the CFPB.  The CFPB requested certain related documents and information for review. We have provided reinsurance services in
exchange for premiums ceded and believe that we have complied with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and other laws. We have not
provided reinsurance on loans originated after 2009. There can be no assurance whether or not this investigation will result in the imposition of
any penalties and fines against us or our subsidiaries.

See ��Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�The businesses in which we engage are complex and heavily regulated, and changes in
the regulatory environment affecting our businesses could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.�

Mortgage Production Trends

The mortgage industry has continued to utilize more restrictive underwriting standards that make it more difficult for borrowers with less than
prime credit records, limited funds for down payments or a high loan-to-value ratio to qualify for a mortgage.  As of January 2012, Fannie Mae�s
Economics and Mortgage Market Analysis forecasts a decline in industry loan originations to $1.0 trillion during 2012 compared to $1.4 trillion
during 2011.  Although mortgage interest rates remained at relatively low levels during 2011 which we expect to continue into 2012, many
borrowers took advantage of the low interest rate environment in 2010 by refinancing after interest rates declined.  As a result, the forecasted
decline in industry originations includes a 40% decrease in projected refinance originations offset by a 2% increase in projected purchase
originations.

Initial loan pricing margins declined slightly from 2010 levels reflecting a more competitive environment given declining volumes.  Although
loan pricing margins for 2011 have declined from the prior year, we did see improvement during the second half of 2011, which has further
improved into the first quarter of 2012, as mortgage rates declined and demand increased.  Although we expect margins to eventually decline
from current levels, we believe that pricing margins could remain elevated throughout 2012, reflecting a longer term industry view of the returns
required to manage the underlying risk of a mortgage production and servicing business.  In January 2012 the Federal Housing Finance Agency
increased the guarantee fee on mortgage backed securities issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac effective April 1, 2012 in response to the
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payroll tax cut funding mechanism passed by Congress.  We expect this increase in guarantee fees, and potential future guarantee fee increases,
will have the impact of increasing mortgage interest rates charged to borrowers and could negatively impact conforming loan origination
volumes.

The majority of industry loan originations during the year ended December 31, 2011 were fixed-rate loans that conform to the standards of the
GSEs and substantially all of our loans closed to be sold were conforming.  There was an improvement in the market for prime loan production
with loan amounts exceeding the GSE guidelines during 2011 which is reflected in an increase in our fee-based closings compared to 2010.
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Mortgage Servicing Trends

The declining housing market and general economic conditions, including higher unemployment rates, have continued to negatively impact our
Mortgage Servicing segment through elevated levels of delinquencies and high loss severity rates on defaulted loans.  The increased regulatory
focus on servicing activities, including foreclosure practices, has increased and will likely continue to increase servicing costs across the
industry.

Despite some stabilization in the level of overall portfolio delinquencies, we have seen a significant increase in repurchase requests, primarily
from the agencies, resulting in a corresponding increase in foreclosure-related costs especially related to loans originated during 2005 through
2008.  We believe repurchase requests will continue to be high during 2012 due to continued focus on repurchase and indemnification requests
from investors and insurers, including an increase in reviews of more current loan production, as well as challenging conditions in the housing
market.

In addition to the increased focus on loan repurchases and indemnifications, we have experienced higher reinsurance losses as a result of the
continued weakness in the housing market coupled with an elevated level of delinquency and foreclosure experience.  We paid $65 million in
reinsurance claims during the year ended December 31, 2011, and expect our paid claims for certain book years to remain high into 2012 as
foreclosures are completed and insurance claims are processed and finalized.  We hold cash and securities in trust related to our potential
obligation to pay such claims, which were $226 million and were included in Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011.  We expect that the amount currently held in trust will be significantly
higher than future claims for reinsurance losses.

In January 2011, the Federal Housing Finance Agency directed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to develop a joint initiative to consider alternatives
for future mortgage servicing structures and compensation.  Under this proposal, the GSEs are considering potential structures in which the
minimum service fee would be reduced or eliminated altogether.  This would provide mortgage bankers with the ability to either sell all or a
portion of the retained servicing fee for cash up front, or retain an excess servicing fee.  While the proposal provides additional flexibility in
managing liquidity and capital requirements, it is unclear how the various options might impact mortgage-backed security pricing and the related
pricing of excess servicing fees.  The GSEs are also considering different pricing options for non-performing loans to better align servicer
incentives with MBS investors and provide the loan guarantor the ability to transfer non-performing servicing.  The Federal Housing Finance
Agency has indicated that any change in the servicing compensation structure would be prospective and the changes, if implemented, could have
a significant impact on the entire mortgage industry and on the results of operations and cash flows of our mortgage business.  We believe that
changes to the servicing fee structures, if any, would not be implemented until 2013 or later.

See ��Regulatory Trends� above for further discussion of mortgage servicing trends.

See �� Risk Management� for additional information regarding mortgage reinsurance and loan repurchases.
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Fleet Management Services Trends

The fleet management industry continues to be impacted by the overall strength of the U.S. economy and the levels of corporate spending and
capital investment.  As the U.S. economy improves, we expect to see continued improvement in the industry.  Growth in our Fleet Management
Services segment is driven principally by increased market share in fleets greater than 75 units and increased fee-based services.  The U.S.
commercial fleet management services market has continued to experience minimal growth over the last several years as reported by Automotive
Fleet.  Further, according to the Automotive Fleet 2011 Fact Book, only 49%, of the approximately 5.4 million, commercial cars and trucks
operating in the U. S. during 2010, were included in managed fleets of 15 or more vehicles.  The industry is concentrated in a limited number of
national firms and the top five fleet management services providers accounted for 82% of the total number of vehicles funded and managed by
the top 10 U.S. companies.  The Automotive Fleet 2011 Fact Book also shows the total number of funded vehicles for the top 10 fleet
management companies declined approximately 2.4% compared to 2010.  Consistent with this trend, we experienced a decline in our leased
units during 2011, although our net investment in leases has increased as our mix has changed to include more expensive light trucks and vans. 
Although we have experienced a decline in our leased units in recent years, we have seen positive trends in our service-only units during 2011
and we expect our leased units to be steady through 2012.

Inflation

An increase in inflation could have a significant impact on our Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments.  Interest rates normally
increase during periods of rising inflation.  Historically, as interest rates increase, mortgage loan production decreases, particularly production
from loan refinancing.  An environment of gradual interest rate increases may, however, signify an improving economy or increasing real estate
values, which in turn may stimulate increased home buying activity.  Generally, in periods of reduced mortgage loan production, the associated
profit margins also decline due to increased competition among mortgage loan originators, which further pressures mortgage production
profitability.  Conversely, in a rising interest rate environment, our mortgage loan servicing revenues generally increase because mortgage
prepayment rates tend to decrease, extending the average life of our servicing portfolio and increasing the value of our MSRs. See discussion
below under ��Risk Management,��Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors� Risks Related to our Company�Certain hedging strategies that we may use to
manage risks associated with our assets, including mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate lock commitments, mortgage servicing rights and
foreign currency denominated assets, may not be effective in mitigating those risks and could result in substantial losses that could exceed the
losses that would have been incurred had we not used such hedging strategies.� and ��Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.�

Inflation does not have a significant impact on our Fleet Management Services segment.

33

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

64



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Results

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions, except per share data)
Net fee income $ 468 $ 448 $ 425
Fleet lease income 1,400 1,370 1,441
Gain on mortgage loans, net 567 635 610
Mortgage net finance expense (88) (73) (58)
Loan servicing income 456 415 431
Valuation adjustments relating to mortgage servicing rights, net (736) (427) (280)
Other income 147 70 37
Net revenues 2,214 2,438 2,606
Depreciation on operating leases 1,223 1,224 1,267
Fleet interest expense 79 91 89
Total other expenses 1,114 1,008 970
Total expenses 2,416 2,323 2,326
(Loss) income before income taxes (202) 115 280
Income tax (benefit) expense (100) 39 107
Net (loss) income (102) 76 173
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 25 28 20
Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation $ (127) $ 48 $ 153
Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.87 $ 2.80
Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.86 $ 2.77

The following summarizes the key highlights that drove our operating performance and segment profit (loss) for our reportable segments during
2011 in comparison to the same period in 2010:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Reportable Segments Profit (Loss):(1)
Mortgage Production segment $ 258 $ 268
Mortgage Servicing segment (557) (241)
Fleet Management Services segment 75 63
_______________

(1) Segment Profit (Loss) is described in Note 21, �Segment Information�, in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Mortgage Production Segment
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§ Segment profit was $10 million lower compared to 2010 primarily due to a 12% decline in the volume of interest rate lock
commitments expected to close and lower total margins which were partially offset by a $68 million gain on the sale of 50.1% of the equity
interests in STARS.

§ Interest rate lock commitments expected to close declined to $33.7 billion in 2011 from $38.3 billion in 2010 due to lower refinance
activity.  Total loan margins declined in 2011 from 2010, reflecting the significant increase in industry originations and the sustained refinance
activity that we experienced during 2010.
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§ Total mortgage closing volumes for 2011 were $51.9 billion of which approximately 69% were retail and 31% were
wholesale/correspondent.

Mortgage Servicing Segment

§ Segment loss was unfavorably impacted in 2011 by a $521 million decrease in the market and credit-related fair value of our
mortgage servicing rights driven primarily by lower long-term interest rates, as compared to a $202 million decrease during 2010.

§ Loan servicing income increased by $41 million primarily reflecting the continued growth in our loan servicing portfolio.  Our
average capitalized loan servicing portfolio increased by 9% from $130.5 billion in 2010 to $142.1 billion in 2011.

§ Foreclosure-related charges remain elevated at $80 million during 2011, compared to $72 million in 2010, reflecting a continued
higher level of repurchase requests and loss severities.

Fleet Management Services Segment

§ Segment profit increased by $12 million to $75 million in 2011, driven by higher units and usage of fee-based and asset-based
management services coupled with lower operating costs.

§ Maintenance service, fuel, and accident management average units all increased in 2011 compared to 2010 despite a 6% decline in
the average number of leased vehicles.

See ��Segment Results�  below for additional information regarding the results of each of our reportable segments.

Income tax (benefit) expense

Income tax (benefit) expense changes were primarily due to the change in (Loss) income before income taxes, plus significant items that impact
the effective tax rate, as discussed below.  See Note 12, �Income Taxes� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information.
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2011:  Our effective income tax rate was (49.7)% for the year ending December 31, 2011.  The Income tax benefit for 2011 was $100 million
and was impacted by a $12 million benefit from state and local income taxes due to the mix and amount of pre-tax income and loss from the
operations by entity and state tax jurisdiction coupled with a $7 million decrease in the liabilities for income tax contingencies, primarily due to
the resolution and settlement with various taxing authorities, including the conclusion of the IRS examination and review of our taxable years
2006 through 2009.

The determination of the effective income tax rates for 2011 excludes $10 million of income tax expense attributable to noncontrolling interest.

2010:  Our effective income tax rate was 33.7% for the year ending December 31, 2010.  The Income tax expense for 2010 was $39 million and
was impacted by a $6 million expense from state and local income taxes due to the mix and amount of pre-tax income and loss from the
operations by entity and state tax jurisdiction.

The determination of the effective income tax rates for 2010 excludes $11 million of income tax expense attributable to noncontrolling interest.

2009:  Our effective income tax rate was 38.3% for the year ending December 31, 2009.  The Income tax expense for 2009 was $107 million
and was impacted by a $15 million expense from state and local income taxes due to the mix and amount of pre-tax income and loss from the
operations by entity and state tax jurisdiction.

The determination of the effective income tax rates for 2009 excludes $9 million of income tax expense attributable to noncontrolling interest.
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Appraisal Services Business Joint Venture

On March 31, 2011, we sold 50.1% of the equity interests in our appraisal services business, Speedy Title and Appraisal Review Services,
(�STARS�) to CoreLogic, Inc. for a total purchase price of $35 million, consisting of an initial $20 million cash payment received on March 31,
2011, and three future $5 million installment payments to be received on March 31, 2012, 2014 and 2016.  Upon the occurrence of certain events
prior to September 30, 2017, we may have the right or obligation to purchase CoreLogic�s interests.  We retained a 49.9% equity interest in
STARS, which is accounted for under the equity method and was recorded within Other assets with an initial fair value of $34 million as of
March 31, 2011.

During 2011, a $68 million gain on the sale of the 50.1% equity interest was recorded within Other income, which consisted of the net present
value of the purchase price from CoreLogic plus the $34 million from the initial valuation of our equity method investment in STARS.  For
2011, earnings from the equity method investment in STARS of $3 million are recorded as a component of Other income and represent 49.9% of
the pre-tax income of the STARS joint venture over the period.

Segment Results

Discussed below are the results of operations for each of our reportable segments. Segment profit or loss is presented as the income or loss
before income tax expense or benefit and after net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interest.  The Mortgage Production segment
profit or loss excludes Realogy�s noncontrolling interest in the profits and losses of PHH Home Loans. The Other segment includes costs related
to general and administrative functions that are allocated back to our reportable segments, certain income and expenses not allocated and
intersegment eliminations.

During the first quarter of 2010, our Mortgage and Fleet businesses paid dividends to PHH Corporation in order to effect a reallocation of capital
between our businesses (�recapitalization�). Management evaluated several data sources, including rating agency leverage benchmarks, industry
comparables and asset-backed securities market subordination levels to establish the revised equity levels in our businesses. The dividend
payments impacted the balances under our intercompany funding arrangements, which are used to determine the allocation of our financing
costs to our segments. Had the dividends been paid at the beginning of 2009, segment profit for our Mortgage Production segment would have
changed favorably by $14 million and segment profit for our Fleet Management Services segment would have decreased by $14 million for
2009.
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Other Segment

The following table presents the results of our Other segment:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Net revenues $ (3) $ (3) $ (5)
Salaries and related expenses 71 16 21
Occupancy and other office expenses 4 � �
Fleet interest expense (3) (3) (6)
Other depreciation and amortization 4 � �
Other operating expenses 54 14 22
Corporate overhead allocation (130) (27) (27)
Total expenses � � 10
Segment loss $ (3) $ (3) $ (15)

As a result of our transformation initiatives, as of January 1, 2011 certain general and administrative functions that had previously been part of
our Mortgage Production, Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management Services segments were consolidated into our Other segment, including
information technology, human resources, finance and marketing.  The majority of general and administrative expenses are allocated back to the
segments through a corporate overhead allocation.

Certain costs previously reported by our Mortgage Production, Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management Services segments as Salaries and
related expenses during 2010 and 2009 are now included in the corporate overhead allocation and reported as a component of Other operating
expenses. The table below provides a summary of our corporate overhead allocation by segment:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage Production segment $ 71 $ 14 $ 14
Mortgage Servicing segment 15 3 3
Fleet Management Services segment 44 10 10
Other (130) (27) (27)
Total $ � $ � $ �

Other operating expenses for 2011 compared to 2010 in our Mortgage Production, Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management Services
segments increased by $57 million, $12 million and $34 million, respectively resulting from our internal reorganization and further investments
in our information technology infrastructure and enterprise risk management process as well as increased costs associated with the further
development of our corporate infrastructure related to marketing, communications and human resources.  These increases were partially offset
by corresponding decreases in Salaries and related expenses and Other operating expenses exclusive of corporate allocations.  See individual
segment results discussions below for further detail.

37

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

70



Mortgage Production Segment

The following tables present a summary of our financial results and key related drivers for the Mortgage Production segment, and are followed
by a discussion of each of the key components of Net revenues and Total expenses:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

($ in millions, except average loan amount)
Loans closed to be sold $ 37,889 $ 37,747 $ 29,370
Fee-based closings 14,056 11,247 8,194
Total closings $ 51,945 $ 48,994 $ 37,564
Purchase closings $ 20,404 $ 20,270 $ 15,401
Refinance closings 31,541 28,724 22,163
Total closings $ 51,945 $ 48,994 $ 37,564
Fixed rate $ 37,692 $ 38,657 $ 30,512
Adjustable rate 14,253 10,337 7,052
Total closings $ 51,945 $ 48,994 $ 37,564
Retail closings $ 35,592 $ 33,429 $ 31,834
Wholesale/correspondent closings 16,353 15,565 5,730
Total closings $ 51,945 $ 48,994 $ 37,564
Average loan amount $ 258,365 $ 238,187 $ 228,510
Loans sold $ 40,035 $ 34,535 $ 29,002
Applications $ 67,586 $ 74,628 $ 54,283
IRLCs expected to close $ 33,717 $ 38,330 $ 26,210

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage fees $ 295 $ 291 $ 275
Gain on mortgage loans, net 567 635 610
Mortgage interest income 101 97 79
Mortgage interest expense (125) (113) (90)
Mortgage net finance expense (24) (16) (11)
Other income 76 1 6
Net revenues 914 911 880
Salaries and related expenses 341 369 336
Occupancy and other office expenses 30 34 32
Other depreciation and amortization 9 10 14
Other operating expenses 251 202 172
Total expenses 631 615 554
Income before income taxes 283 296 326
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 25 28 20
Segment profit $ 258 $ 268 $ 306
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Mortgage Production Statistics

Mortgage loan originations are driven by the demand to fund home purchases and the demand to refinance existing loans.  Purchase closings are
influenced by the number of home sales and the overall condition of the housing market whereas refinance closings are sensitive to interest rate
changes relative to borrowers� current interest rates.  Refinance closings typically increase when interest rates fall and decrease when interest
rates rise. Although the level of interest rates is a key driver of refinancing activity, there are other factors which influence the level of refinance
closings including home prices, levels of home equity, underwriting standards and product characteristics.  The demand for
wholesale/correspondent closings is influenced by a variety of factors, including overall industry capacity and the competitive landscape, and
represented 31%, 32% and 15% of our total closings during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Retail loans are generally more profitable than
wholesale/correspondent and have higher loan margins and higher expenses.  As discussed in ��Overview�Executive Summary� above, we have
shifted our focus in 2012 from growing origination market share and mortgage servicing rights to focusing on liquidity and cash generation and
we have developed a liquidity and capital plan that could reduce our correspondent mortgage originations in future periods compared to 2011
and 2010.

Interest rate lock commitments (�IRLCs�) represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan
from a third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is set prior to funding.  Interest rate lock commitments expected to close are
adjusted for the amount of loans expected to close in accordance with the terms of the commitment.  IRLCs expected to close result in loans
closed to be sold as we do not enter into interest rate lock commitments on fee-based closings.

As of January 2012, Fannie Mae�s Economics and Mortgage Market Analysis shows a decrease in mortgage industry volumes of approximately
20% during 2011 compared to 2010.  Although mortgage interest rates remained at relatively low levels through 2011, many borrowers took
advantage of the low interest rate environment in 2010 by refinancing after interest rates declined.  As a result, IRLCs expected to close declined
by 12% during 2011 compared to 2010, despite similar interest rate environments.

2011 Compared With 2010: Total closings increased $3.0 billion (6%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a $2.8 billion increase in refinance
closings coupled with a slight increase in purchase closings. The significant increase in refinance closings was a result of the decline in mortgage
interest rates during the latter half of 2010 which resulted in an increase in refinance activity and IRLCs during that period, which ultimately
closed in 2011.  The increase in purchase closings was driven by an improvement in home sales compared to 2010.

The mix of total closings between retail and wholesale/correspondent closings was generally consistent in 2011 compared to 2010 which
reflected the execution of our strategy to grow our market share through this channel in those periods despite declining industry volumes. As
described above, the mix of total closings may shift to a higher percentage of retail closings in 2012 as we focus on liquidity and cash
generation.  During 2011, the composition of total closings shifted to a higher percentage of fee-based closings which was primarily related to an
improvement in the market for non-agency jumbo loan originations.

2010 Compared With 2009: IRLCs increased by 46% during 2010 compared to 2009 due to the significant refinance activity in 2010 as well as
the increase in wholesale/correspondent volume as further described below. Total closings increased 30% during 2010 compared to 2009 which
were comprised of a 32% increase in purchase closings and a 30% increase in refinance closings. The higher purchase closings in 2010 were
primarily driven by an improvement in home sales as compared to 2009 and the acceleration of purchase closings due to the expiration of the
home purchase tax credit. The higher refinance closings in 2010 were the result of the significant decline in mortgage rates throughout most of
2010, which generated an increase in refinance activity.
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The mix of total closings shifted from a higher percentage of retail closings in 2009 towards more wholesale/correspondent closings in 2010,
which was due to our efforts to expand production in this channel.  The increase in wholesale/correspondent originations has allowed us to grow
our overall originations and market share.
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Mortgage Fees

Retail closings and fee-based closings are key drivers of Mortgage fees.  Mortgage fees consist of fee income earned on all loan originations,
including loans closed to be sold and fee-based closings.  Fee income consists of amounts earned related to application and underwriting fees
and fees on cancelled loans and appraisal and other income generated by our appraisal services business.  Fee income also consists of amounts
earned from financial institutions related to brokered loan fees and origination assistance fees resulting from our private-label mortgage
outsourcing activities.  Fees associated with the origination and acquisition of mortgage loans are recognized as earned.

2011 Compared With 2010: Mortgage fees increased by $4 million (1%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a 6% increase in retail closings,
which was partially offset by a decrease in fee income generated by our appraisal services business.

2010 Compared With 2009: Mortgage fees increased by $16 million (6%) primarily due to the 5% increase in retail closings during 2010
compared to 2009.

Gain on Mortgage Loans, Net

IRLCs expected to close are the primary driver of Gain on mortgage loans, net.  Gain on mortgage loans, net includes realized and unrealized
gains and losses on our mortgage loans, as well as the changes in fair value of our interest rate locks and loan-related derivatives. The fair value
of our IRLCs is based upon the estimated fair value of the underlying mortgage loan, adjusted for: (i) the estimated costs to complete and
originate the loan and (ii) the estimated percentage of IRLCs that will result in a closed mortgage loan. The valuation of our interest rate lock
commitments and mortgage loans approximates a whole-loan price, which includes the value of the related mortgage servicing rights. Mortgage
servicing rights are recognized and capitalized at the date the loans are sold and subsequent changes in the fair value are recorded in Change in
fair value of mortgage servicing rights in the Mortgage Servicing segment.

The components of Gain on mortgage loans, net were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Gain on loans $ 482 $ 624 $ 552
Change in fair value of Scratch and Dent and certain non-conforming
mortgage loans (11) (19) (20)
Economic hedge results 96 30 78
Total change in fair value of mortgage loans and related derivatives 85 11 58
Total $ 567 $ 635 $ 610

Gain on loans is primarily driven by the volume of IRLCs expected to close, total loan margins and the mix of wholesale/correspondent closing
volume.  Margins generally widen when mortgage interest rates decline and tighten when mortgage interest rates increase, as loan originators
balance origination volume with operational capacity.  For wholesale/correspondent closings and certain retail closings from our private label
clients, the cost to acquire the loan reduces the gain from selling the loan into the secondary market.

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

74



Change in fair value of Scratch and Dent and certain non-conforming mortgage loans is primarily driven by additions, sales and changes in value
of Scratch and Dent loans, which represent loans with origination flaws or performance issues.

Economic hedge results represent the change in value of mortgage loans, interest rate lock commitments and related derivatives, including the
impact of changes in actual pullthrough as compared to our initial assumptions.
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2011 Compared With 2010: Gain on loans decreased by $142 million (23%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a 12% decrease in IRLCs
expected to close and lower total margins.  The decrease in total margins was primarily attributable to the lower value of initial capitalized
mortgage servicing rates, which resulted from reductions in mortgage interest rates, coupled with slightly lower initial pricing margins compared
to 2010.

The $8 million favorable change in fair value of Scratch and Dent and certain non-conforming loans compared to 2010 was primarily due to the
sale of Scratch and Dent loans at a gain during 2011, coupled with an increase in the estimated fair value of the remaining population of Scratch
and Dent loans.

The $66 million increase in economic hedge results compared to 2010 was primarily driven by lower volatility in mortgage interest rates
partially offset by a lower impact from actual pullthrough of mortgage loans, as compared to assumptions.  Interest rates were relatively stable
during 2011 compared to 2010 as the significant volatility in interest rates during 2010 led to higher hedge costs and less favorable economic
hedge results.

2010 Compared With 2009: The $72 million increase in gain on loans during 2010 compared to 2009 was primarily due to a 46% increase in
interest rate lock commitments expected to close that was partially offset by lower total margins and the higher mix of wholesale/correspondent
volume. Although loan pricing margins were slightly higher in 2010 than in 2009, the decrease in total margins during 2010 was primarily
attributable to the lower value of initial capitalized mortgage servicing rights resulting from continuing reductions in interest rates and relatively
lower servicing values in 2010 compared to 2009.

The $48 million unfavorable variance from the change in economic hedge results was primarily attributable to increased interest rate volatility
and higher costs of hedging the larger volume of outstanding IRLCs in 2010 compared to 2009.

Mortgage Net Finance Expense

Mortgage net finance expense allocable to the Mortgage Production segment consists of interest income on mortgage loans, interest expense
allocated on debt used to fund mortgage loans and an allocation of interest expense for working capital.  Mortgage net finance expense is
primarily driven by the average balance of loans held for sale, the average volume of outstanding borrowings, the note rate on loans held for sale
and the cost of funds rate of our outstanding borrowings.  A significant portion of our loan originations are funded with variable-rate short-term
debt.

2011 Compared With 2010: Mortgage net finance expense increased $8 million (50%) compared to 2010 and was comprised of a $12 million
(11%) increase in Mortgage interest expense partially offset by a $4 million (4%) increase in Mortgage interest income.  The increase in
Mortgage interest expense was primarily attributable to a higher average volume of loans held for sale that was partially offset by lower average
interest rates compared to 2010. Mortgage interest expense was also negatively impacted by higher allocated financing costs related to an
increase in the cost of funds rate of outstanding unsecured borrowings.  The increase in mortgage interest income was primarily due to a higher
average volume of loans held for sale that was partially offset by lower average note rates on loans resulting from lower mortgage interest rates
for conforming first mortgage loans compared to 2010.
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2010 Compared With 2009: Mortgage net finance expense increased $5 million (45%) during 2010 compared to 2009 due to a $23 million
(26%) increase in Mortgage interest expense partially offset by an $18 million (23%) increase in Mortgage interest income.  The increase in
Mortgage interest expense was primarily attributable to the higher average volume of loans closed to be sold.  The increase in Mortgage interest
income was primarily due to the higher average volume of loans held for sale due to the increase in loans closed to be sold partially offset by a
lower average note rate on loans held for sale resulting from a decline in mortgage interest rates for conforming first mortgage loans. 
Additionally, Mortgage net finance expense was favorably impacted by $14 million in 2010 compared to 2009 as a result of the reallocation of
capital between businesses.
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Other Income

2011 Compared With 2010: Other income increased $75 million compared to 2010 which was primarily attributable to a $68 million gain on
the 50.1% sale of the equity interests in our appraisal services business (STARS) discussed above under ��Results of Operations�Consolidated
Results� and $3 million in earnings from our continued equity interest in the appraisal services business subsequent to the sale.

Salaries and Related Expenses

Salaries and related expenses allocable to the Mortgage Production segment consist of salaries, payroll taxes, benefits and incentives paid to
employees in our mortgage production operations and commissions paid to employees involved in the loan origination process.

The components of Salaries and related expenses were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Salaries, benefits and incentives $ 207 $ 215 $ 210
Commissions 98 109 106
Contract labor and overtime 36 45 20
Total $ 341 $ 369 $ 336

Salaries, benefits and incentives are primarily driven by the average number of permanent employees. In 2011, we combined general and
administrative functions, as discussed under ��Results of Operations�Segment Results� above, which favorably impacted salaries, benefits and
incentives compared to 2010.  Commissions are primarily driven by the volume of retail closings. Contract labor and overtime are primarily
driven by origination volumes and consists of overtime paid to permanent employees and amounts paid to temporary and contract personnel. 
We continue to balance the number of full-time employees and the use of temporary and contract personnel with anticipated loan origination
volumes.

2011 Compared With 2010: Salaries, benefits and incentives decreased by $8 million compared to 2010 primarily from the combination of
general and administrative functions which is allocated to Other expenses in 2011 partially offset by an increase related to a higher average
number of permanent employees in the mortgage production operations. The $11 million decrease in commissions was primarily due to a
decline in closings from our real estate channel which have higher commission rates than private label closings.  Despite a 6% increase in total
closing volumes, contract labor and overtime decreased by $9 million and was driven by lower application volumes related to lower overall
industry volumes and our efforts to improve operational efficiencies in our mortgage production operations.  In response to a decline in
mortgage interest rates during the latter half of 2010, our costs associated with contract labor and overtime increased during 2010 to
accommodate higher application volumes as many borrowers took advantage of the low interest rate environment which resulted in an increase
in refinance activity and IRLCs during that period, which ultimately closed in 2011.

2010 Compared With 2009: Salaries and related expenses increased by $33 million (10%) during 2010 compared to 2009, due to a $5 million
increase in salaries, benefits and incentives, a $25 million increase in contract labor and overtime and a $3 million increase in commissions
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expense due to higher retail closings.  The increase in salaries, benefits and incentives was primarily due to an increase in salaries and other
benefit costs resulting from an increase in permanent employees during 2010 compared to 2009.  The increase in contract labor and overtime
was primarily attributable to higher loan origination volumes compared to 2009.
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Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses allocable to the Mortgage Production segment consist of production-related direct expenses, allocations for corporate
overhead and other production related expenses.

The components of Other operating expenses were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Production-related direct expenses $ 103 $ 105 $ 93
Corporate overhead allocation 71 14 14
Other expenses 77 83 65
Total $ 251 $ 202 $ 172

Production-related direct expenses represent variable costs directly related to the volume of loan originations and consist of appraisal,
underwriting and other direct loan origination expenses. These expenses are incurred during the loan origination process and are primarily driven
by applications.  Corporate overhead allocation consists of segment allocations of general and administrative costs.  In 2011, certain additional
general and administrative functions were combined as discussed under ��Results of Operations�Segment Results� above.  Other expenses consist of
other production-related expenses that include, but are not limited to professional fees, information technology costs, outsourcing fees and
customer service expenses.

2011 Compared With 2010: Production-related direct expenses decreased slightly compared to 2010 despite a 6% increase retail closings. 
Corporate overhead allocation was unfavorably impacted by $57 million from the combination of general and administrative functions coupled
with further investments in our information technology platform and enterprise risk management process.  The $6 million decrease in other
expenses primarily resulted from $10 million of direct expenses incurred during 2010 associated with executing our transformation plan and a $7
million reduction in information technology expenses resulting from the combination of general and administrative functions discussed above
that were partially offset by an increase in expenses associated with legal and regulatory compliance activities, customer service and other
expenses resulting from the high level of refinance activity and IRLCs experienced during the latter half of 2010, which ultimately closed in
2011.

2010 Compared With 2009: Other operating expenses increased by $30 million (17%) during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to an
increase in production-related direct expenses from an increase in total closings and retail originations coupled with an increase in other
expenses primarily related to a $12 million increase in costs associated with executing our transformation plan.
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Mortgage Servicing Segment

The following tables present a summary of our financial results and key related drivers for the Mortgage Servicing segment, and are followed by
a discussion of each of the key components of Net revenues and Total expenses:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

($ In millions)
Ending total loan servicing portfolio $ 182,387 $ 166,075 $ 151,481
Number of loans serviced 1,063,884 1,005,950 954,063
Ending capitalized loan servicing portfolio $ 147,088 $ 134,753 $ 127,700
Capitalized servicing rate 0.82 % 1.07 % 1.11 %
Capitalized servicing multiple 2.7 3.5 3.6
Weighted-average servicing fee (in basis points) 31 30 31

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Average total loan servicing portfolio $ 174,332 $ 156,825 $ 149,628
Average capitalized loan servicing portfolio 142,128 130,462 127,108
Payoffs and principal curtailments of capitalized portfolio 25,168 25,887 29,117

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage interest income $ 15 $ 15 $ 12
Mortgage interest expense (76) (69) (61)
Mortgage net finance expense (61) (54) (49)
Loan servicing income 456 415 431
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights (733) (427) (280)
Net derivative loss related to mortgage servicing rights (3) � �
Valuation adjustments related to mortgage servicing rights, net (736) (427) (280)
Net loan servicing (loss) income (280) (12) 151
Other (expense) income (2) 3 (20)
Net revenues (343) (63) 82
Salaries and related expenses 33 37 39
Occupancy and other office expenses 10 9 9
Other depreciation and amortization 1 1 1
Other operating expenses 170 131 118
Total expenses 214 178 167
Segment loss $ (557) $ (241) $ (85)

Mortgage Net Finance Expense

Mortgage net finance expense allocable to the Mortgage Servicing segment consists of interest income from escrow balances, income from
investment balances (including investments held in reinsurance trusts) and interest expense allocated on debt used to fund our Mortgage

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

81



servicing rights (�MSRs�), which is driven by the average volume of outstanding borrowings and the cost of funds rate of our outstanding
borrowings.
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2011 Compared With 2010: Mortgage net finance expense increased by $7 million (13%) compared to 2010 primarily due to an increase in the
interest expense allocated to fund our MSRs resulting from a higher average MSR balance.  The low interest rate environment has continued to
significantly reduce the earnings opportunity related to our escrow balances as the ending one-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2011 was 30
basis points.

2010 Compared With 2009: Mortgage net finance expense increased by $5 million (10%) during 2010 compared to 2009 due to an $8 million
(13%) increase in Mortgage interest expense partially offset by a $3 million (25%) increase in Mortgage interest income. During 2010, Mortgage
interest expense and Mortgage interest income both increased by $6 million compared to 2009 due to the consolidation of a mortgage loan
securitization trust resulting from the adoption of accounting standards updates to ASC 810, �Consolidation�, whereby we consolidated securitized
mortgage loans and the related debt certificates.  Mortgage interest income has continued to be reduced by lower short-term interest rates as
escrow balances earn income based on one-month LIBOR.  The ending one-month LIBOR rate at December 31, 2010 was 26 basis points,
which has continued to significantly reduce the earnings opportunity related to our escrow balances.

Loan Servicing Income

The components of Loan servicing income were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Net service fee revenue $ 440 $ 401 $ 422
Late fees and other ancillary servicing revenue 61 66 58
Curtailment interest paid to investors (29) (33) (44)
Net reinsurance loss (16) (19) (5)
Total $ 456 $ 415 $ 431

The primary drivers for Loan servicing income are the average capitalized loan servicing portfolio and average servicing fee.  Net service fee
revenue is driven by recurring servicing fees that are recognized upon receipt of the coupon payment from the borrower and recorded net of
guaranty fees.  Net service fee revenue also includes subservicing fees where we receive a nominal stated amount per loan which is less than our
average servicing fee related to the capitalized portfolio.  Curtailment interest paid to investors represents uncollected interest from the borrower
that is required to be passed onto investors and is primarily driven by the number of loan payoffs.

Net reinsurance loss represents premiums earned on reinsurance contracts, net of ceding commission and provisions for reinsurance reserves.

2011 Compared With 2010: The $39 million increase in net service fee revenue was primarily due to a 9% increase in the average capitalized
loan servicing portfolio compared to 2010 coupled with a slight increase in the weighted average servicing fee.  The $5 million decrease in late
fees and other ancillary servicing revenue was due to a decrease in other ancillary revenue generated by our appraisal services business, the sale
of which is discussed above under ��Results of Operations�Consolidated Results�.  Curtailment interest paid to investors decreased by $4 million
compared to 2010 due to a 3% decrease in loan payoffs in our total loan servicing portfolio during 2011 compared to 2010.  The $3 million
decrease in net reinsurance loss was primarily attributable to a $7 million decrease in the provision for reinsurance reserves resulting from lower
delinquencies associated with reinsured loans which was partially offset by a $4 million decrease in premiums earned related to outstanding
reinsurance agreements which have continued in runoff status.
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2010 Compared With 2009: The $21 million decrease in net service fee revenue was primarily due to the sale of excess servicing associated
with a portion of our MSRs executed during the fourth quarter of 2009 and a slight decrease in the weighted average servicing fee that were
partially offset by a 5% increase in the average loan servicing portfolio.  The increase in late fees and other ancillary servicing revenue was due
to $5 million in servicer incentives earned under federal government modification programs, a $4 million increase in tax service fees attributable
to a 30% increase in total closings and a $2 million increase in late fees related to timing of payments on delinquent mortgage loans.  The $11
million decrease in curtailment interest paid to investors was
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primarily due to a 9% decrease in loans included in our loan servicing portfolio that paid off during 2010 compared to 2009.  The $14 million
increase in net reinsurance loss was primarily attributable to an $8 million increase in the provision for reinsurance-related reserves due to higher
delinquencies associated with reinsured loans coupled with a $6 million decrease in premiums earned related to outstanding reinsurance
agreements which were placed into runoff during 2009.

Valuation Adjustments Related to Mortgage Servicing Rights

Valuation adjustments related to mortgage servicing rights include Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights and Net derivative loss
related to mortgage servicing rights.  The components of Valuation adjustments related to mortgage servicing rights are discussed separately
below.

Change in Fair Value of Mortgage Servicing Rights: The fair value of our MSRs is estimated based upon projections of expected future cash
flows considering prepayment estimates, our historical prepayment rates, portfolio characteristics, interest rates based on interest rate yield
curves, implied volatility and other economic factors.  Generally, the value of our MSRs is expected to increase when interest rates rise and
decrease when interest rates decline due to the effect those changes in interest rates have on prepayment estimates.  Other factors noted above as
well as the overall market demand for MSRs may also affect the valuation.

The components of Changes in fair value of mortgage servicing rights were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Actual prepayments of the underlying mortgage loans $ (164) $ (184) $ (244)
Actual receipts of recurring cash flows (48) (41) (56)
Credit-related fair value adjustments (11) (36) (91)
Market-related fair value adjustments (510) (166) 111
Total $ (733) $ (427) $ (280)

The change in fair value of MSRs due to actual prepayments is driven by two factors: (i) the number of loans that prepaid during the period and
(ii) the current value of the mortgage servicing right asset at the time of prepayment.  Credit-related adjustments represent the change in fair
value of MSRs primarily due to changes in projected portfolio delinquencies and foreclosures.  Market-related adjustments represent the change
in fair value of MSRs due to changes in market inputs and assumptions used in the valuation model.

2011 Compared With 2010: The $20 million decrease in actual prepayments of the underlying mortgage loans compared to 2010 was primarily
due to a 7% decrease in loan payoffs in the capitalized loan servicing portfolio and a 4 basis point decrease in the average MSR value of
prepayments.

Credit-related fair value adjustments decreased the value of our MSRs by $11 million during 2011 compared to $36 million during 2010.  The
favorable credit-related fair value adjustments compared to 2010 were primarily due to an improvement in total delinquencies, foreclosures and
real estate owned coupled with a decrease in projected delinquencies and foreclosures.  The $36 million unfavorable credit-related adjustment
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during 2010 was primarily due to elevated projected delinquencies and foreclosures in the capitalized portfolio.

Market-related fair value adjustments decreased the value of our MSRs by $510 million during 2011 compared to $166 million during 2010. The
$510 million decrease during 2011 was primarily attributable to a decrease in mortgage interest rates, coupled with a $40 million unfavorable
change resulting from an increase in projected costs associated with servicing delinquent and foreclosed loans as well as a $20 million
unfavorable change resulting from an increase in projected prepayments associated with the implementation of the revised Home Affordability
Refinance Program.  During 2011, the primary mortgage rate used to value our MSR declined by 93 bps, which resulted in an increase in
expected prepayments from increased refinance activity.  The $166 million decrease during 2010 was primarily due to a decrease in mortgage
interest rates which led to higher expected prepayments.  During 2010, the primary mortgage rate used to value our MSR declined by 41 bps.
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2010 Compared With 2009: The $60 million decrease in actual prepayments of the underlying loans compared to 2009 was attributable to a
12% decrease in loan payoffs.  Additionally, the average MSR value of prepayments was 14 basis points lower for 2010 compared to 2009.

Credit-related fair value adjustments reduced the value of our MSRs by $36 million during 2010 as portfolio delinquencies and foreclosures
have begun to stabilize, but remained elevated. The $91 million decline during 2009 was primarily due to the continued deteriorating economic
conditions in the broader U.S. economy which resulted in an increase in total delinquencies attributable to the capitalized servicing portfolio.

The $166 million unfavorable change during 2010 due to market-related fair value adjustments was primarily due to a decrease in mortgage
interest rates which led to higher expected prepayments. The $111 million favorable change during 2009 was primarily due to an increase in
mortgage interest rates leading to lower expected prepayments.

Net Derivative Loss Related to Mortgage Servicing Rights: From time-to-time, we may use a combination of derivative instruments to protect
against potential adverse changes in the fair value of our MSRs resulting from a decline in interest rates. The change in fair value of derivatives
is intended to react in the opposite direction of the market-related change in the fair value of MSRs, and generally increase in value as interest
rates decline and decrease in value as interest rates rise.  The amount and composition of derivatives used depends on the exposure to loss of
value on our MSRs, the expected cost of the derivatives, our expected liquidity needs and the increased earnings generated by origination of new
loans resulting from the decline in interest rates.  During the third quarter of 2011, we made the decision to hedge a small portion of our risk
related to MSRs.

The value of derivatives related to our MSRs decreased by $3 million during 2011.  There were no open derivatives related to MSRs for 2010
and 2009.

Refer to ��Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk� for an analysis of the impact of 25 bps, 50 bps and 100 bps
changes in interest rates on the valuation of our MSRs and related derivatives as of December 31, 2011.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income allocable to the Mortgage Servicing segment primarily consists of the change in the net fair value of a mortgage
securitization trust where we hold a residual interest.  These residual interests were sold during the first quarter of 2012. For further information
see Note 23, �Subsequent Events� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2011 Compared With 2010: The $5 million unfavorable change compared to 2010 was primarily due to an increase in projected credit losses of
the underlying securitized mortgage loans.

2010 Compared With 2009: Other (expense) income changed favorably by $23 million compared to 2009 due to changes in the fair value of
Investment securities during 2009, which were primarily attributable to significant increases in the delinquency of the underlying mortgage loans
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and an acceleration of our assumption of projected losses, which caused a decline in the expected cash flows from the underlying securities.

Salaries and Related Expenses

Salaries and related expenses allocable to the Mortgage Servicing segment consist of salaries, payroll taxes, benefits and incentives paid to
employees in our servicing operations.  In 2011, we combined general administrative functions, as discussed under ��Results of
Operations�Segment Results� above, which favorably impacted Salaries and related expenses compared to 2010.

2011 Compared With 2010: The $4 million (11%) decrease in salaries and related expenses compared to 2010 was primarily attributable to the
combination of general and administrative functions, which is allocated to Other operating expenses in 2011.
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Other Operating Expenses

The following table presents a summary of Other operating expenses:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Foreclosure-related charges $ 80 $ 72 $ 70
Corporate overhead allocation 15 3 3
Other expenses 75 56 45
Total $ 170 $ 131 $ 118

Foreclosure-related charges are driven by the volume of repurchase and indemnification requests as well as expected loss severities which are
impacted by various economic factors including delinquency rates and home price values.  Corporate overhead allocation relates to segment
allocations of general and administrative costs.  In 2011, certain additional general and administrative functions were combined as discussed
under ��Results of Operations�Segment Results� above. Other expenses include operating expenses of the Mortgage Servicing segment, including
costs directly associated with servicing loans in foreclosure and real estate owned, professional fees and outsourcing fees.

2011 Compared With 2010: The continuing high levels of repurchase requests, primarily from the agencies, and loss severities contributed to
$80 million in foreclosure-related charges during 2011.  The pipeline of unresolved repurchase requests was 35% larger at the end of 2011
compared to 2010.  The $72 million in foreclosure-related charges during 2010 was primarily due to the timing of repurchases, indemnifications
and make-whole payments on defaulted loans.  Corporate overhead allocation was unfavorably impacted by $12 million from the combination of
general and administrative functions and further investments in our information technology platform and enterprise risk management process. 
The $19 million increase in other expenses was primarily attributable to a $12 million increase in expenses associated with servicing delinquent
and foreclosed loans and real estate owned, including provisions for compensatory fees and litigation costs related to foreclosure processing.

2010 Compared With 2009: Foreclosure-related charges changed unfavorable by $2 million primarily due to the persistence of loan
repurchases and indemnifications and the related impact on loss provisions.  Other expenses increased by $11 million (24%) during 2010
compared to 2009 primarily related to a $5 million increase in direct expenses associated with a sustained elevation of delinquencies and
foreclosures in our mortgage servicing portfolio and a $4 million increase in costs associated with executing our transformation plan.
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Fleet Management Services Segment

The following tables present a summary of our financial results and related drivers for the Fleet Management Services segment, and are followed
by a discussion of each of the key components of our Net revenues and Total expenses:

Average for the
Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands of units)

Leased vehicles 274 290 314
Maintenance service cards 324 287 275
Fuel cards 295 276 282
Accident management vehicles 298 290 305

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Fleet management fees $ 173 $ 157 $ 150
Fleet lease income 1,400 1,370 1,441
Other income 73 66 58
Net revenues 1,646 1,593 1,649
Salaries and related expenses 62 75 86
Occupancy and other office expenses 15 17 18
Depreciation on operating leases 1,223 1,224 1,267
Fleet interest expense 82 94 95
Other depreciation and amortization 11 11 11
Other operating expenses 178 109 118
Total expenses 1,571 1,530 1,595
Segment profit $ 75 $ 63 $ 54

Fleet Management Fees

The drivers of Fleet management fees are leased vehicles and service unit counts as well as the usage of fee-based services. Fleet management
fees consist primarily of the revenues of our principal fee-based products: fuel cards, maintenance services, accident management services and
monthly management fees for leased vehicles. During the second half of 2010, we added transportation safety training services through the
acquisition of the assets of a former supplier which has positively impacted Fleet management fees during 2011 and 2010.

2011 Compared With 2010: Fleet management fees increased by $16 million (10%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a full-year realization
of operating results from the additional driver safety training service fees coupled with higher usage of fee-based and asset-based fleet
management services, and an increase in service unit volume.
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2010 Compared With 2009: Fleet management fees increased by $7 million (5%) during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to the higher
usage of fee-based fleet management services, partially offset by lower average leased vehicles and service unit counts. Fleet management fees
were also positively impacted in 2010 by the addition of driver safety training service fees.
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Fleet Lease Income

The following table presents a summary of the components of Fleet lease income:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Leasing revenue $ 1,344 $ 1,347 $ 1,397
Operating lease syndication revenue 56 23 44
Total $ 1,400 $ 1,370 $ 1,441

Fleet lease income consists of leasing revenue related to operating and direct financing leases as well as the gross sales proceeds associated with
our operating lease syndications. We originate certain leases with the intention of syndicating to banks and other financial institutions, which
includes the sale of the underlying assets and assignment of any rights to the leases. Upon the transfer and assignment we record the proceeds
from the sale within Fleet lease income and recognize the cost of goods sold within Other operating expenses for the undepreciated cost of the
asset sold.

Leasing revenue related to operating leases consists of an interest component for the funding cost inherent in the lease as well as a depreciation
component for the cost of the vehicles under lease.  Leasing revenue related to direct financing leases consists of an interest component for the
funding cost inherent in the lease.

2011 Compared With 2010: Fleet lease income increased by $30 million (2%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a $33 million increase in
operating lease syndication revenue related to the amount of lease syndications coupled with an increase in leasing revenues attributable to a
change in the mix of our net investment in leases to a greater amount of vehicles under operating leases from direct financing leases.  These
increases were partially offset by lower leasing revenue from a decrease in the average number of leased vehicles.

2010 Compared With 2009: Fleet lease income decreased by $71 million (5%) during 2010 compared to 2009 due to the 8% decrease in the
average number of leased vehicles coupled with a decrease in operating lease syndication revenue resulting from a decrease in the amount of
lease syndications during 2010 compared to 2009.

Other Income

Other income primarily consists of gross sales proceeds from our owned vehicle dealerships and the gain or loss from the sale of used vehicles. 
The cost of vehicles sold from our owned dealerships is included in cost of goods sold within Other operating expenses.  During 2011 and 2010,
we have seen a strong market for used vehicle sales which have positively impacted our segment profit during those periods; however this trend
may not continue during 2012.
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2011 Compared With 2010: Other income increased by $7 million (11%) compared to 2010 primarily due to gains on the sale of used vehicles
and vehicle sales to retail customers at our dealerships.

2010 Compared With 2009:  Other income increased by $8 million (14%) compared to 2009 primarily due to gains on the sale of used vehicles
and vehicle sales to retail customers at our dealerships.
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Salaries and Related Expenses

Salaries and related expenses allocable to the Fleet Management Services segment consist of salaries, payroll taxes, benefits and incentives paid
to employees in our fleet services operations. In 2011, we combined general administrative functions, as discussed under ��Results of
Operations�Segment Results� above, which favorably impacted Salaries and related expenses compared to 2010.

2011 Compared With 2010: Salaries and related expenses decreased by $13 million (17%) compared to 2010 primarily from the combination
of general and administrative functions which is allocated to Other operating expenses in 2011 and lower overall incentive and benefit
compensation.

2010 Compared With 2009: Salaries and related expenses decreased by $11 million (13%) during 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to a
$7 million decrease related to the reduction in the average number of employees and a $4 million decrease related to a reduction in incentive
compensation.

Depreciation on Operating Leases

Depreciation on operating leases is the depreciation expense associated with our vehicles under operating leases included in Net investment in
fleet leases.

2011 Compared With 2010: Depreciation on operating leases decreased by $1 million compared to 2010 primarily due to a 6% decrease in
average leased vehicle units partially offset by the impact of higher depreciation associated with an increase in purchases of new vehicles under
lease compared to 2010.

2010 Compared With 2009:  Depreciation on operating leases during 2010 decreased by $43 million (3%) compared to 2009 primarily due to an
8% decrease in vehicles under operating leases, partially offset by the impact of higher depreciation associated with an increase in purchases of
new vehicles under lease compared to 2009.

Fleet Interest Expense

Fleet interest expense is primarily driven by the average volume and cost of funds rate of outstanding borrowings and consists of interest
expense associated with borrowings related to leased vehicles, changes in market values of interest rate cap agreements related to vehicle
asset-backed debt and amortization of deferred financing fees.
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2011 Compared With 2010: Fleet interest expense decreased by $12 million (13%) compared to 2010 primarily due to a favorable change in
the cost of funds rates resulting from debt renewals and a decrease in the amortization of deferred financing fees.  Fleet interest expense was also
favorable by $3 million compared to 2010 related to changes in fair value of interest rate cap agreements associated with vehicle management
asset-backed debt.

2010 Compared With 2009: Fleet interest expense decreased by $1 million compared to 2009 primarily due to a decrease in short-term interest
rates related to borrowings associated with leased vehicles and lower average outstanding borrowings that were partially offset by an
unfavorable change in the market value of interest rate cap agreements related to vehicle management asset-backed debt and an increase in the
amortization of deferred financing fees during 2010 compared to 2009. The one-month LIBOR, which is used as a benchmark for short-term
interest rates, was 6 basis points lower, on average, during 2010 compared to 2009.
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Other Operating Expenses

The following table presents a summary of the components of Other operating expenses:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Cost of goods sold $ 102 $ 67 $ 84
Corporate overhead allocation 44 10 10
Other expenses 32 32 24
Total $ 178 $ 109 $ 118

Cost of goods sold represents the acquisition cost of vehicles at our dealerships and the carrying value of certain operating leases syndicated to
banks and other financial institutions.  The gross sales proceeds from our owned dealerships are included in Other income and the proceeds from
syndications are recorded within Fleet lease income.

Corporate overhead allocation relates to segment allocations of general and administrative costs.  In 2011, certain additional general and
administrative functions were combined as discussed under ��Results of Operations�Segment Results� above.

2011 Compared With 2010: The $35 million increase in cost of goods sold compared to 2010 was primarily attributable to an increase in the
amount of lease syndication volume coupled with an increase in vehicle sales at our dealerships.  Corporate overhead allocation was unfavorably
impacted by $34 million from the combination of general and administrative functions coupled with further investments in our information
technology platform and enterprise risk management process.  Other expenses remained constant compared to 2010 primarily due to expenses
resulting from the addition of driver safety training services that was partially offset by costs incurred during 2010 associated with executing our
transformation plan.

2010 Compared With 2009: The $17 million decrease in cost of goods sold compared to 2009 was primarily due to a decrease in lease
syndication volume that was partially offset by an increase in cost of goods sold from our dealerships.  The increase in other expenses was
primarily attributable to an increase in corporate overhead costs associated with executing our transformation plan.

RISK MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of business we are exposed to various risks including, but not limited to, interest rate risk, consumer credit risk, commercial
credit risk, counterparty credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign exchange risk. The Finance and Risk Management Committee of the Board of
Directors provides oversight with respect to the assessment of our overall capital structure and its impact on the generation of appropriate risk
adjusted returns, as well as the existence, operation and effectiveness of our risk management programs, policies and practices. Our Chief Risk
Officer, working with each of our businesses, oversees governance processes and monitoring of these risks including the establishment of risk
strategy and documentation of risk policies and controls.
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Risks unique to our Mortgage business are governed through various committees including, but not limited to: (i) interest rate risk, including
development of hedge strategy and policies, monitoring hedge positions and counterparty risk; (ii) quality control, including audits related to the
processing, underwriting and closing of loans, findings of any fraud-related reviews and reviews of post-closing functions, such as FHA
insurance and monitoring of overall portfolio delinquency trends and recourse activity; and (iii) credit risk, including establishing credit policy,
product development and changes to underwriting guidelines.

Risks unique to our Fleet business are governed through a committee that is responsible for approving risk management policies and procedures
that include, but are not limited to the following: (i) credit and counterparty risks; (ii) credit losses and reserves; (iii) collections and accounts
receivable; (iv) residual risk on closed-end units; (v) legal, compliance, and commercial litigation issues; and (vi) and operational, supply chain
and price risks.
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Liquidity risk is managed on a consolidated level by a committee, which reviews our current position and projected liquidity needs over the next
three to four months including any potential and/or pending events that could impact liquidity positively or negatively as well as assessing our
longer-term liquidity needs.

See ��Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk� and �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�Certain
hedging strategies that we may use to manage risks associated with our assets, including mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate lock
commitments, mortgage servicing rights and foreign currency denominated assets, may not be effective in mitigating those risks and could result
in substantial losses that could exceed the losses that would have been incurred had we not used such hedging strategies.�

Interest Rate Risk

Our principal market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically long-term Treasury and mortgage interest rates due to their impact on
mortgage-related assets and commitments.  Additionally, our escrow earnings on our mortgage servicing rights and our net investment in
variable-rate lease assets are sensitive to changes in short-term interest rates such as LIBOR. We also are exposed to changes in short-term
interest rates on certain variable rate borrowings including our mortgage warehouse asset-backed debt, vehicle management asset-backed debt
and our unsecured revolving credit facility. We anticipate that such interest rates will remain our primary benchmark for market risk for the
foreseeable future.

Our Mortgage business is subject to variability in results of operations in both the Mortgage Production and Mortgage Servicing segments due to
fluctuations in interest rates. In a declining interest rate environment, we would expect our Mortgage Production segment�s results of operations
to be positively impacted by higher loan origination volumes and loan margins. On the contrary, we would expect the results of operations of our
Mortgage Servicing segment to decline due to higher actual and projected loan prepayments related to our capitalized loan servicing portfolio. In
a rising interest rate environment, we would expect a negative impact on the results of operations of our Mortgage Production segment and our
Mortgage Servicing segment�s results of operations to be positively impacted. The interaction between the results of operations of our Mortgage
Production and Mortgage Servicing segments is a core component of our overall interest rate risk strategy.

Our Fleet Management Services business is subject to variability in results of operations due to fluctuations in interest rates due to changes in
variable-rate leases that may be funded by fixed-rate or variable rate debt.

See �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�Certain hedging strategies that we may use to manage risks associated with our
assets, including mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate lock commitments, mortgage servicing rights and foreign currency denominated
assets, may not be effective in mitigating those risks and could result in substantial losses that could exceed the losses that would have been
incurred had we not used such hedging strategies.� and �Changes in interest rates could materially and adversely affect our volume of mortgage
loan originations or reduce the value of our mortgage servicing rights, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.� in this Form 10-K for more information.

Mortgage Loans and Interest Rate Lock Commitments
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Interest rate lock commitments represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan from a
third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is set prior to funding.  Our Mortgage loans held for sale, which are held in inventory
awaiting sale into the secondary market, and our Interest rate lock commitments are subject to changes in mortgage interest rates from the date
of the commitment through the sale of the loan into the secondary market.  As such, we are exposed to interest rate risk and related price risk
during the period from the date of the lock commitment through (i) the lock commitment cancellation or expiration date; or (ii) through the date
of sale into the secondary mortgage market. Loan commitments generally range between 30 and 90 days; and our holding period of the mortgage
loan from funding to sale is typically within 30 days.
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A combination of options and forward delivery commitments on mortgage-backed securities or whole loans are used to hedge our commitments
to fund mortgages and loans held for sale.  These forward delivery commitments fix the forward sales price that will be realized in the secondary
market and thereby reduce the interest rate and price risk to us.  Our expectation of how many of our interest rate lock commitments will
ultimately close is a key factor in determining the notional amount of derivatives used in hedging the position.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

Our mortgage servicing rights (�MSRs�) are subject to substantial interest rate risk as the mortgage notes underlying the MSRs permit the
borrowers to prepay the loans.  Therefore, the value of MSRs generally tends to diminish in periods of declining interest rates (as prepayments
increase) and increase in periods of rising interest rates (as prepayments decrease). Although the level of interest rates is a key driver of
prepayment activity, there are other factors that influence prepayments, including home prices, underwriting standards and product
characteristics.  Since our Mortgage Production segment�s results of operations are positively impacted when interest rates decline, our Mortgage
Production segment�s results of operations may fully or partially offset the change in fair value of MSRs either negating or minimizing the need
to hedge the change in fair value of our MSRs with derivatives.

We consider the estimated benefit of new originations on our Mortgage Production segment�s results of operations to determine the net economic
value change from a decline in interest rates, and we continuously evaluate our ability to replenish lost MSR value and cash flow due to
increased prepayments.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, we replenished approximately 189% of the unpaid principal balance of
loans in our servicing portfolio that paid off during the year.  Loan payoffs in our capitalized servicing portfolio were $19.8 billion, as compared
to additions of $37.5 billion.

This risk management approach requires management to make assumptions with regards to future replenishment rates, loan margins, the value
of additions to MSRs and loan origination costs. Many factors can impact these estimates, including loan pricing margins, the availability of
liquidity to fund additions to our capitalized MSRs and the ability to adjust staffing levels to meet changing consumer demand.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we entered into derivative contracts to hedge a portion of the interest rate associated with our MSRs. 
Although the notional amount of these derivatives was less than 1% of unpaid principal balance of the MSRs, we entered into these derivative
contracts to ensure there would be an adequate cushion above the leverage and net worth covenants of our debt facilities to fund the increase in
origination volume if rates moved down further, given the leverage covenant of debt-to-tangible net worth of 6.5 to 1.  As rates decline, the
increase in mortgage asset-backed debt, coupled with the decline in value of MSRs resulting from lower mortgage rates, could have the effect of
increasing indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio in the short term.

Refer to ��Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk� for an analysis of the impact of 25 bps, 50 bps and 100 bps
changes in interest rates on the valuation of assets and liabilities sensitive to interest rates.

Indebtedness

The debt used to finance much of our operations is exposed to interest rate fluctuations. We may use certain hedging strategies and derivative
instruments to create a desired mix of fixed- and variable-rate assets and liabilities. Derivative instruments used in these hedging strategies may
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include swaps and interest rate caps. To more closely match the characteristics of the related assets, including the net investment in variable-rate
lease assets, either variable-rate debt or fixed-rate debt is issued, which may be swapped to variable LIBOR-based rates. From time to time,
derivatives that convert variable cash flows to fixed cash flows are used to manage the risk associated with variable-rate debt and net investment
in variable-rate lease assets. Such derivatives may include freestanding derivatives and derivatives designated as cash flow hedges.
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Consumer Credit Risk

Our exposures to consumer credit risk include:

§ Loan repurchase and indemnification obligations from breaches of representation and warranty provisions of our loan sales or
servicing agreements, which result in indemnification payments or exposure to loan defaults and foreclosures;

§ Mortgage reinsurance losses; and

§ A decline in the fair value of mortgage servicing rights as a result of increases in involuntary prepayments from increasing portfolio
delinquencies.

We are not subject to the majority of the credit-related risks inherent in maintaining a mortgage loan portfolio because loans are not held for
investment purposes. Nearly all mortgage loans originated are sold in the secondary mortgage market within 30 days of origination.  Conforming
loan sales are primarily in the form of mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

For our loan servicing portfolio, we utilize several risk mitigation strategies in an effort to minimize losses from delinquencies, foreclosures and
real estate owned including: collections, loan modifications, and foreclosure and property disposition. Since the majority of the risk resides with
the investor and not with us, these techniques may vary based on individual investor and insurer requirements.

To minimize losses from loan repurchases and indemnifications, we closely monitor investor and agency eligibility requirements for loan sales. 
To monitor our production for such issues, our quality review teams perform audits related to the processing, underwriting and closing of
mortgage loans prior to, or shortly after, the sale of loans to identify any potential repurchase exposures due to breach of representations and
warranties.  Subsequently, when an investor requests that we repurchase a loan that we originated, a comprehensive review is performed prior to
authorizing the repurchase of the loan.

Loan performance is an indicator of the inherent risk associated with our origination and servicing activities.  The following tables summarize
certain information regarding the total loan servicing portfolio, which includes loans associated with capitalized Mortgage servicing rights as
well as loans subserviced for others:

As of December 31,
2011 2010

Portfolio Delinquency:(1)
30 days 1.83 % 2.01 %
60 days 0.51 % 0.60 %
90 days or more 0.95 % 1.27 %
Total 3.29 % 3.88 %
Foreclosure/real estate owned(2) 1.85 % 2.37 %
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(1) Represents the total loan servicing portfolio delinquencies as a percentage of the total unpaid principal balance of the portfolio.

(2) As of December 31, 2011 and 2010 there were loans in foreclosure with unpaid principal balances of $2.8 billion and $3.3 billion, respectively.
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As of December 31,
2011 2010

Major Geographical Concentrations:
California 15.5 % 14.4 %
Florida 6.4 % 6.8 %
New York 6.3 % 6.3 %
New Jersey 5.9 % 6.2 %
Other 65.9 % 66.3 %

The following table summarizes the percentage of loans that are greater than 90 days delinquent, in foreclosure and real estate owned based on
the unpaid principal balance for significant geographical concentrations:

As of
December 31,

2011
Florida 15.4 %
California 10.9 %
New Jersey 10.3 %
New York 7.3 %
Illinois 5.6 %

Loan Repurchases and Indemnifications

Representations and warranties are provided to purchasers and insurers on a significant portion of loans sold and are assumed on purchased
mortgage servicing rights.  In the event of a breach of these representations and warranties, we may be required to repurchase a mortgage loan or
indemnify the purchaser, and we may bear any loss on the mortgage loan.  If there is no breach of a representation and warranty provision, there
is no obligation to repurchase the loan or indemnify the investor against loss.  In limited circumstances, the full risk of loss on loans sold is
retained to the extent the liquidation of the underlying collateral is insufficient. In some instances where we have purchased loans from third
parties, we may have the ability to recover the loss from the third party.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we experienced increases in actual and projected repurchases and indemnifications associated with
the representations and warranties that we provide to purchasers and insurers of our sold loans.  These increases are expected to remain at
elevated levels during 2012, and are primarily due to continued high levels of repurchase requests, delinquencies and lower home values.  These
trends are considered in the determination of our foreclosure-related reserves; however, changes in these trends and other economic factors as
well as the level and composition of our mortgage production volumes will impact the balance of our foreclosure-related reserves.

Foreclosure-related reserves are maintained for the liabilities for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations and
related to on-balance sheet loans in foreclosure and real estate owned.

Foreclosure-related reserves consist of the following:
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As of December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Loan repurchase and indemnification liability $ 95 $ 74
Allowance for probable foreclosure losses 19 22
Adjustment to value for real estate owned 13 15
Total $ 127 $ 111
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A summary of the activity in foreclosure-related reserves is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 111 $ 86
Realized foreclosure losses (82) (63)
Increase in reserves due to:
Changes in assumptions 80 74
New loan sales 18 14
Balance, end of period $ 127 $ 111

Loan Repurchase & Indemnification Liability

We subject the population of repurchase and indemnification requests received to a review and appeal process to establish the validity of the
claim and corresponding obligation.  The following table presents the unpaid principal balance of our unresolved requests by status:

As of December 31, 2011 As of December 31, 2010
Investor Insurer Investor Insurer
Requests Requests Total Requests Requests Total

(In millions)
Agency Invested:
Claim pending (1) $ 33 $ 1 $ 34 $ 9 $ 1 $ 10
Appealed (2) 24 10 34 34 22 56
Open to review (3) 101 14 115 50 9 59
Agency requests 158 25 183 93 32 125
Private Invested:
Claim pending (1) 3 � 3 1 2 3
Appealed (2) 17 3 20 15 7 22
Open to review (3) 12 4 16 13 2 15
Private requests 32 7 39 29 11 40
Total $ 190 $ 32 $ 222 $ 122 $ 43 $ 165
____________

(1) Claim pending status represents loans that have completed the review process where we have agreed with the representation and warranty breach and are
pending final execution.

(2) Appealed status represents loans that have completed the review process where we have disagreed with the representation and warranty breach and are
pending response from the claimant. Based on claims received and appealed during the year ended December 31, 2011 that have been resolved, we were
successful in refuting over 90% of claims appealed.

(3) Open to review status represents loans where we have not completed our review process. We appealed approximately 70% of claims received and
reviewed during the year ended December 31, 2011.

Approximately 70% and 74% of the unpaid principal balance of our unresolved repurchase requests relates to loans originated between
2005-2008 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Mortgage Loans in Foreclosure & Real Estate Owned

Mortgage loans in foreclosure represent the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans for which foreclosure proceedings have been initiated,
plus recoverable advances made by us on those loans. These amounts are recorded net of an allowance for probable losses on such mortgage
loans and related advances. As of December 31, 2011, mortgage loans in foreclosure were $93 million, net of an allowance for probable losses
of $19 million, and were included in Other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Real estate owned, which are acquired from mortgagors in default, are recorded at the lower of the adjusted carrying amount at the time the
property is acquired or fair value. Fair value is determined based upon the estimated net realizable value of the underlying collateral less the
estimated costs to sell. As of December 31, 2011, real estate owned were $38 million, net of a $13 million adjustment to record these amounts at
their estimated net realizable value, and were included in Other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

See Note 13, �Credit Risk�, in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our
foreclosure-related reserves.

See �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�Losses incurred in connection with actual or projected loan repurchase and
indemnification claims may exceed our financial statement reserves and we may be required to increase such reserves in the future. Increases to
our reserves and losses incurred in connection with actual loan repurchases and indemnification payments could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial position, results of operation or cash flows.�

Mortgage Reinsurance

We have exposure to consumer credit risk through losses from two contracts with primary mortgage insurance companies, that are inactive and
in runoff.  Our exposure to losses through these reinsurance contracts is based on mortgage loans pooled by year of origination. As of
December 31, 2011, the contractual reinsurance period for each pool was 10 years and the weighted-average remaining reinsurance period was
4 years. Loss rates on these pools are determined based on the unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans. We indemnify the primary
mortgage insurers for losses that fall between a stated minimum and maximum loss rate on each annual pool. In return for absorbing this loss
exposure, we are contractually entitled to a portion of the insurance premium from the primary mortgage insurers.

We are required to hold securities in trust related to this potential obligation, which were $226 million as of December 31, 2011 and were
included in Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2011, a
liability of $84 million was included in Other liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for incurred and incurred but not
reported losses associated with our mortgage reinsurance activities, which was determined on an undiscounted basis.  During 2011, we recorded
an expense associated with the liability for estimated losses of $36 million within Loan servicing income in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

A summary of the activity in reinsurance-related reserves is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 113 $ 108
Realized reinsurance losses (65) (38)
Increase in liability for reinsurance losses(1) 36 43
Balance, end of period $ 84 $ 113
____________

(1) The increase in reinsurance reserves is recorded as an expense within Loan servicing income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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The following table summarizes certain information regarding mortgage loans that are subject to reinsurance by year of origination as of
December 31, 2011:

Maximum Foreclosures/
Unpaid Potential Average Real estate
Principal Exposure to Credit owned/

Balance (UPB) Reinsurance Loss Score(3) Delinquencies(1)(3) Bankruptcies(2)(3)
($ In millions)

Year of Origination:
2003 and prior $ 1,085 $ 218 691 6.44% 6.00%
2004 788 95 691 5.38% 7.63%
2005 779 30 693 6.40% 10.38%
2006 515 5 692 6.92% 14.01%
2007 1,061 18 700 5.76% 12.31%
2008 1,788 57 724 3.66% 4.71%
2009 380 7 758 0.38% 0.05%
Total $ 6,396 $ 430 706 5.19% 7.78%
_______________

(1) Represents delinquent mortgage loans for which payments are 60 days or more outstanding as a percentage of the total unpaid principal balance.

(2) Calculated as a percentage of the total unpaid principal balance.

(3) Based on September 30, 2011 data.

The following table summarizes the geographical concentration and defaults for loans subject to reinsurance in states representing more than 5%
of the total outstanding reinsurance as of September 30, 2011:

Percent of
Outstanding
Reinsurance Defaults(1)

Pennsylvania 8.0 % 12.7 %
Texas 7.4 % 6.9 %
Minnesota 7.2 % 9.9 %
New Jersey 5.9 % 21.1 %
Florida 5.9 % 23.3 %
Illinois 5.4 % 17.7 %
New York 5.1 % 15.4 %
____________

(1) Represents delinquent mortgage loans for which payments are 60 days or more outstanding, foreclosure, real estate owned and bankruptcies as a percentage
of the total unpaid principal balance.

We record a liability for mortgage reinsurance losses when losses are incurred. The projections used in the development of our liability for
mortgage reinsurance assume we will incur losses related to reinsured mortgage loans originated from 2003 through 2009. While the maximum
potential exposure to reinsurance losses as of December 31, 2011 was $430 million, our total expected losses to be incurred over the remaining
term of the reinsurance agreements was $130 million, of which $53 million relates to loans originated from 2005 through 2007. We record
incurred and incurred but not reported losses as of the balance sheet date, rather than the maximum potential future exposure to reinsurance
losses. Expected future losses and expected future premiums are considered in determining whether or not an additional premium deficiency
reserve is required. Expected future premium revenue to be earned over the remaining term of the reinsurance contracts is estimated to be $48
million. Based upon our estimates of expected future losses and expected future premiums, no premium deficiency reserve is required.
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See Note 13, �Credit Risk� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Commercial Credit Risk

We are exposed to commercial credit risk for our clients under the lease and service agreements of our Fleet Management Services segment. We
manage such risk through an evaluation of the financial position and creditworthiness of the client, which is performed on at least an annual
basis. The lease agreements generally allow us to refuse any additional orders; however, the obligation remains for all leased vehicle units under
contract at that time. The fleet management service agreements can generally be terminated upon 30 days written notice.

Vehicle leases are primarily classified as operating leases; however, as of December 31, 2011, direct financing leases comprised 2% of our Net
investment in fleet leases and related receivables that were greater than 90 days delinquent were $15 million.

Historical credit losses for receivables related to vehicle leasing and fleet management services have not been significant and as a percentage of
the ending balance of Net investment in fleet leases have not exceeded 0.09% in any of the last three fiscal years.

Counterparty & Concentration Risk

We are exposed to risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties to various agreements, derivative contracts, and sales transactions. In
general, we manage such risk by evaluating the financial position and creditworthiness of counterparties, monitoring the amount for which we
are at risk, requiring collateral, typically cash, in instances in which financing is provided and/or dispersing the risk among multiple
counterparties.

As of December 31, 2011, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk with any individual counterparty or group of counterparties
with respect to our derivative transactions. Concentrations of credit risk associated with receivables are considered minimal due to our diverse
client base. With the exception of the financing provided to customers of our mortgage business, we do not normally require collateral or other
security to support credit sales.

The Mortgage Production segment has exposure to risk related to the volume of transactions with individual counterparties of our Mortgage
Production segment. During the year ended December 31, 2011, approximately 22% and 21% of our mortgage loan originations were derived
from our relationships with Realogy and its affiliates, and Merrill Lynch Home Loans, a division of Bank of America, National Association,
respectively. The insolvency or inability for Realogy or Merrill Lynch to perform their obligations under their respective agreements with us
could have a negative impact on our Mortgage Production segment.

The Mortgage Servicing segment has exposure to risk associated with the amount of our servicing portfolio for which we must maintain
compliance with the requirements of the GSE servicing guides. As of December 31, 2011, 70% of our servicing portfolio relates to loans
governed by these servicing guides.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Fleet Management Services segment had no significant client concentrations as no client represented
more than 5% of the Net revenues of the business.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents our ongoing ability to originate and finance mortgage loans, sell mortgage loans into secondary markets, purchase and
fund vehicles under management, retain mortgage servicing rights and otherwise fund our working capital needs. We estimate how our liquidity
needs may be impacted by a number of factors including fluctuations in asset and liability levels due to our business strategy, changes in our
business operations, levels of interest rates and unanticipated events. We also assess market conditions and capacity for debt issuance in various
markets we access to fund our business needs. Additionally, management has established internal processes to anticipate future cash needs and
continuously monitor the availability under our existing debt arrangements. We address liquidity risk by maintaining committed borrowing
capacity in excess of our expected needs and attempting to minimize the frequency of our market access by extending the tenor of our funding
arrangements.

See �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�Our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings are below investment grade (and
were subject to a downgrade in December 2011) and, as a result, we may be limited in our ability to obtain or renew financing on economically
viable terms or at all.� and �Part I�Item 1A.
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Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company� We are currently pursuing various alternatives to improve our liquidity in order to fulfill upcoming
debt maturities.  We cannot assure you that our efforts will be successful or that future ratings actions will not occur.� for more information.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We also have exposure to foreign exchange risk through: (i) our investment in our Canadian operations; (ii) any U.S. dollar borrowing
arrangements we may enter into to fund Canadian dollar denominated leases and operations; and (iii) any foreign exchange forward contracts
that we may enter into. Currency swap agreements may be used to manage such risk.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We manage our liquidity and capital structure to fund growth in assets, to fund business operations, and to meet contractual obligations,
including maturities of our indebtedness. In developing our liquidity plan, we consider how our needs may be impacted by various factors
including maximum liquidity needs during the period, fluctuations in assets and liability levels due to changes in business operations, levels of
interest rates, and working capital needs. We also assess market conditions and capacity for debt issuance in various markets we access to fund
our business needs.  Our primary operating funding needs arise from the origination and financing of mortgage loans, the purchase and funding
of vehicles under management and the retention of mortgage servicing rights. Sources of liquidity include:  equity capital (including retained
earnings); the unsecured debt markets; committed and uncommitted credit facilities; secured borrowings, including the asset-backed debt
markets; cash flows from operations (including service fee and lease revenues); cash flows from assets under management; and proceeds from
the sale or securitization of mortgage loans and lease assets.

We are continuing to monitor developments in regulations that may impact our businesses including the Dodd-Frank Act and ongoing GSE
reforms that could have a material impact on our liquidity. See ��Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�The businesses in which we
engage are complex and heavily regulated, and changes in the regulatory environment affecting our businesses could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.� and �We are highly dependent upon programs administered by
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae. Changes in existing U.S. government-sponsored mortgage programs or servicing eligibility standards
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.� for more information.

As of December 31, 2011, our near-term unsecured debt maturities included $250 million of Convertible notes due April 15, 2012 and $421
million of Term notes due March 1, 2013.  Although we did not have any outstanding borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility as of
December 31, 2011, commitments under the Amended Credit Facility expire on February 29, 2012.  We intend to extend these commitments for
an additional year on February 29, 2012 as we expect to meet all of the renewal conditions, including the payment of extension fees and the
maintenance of minimum liquidity, among other provisions.

Although we expect the Amended Credit Facility to renew for an additional year, our current credit ratings and capital position may inhibit our
ability to access the capital markets when we seek financing, including any future renewal of our Amended Credit Facility beginning in 2013. 
As a result there can be no assurances that we will have access to the Amended Credit Facility after February 28, 2013 on the terms that
currently exist, if at all, or that the Amended Credit Facility will remain on an unsecured basis.
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We have historically been reliant on accessing the capital markets for unsecured debt in order to refinance or extend the maturities of our
unsecured debt at the parent company level.  There has been a prolonged period of uncertainty and volatility in the economy, which may impair
or limit our access to unsecured funding.  On December 21, 2011, S&P lowered our senior unsecured debt rating two notches to BB- with a
negative outlook.  In January 2012, both Fitch and Moody�s maintained our current ratings, but placed us on negative watch or outlook.   Due to
our senior unsecured long-term debt credit ratings being below investment grade and as a result of the recent ratings actions, our access to the
public debt markets may be severely limited in comparison to the ability of investment grade issuers to access such markets.
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For more information, see �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company� We are substantially dependent upon our secured and
unsecured funding arrangements. If any of our funding arrangements are terminated, not renewed or otherwise become unavailable to us, we
may be unable to find replacement financing on economically viable terms, if at all, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.�

Liquidity and Capital Plan

As a result of recent events and in order to focus on our near-term unsecured debt maturities, we are focused on liquidity and cash generation
during the near term as we deal with the uncertainties in the capital markets and the broader economic challenges.  Our goals for 2012 include a
focus on increasing liquidity and cash flow generation, addressing our 2012 and 2013 debt maturities and negotiating the extension of our
unsecured revolving credit facility.  During December 2011, we successfully issued $100 million of 9.25% Senior Notes due 2016 under an
existing indenture.  On December 31, 2011, we had $414 million of unrestricted Cash and cash equivalents and we have taken the following
actions in 2012 to improve our liquidity and capital position:

§ on January 17, 2012, we issued $250 million of 6.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2017; and

§ in January 2012, we repurchased $48 million of the 2012 Convertible notes due April 15, 2012.

In addition to these measures, we have developed a liquidity and capital plan consisting of various steps to improve our liquidity and capital
position, which may involve one or more of the following:

(i) focusing our efforts to ensure that our operations are cash flow positive, which may include reductions in our correspondent mortgage
originations and capital expenditures;

(ii) disposition of assets that are not necessary to support our business strategies, which may include the assets of our reinsurance business;
and

(iii) generating mortgage servicing rights with minimal use of cash.

We will continue to actively refine our liquidity plan and intend to take all appropriate actions in an effort to ensure we have more than adequate
liquidity to meet our debt maturities and other liabilities.  We believe that the execution of our liquidity and capital plan will provide sufficient
liquidity to meet our debt service obligations and operate our business.
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There can be no assurances that we will be successful implementing this plan, or if we are successful, there can be no assurances that our plan
will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs.  Furthermore, the execution of our plan may have a negative impact on our future results of
operations, including revenue and net income.

Given our expectation for business volumes, we believe that our sources of liquidity are adequate to fund our operations for at least the next 12
months and to repay our upcoming maturities.  We expect aggregate capital expenditures for 2012 to be between $20 million and $25 million, in
comparison to $25 million for 2011.

For more information, see �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company� We are currently pursuing various alternatives to improve
our liquidity in order to fulfill upcoming debt maturities.  We cannot assure you that our efforts will be successful or that future ratings actions
will not occur.�
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Cash Flows

At December 31, 2011, we had $414 million of Cash and cash equivalents, an increase of $219 million from $195 million at December 31,
2010.  The following table summarizes the changes in Cash and cash equivalents:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 Change
(In millions)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 2,786 $ (1,680) $ 4,466
Investing activities (1,331) (1,040) (291)
Financing activities (1,234) 2,768 (4,002)
Effect of changes in exchange rates on Cash and cash equivalents (2) (3) 1
Net increase in Cash and cash equivalents $ 219 $ 45 $ 174

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities reflect the net cash generated or used in our business operations and can be significantly impacted by
the timing of mortgage loan originations and sales.  In addition to depreciation and amortization, the operating results of our reportable segments
are impacted by the following significant non-cash activities:

§ Mortgage Production �Capitalization of mortgage servicing rights

§ Mortgage Servicing �Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights

§ Fleet Management Services �Depreciation on operating leases

During the year ended December 31, 2011, cash provided by operating activities was $2.8 billion.  This is primarily reflective of $2.3 billion of
net cash provided by the significant increase in mortgage loan sales in our Mortgage Production segment. Cash provided by operating activities
was further driven by positive cash flows from our Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management Services segments that were partially offset by a
$251 million net change in cash collateral posted on derivative agreements.

The net cash provided from the operating activities of our Mortgage Production segment resulted from a $1.7 billion decrease in the Mortgage
loans held for sale balance in our Consolidated Balance Sheets between December 31, 2011 and 2010, which is the result of timing differences
between origination and sale as of the end of each period.  The decrease in Mortgage loans held for sale also resulted in a decrease in Mortgage
Asset-Backed Debt as further described in Financing Activities below.
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During the year ended December 31, 2010, cash used in our operating activities was $1.7 billion.  This was reflective of $2.6 billion of net cash
used to fund the significant increase in mortgage loan originations and in the operating activities of our Mortgage Production segment that was
partially offset by cash provided by the operating activities of our Fleet Management Services and Mortgage Servicing segments. The net cash
used in the operating activities of our Mortgage Production segment generated the $3.1 billion growth in the Mortgage loans held for sale
balance in our Consolidated Balance Sheets between December 31, 2010 and 2009, which is the result of timing differences between origination
and sale at the end of each year. The increase in Mortgage loans held for sale was funded by an increase in Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt as
further described in Financing Activities below.
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Investing Activities

Our cash flows from investing activities include cash outflows for purchases of vehicle inventory, net of cash inflows for sales of vehicles within
the Fleet Management Services segment as well as changes in the funding requirements of Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments for
all of our business segments.  Cash flows related to the acquisition and sale of vehicles fluctuate significantly from period to period due to the
timing of the underlying transactions.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, cash used in our investing activities was $1.3 billion, which primarily consisted of $1.3 billion in net
cash outflows from the purchase and sale of vehicles and a $42 million net increase in Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments,
partially offset by $20 million of net cash inflows from the sale of an interest in our appraisal services business.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, cash used in our investing activities was $1.0 billion, which primarily consisted of $1.1 billion in net
cash outflows from the purchase and sale of vehicles due to increased customer demand for vehicle leases, partially offset by a $67 million net
decrease in Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments.

Financing Activities

Our cash flows from financing activities include proceeds from and payments on borrowings under our Vehicle Management Asset-Backed
Debt, Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt and Unsecured Debt facilities.  The fluctuations in the amount of borrowings within each period are due to
working capital needs and the funding requirements for assets supported by our secured and unsecured debt, including Net investment in fleet
leases, Mortgage loans held for sale and Mortgage servicing rights.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, cash used in our financing activities was $1.2 billion and related to $1.3 million of net payments on
secured borrowings resulting from the decreased funding requirements for Mortgage loans held for sale described in the Operating Activities
section above, offset by $99 million of net proceeds on unsecured borrowings primarily from the issuance of $100 million additional Senior
Notes under an existing indenture.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, cash provided by our financing activities was $2.8 billion related to net proceeds from borrowings
resulting from the increased funding requirements for Mortgage loans held for sale and net investment in vehicles described in the Operating
Activities and Investing Activities sections above.

Secondary Mortgage Market

We rely on the secondary mortgage market for a substantial amount of liquidity to support our mortgage operations. Nearly all mortgage loans
that we originate are sold in the secondary mortgage market within 30 days of origination, primarily in the form of mortgage-backed securities
(�MBS�), asset-backed securities (�ABS�) and whole-loan transactions. A large component of the MBS we sell is guaranteed by Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae (collectively, �Agency MBS�).
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Historically, we have also originated non-agency (or non-conforming) loans that were sold in the secondary mortgage market through the
issuance of non-conforming MBS and ABS or whole-loan transactions. We have also publicly issued both non-conforming MBS and ABS that
are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in addition to private non-conforming MBS and ABS. Generally, these types of
securities have their own credit ratings and require some form of credit enhancement, such as over-collateralization, senior-subordinated
structures, primary mortgage insurance, and/or private surety guarantees. During 2011, our sales of non-agency loans have been focused on
whole-loan sales to specified investors under best-efforts commitments, and we expect this to continue into 2012.
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The following table sets forth the composition of our total mortgage loan originations, including fee-based closings, by product type:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Conforming(1) 74 % 80 % 82 %
Non-conforming:
Jumbo(2) 23 % 17 % 13 %
Second lien 2 % 3 % 5 %
Other 1 % � % � %
Total Non-conforming 26 % 20 % 18 %
_____________

(1) Represents mortgage loans that conform to the standards of the GSEs (collectively Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae).

(2) Represents mortgage loans that have loan amounts exceeding the GSE guidelines.

The Agency MBS, whole-loan, and non-conforming markets for mortgage loans have historically provided substantial liquidity for our mortgage
loan production operations.  We focus our business process on consistently producing mortgage loans that meet investor requirements to
continue to access these markets.  Our loans closed to be sold originated during the year ended December 31, 2011 were primarily conforming.

See ��Overview�Industry Trends� and �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company� Adverse developments in the secondary mortgage
market have had, and in the future could have, a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.�
for more information regarding the secondary mortgage market.

Debt

We utilize both secured and unsecured debt as key components of our financing strategy.  Our primary financing needs arise from our assets
under management programs which are summarized in the table below:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 574 $ 531
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,658 4,329
Net investment in fleet leases 3,515 3,492
Mortgage servicing rights 1,209 1,442
Total $ 7,956 $ 9,794

Asset-backed debt is used primarily to support our investments in vehicle management and mortgage assets, and is secured by collateral which
include certain Mortgage loans held for sale and Net investment in fleet leases, among other assets.  The outstanding balance under the
Asset-backed debt facilities varies daily based on our current funding needs for eligible collateral.  In addition, amounts undrawn and available
under our revolving credit facility can also be utilized to supplement asset-backed facilities and provide for the funding of vehicles in U.S. and
Canada as well as the funding of mortgage originations.
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The following table summarizes our debt as of December 31, 2011:

Total Assets
Held as

Balance Collateral(1)
(In millions)

Vehicle Management Asset-Backed Debt $ 3,118 $ 3,773
Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt 2,436 2,522
Unsecured Debt 1,339 �
Mortgage Loan Securitization Debt Certificates, at fair value(2) 21 �
Total $ 6,914 $ 6,295
_____________

(1) Assets held as collateral are not available to pay our general obligations.

(2) Cash flows of securitized mortgage loans support payment of the debt certificates and creditors of the securitization trust do not have recourse to the
Company.

See Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding the components of our debt.

Vehicle Management Asset-Backed Debt

Vehicle management asset-backed debt primarily represents variable-rate debt issued by our wholly owned subsidiary, Chesapeake Funding
LLC, to support the acquisition of vehicles used by our Fleet Management Services segment�s U.S. leasing operations and debt issued by Fleet
Leasing Receivables Trust (�FLRT�), a special purpose trust, used to finance leases originated by our Canadian fleet operation.

Vehicle-management asset-backed debt structures may provide creditors an interest in: (i) a pool of master leases or a pool of specific leases;
(ii) the related vehicles under lease; and/or (iii) the related receivables billed to clients for the monthly collection of lease payments and ancillary
service revenues (such as fuel and maintenance services). This interest is generally granted to a specific series of note holders either on a pro-rata
basis relative to their share of the total outstanding debt issued through the facility or through a direct interest in a specific pool of leases.
Repayment of the obligations of the facilities is non-recourse to us and is sourced from the monthly cash flow generated by lease payments and
ancillary service payments made under the terms of the related master lease contracts.

Our funding strategy for the Fleet Management Services segment may include the issuance of asset-backed Term notes, which provide a fixed
funding amount at the time of issuance, or asset-backed Variable-funding notes under which the committed capacity may be drawn upon as
needed during a commitment period, which is typically 364 days in duration. The available committed capacity under Variable-funding notes
may be used to fund growth in Net investment in fleet leases during the term of the commitment.

As with the Variable-funding notes, certain Term notes contain provisions that allow the outstanding debt to revolve for specified periods of
time. During these revolving periods, the monthly collection of lease payments allocable to each outstanding series creates availability to fund
the acquisition of vehicles and/or equipment to be leased to customers. Upon expiration, the revolving period of the related series of notes ends
and the repayment of principal commences, amortizing monthly with the allocation of lease payments until the notes are paid in full.
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Our ability to maintain liquidity through Vehicle management asset-backed debt is dependent on:

§ market demand for ABS, specifically demand for ABS collateralized by fleet leases;

§ the quality and eligibility of assets underlying the arrangements;

§ our ability to negotiate terms acceptable to us;

§ maintaining our role as servicer of the underlying lease assets;

§ our ability to maintain a sufficient level of eligible assets, collateral or credit enhancements; and
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§ our ability to comply with certain financial covenants (see �� Debt Covenants� below for additional information).

Vehicle management asset-backed funding arrangements consisted of the following facilities as of December 31, 2011:

End of Estimated
Total Available Revolving Maturity

Balance Capacity Capacity(1) Period(2) Date(3)
(In millions)

Chesapeake 2009-2 $ 644 n/a n/a n/a 02/15/14
Chesapeake 2009-1 318 n/a n/a n/a 12/15/12
FLRT 2010-1 112 n/a n/a n/a 04/15/13
Chesapeake 2009-4 72 n/a n/a n/a 12/07/12
Chesapeake 2009-3 50 n/a n/a n/a 08/07/14
Term notes, in amortization 1,196
Chesapeake 2011-2 335 $ 335 $ � 09/19/13 02/07/16
Chesapeake 2010-1- Class B Note 23 23 � 06/27/12 03/07/15
Chesapeake 2011-1- Class B Note 16 16 � 06/27/13 01/07/16
Term notes, in revolving period 374 374 �
Chesapeake 2010-1 636 875 239 06/27/12 01/07/15
Chesapeake 2011-1 455 625 170 06/27/13 11/07/15
FLRT 2010-2 425 584 159 08/30/12 07/15/20
Variable funding-notes 1,516 2,084 568
Other 32 32 �
Total $ 3,118
____________

(1) Capacity is dependent upon maintaining compliance with the terms, conditions, and covenants of the respective agreements and may be further limited by
asset eligibility requirements.

(2) During the revolving period, the monthly collection of lease payments allocable to each outstanding series creates availability to fund the acquisition of
vehicles and/or equipment to be leased to customers. Upon expiration, the revolving period of the related series of notes ends and the repayment of principal
commences, amortizing monthly with the allocation of lease payments until the notes are paid in full.

(3) Represents the estimated final repayment date of the amortizing notes.

Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt

Mortgage asset-backed debt primarily represents variable-rate mortgage repurchase facilities to support the origination of mortgage loans. 
Mortgage repurchase facilities, also called warehouse lines of credit, are one component of our funding strategy, and they provide creditors a
collateralized interest in specific mortgage loans that meet the eligibility requirements under the terms of the facility during the warehouse
period.  The source of repayment of the facilities is typically from the sale or securitization of the underlying loans into the secondary mortgage
market.  We utilize both committed and uncommitted warehouse facilities and we evaluate our needs under these facilities based on forecasted
volume of mortgage loan closings and sales.

Our funding strategies for mortgage originations may also include the use of committed and uncommitted mortgage gestation facilities. 
Gestation facilities effectively finance mortgage loans that are eligible for sale to an agency prior to the issuance of the related MBS.

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

126



Our ability to maintain liquidity through Mortgage warehouse asset-backed debt is dependent on:

§ market demand for MBS and liquidity in the secondary mortgage market;
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§ the quality and eligibility of assets underlying the arrangements;

§ our ability to negotiate terms acceptable to us;

§ our ability to access the asset-backed debt market;

§ our ability to maintain a sufficient level of eligible assets or credit enhancements;

§ our ability to access the secondary market for mortgage loans;

§ maintaining our role as servicer of the underlying mortgage assets; and

§ our ability to comply with certain financial covenants (see �� Debt Covenants� below for additional information).

Mortgage asset-backed funding arrangements consisted of the following as of December 31, 2011:

Total Available Maturity
Balance Capacity Capacity(1) Date

(In millions)
Debt:
Committed facilities of PHH Mortgage:
Fannie Mae $ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ � 12/15/12
Royal Bank of Scotland, plc 314 500 186 06/22/12
Bank of America 288 415 127 10/11/12(2)
Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC 145 350 205 05/23/12(2)
Barclays Bank PLC 4 350 346 12/11/12
Wells Fargo Bank 128 300 172 08/10/12
Committed facilities of PHH Home Loans:
Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC 270 325 55 05/23/12(2)
Wells Fargo Bank 119 150 31 08/10/12
Barclays Bank PLC � 150 150 12/11/12
Ally Bank 45 75 30 04/01/12
Committed repurchase facilities 2,313 3,615 1,302
Uncommitted facilities of PHH Mortgage:
Fannie Mae 44 2,000 1,956 n/a
Royal Bank of Scotland, plc � 200 200 06/22/12
Uncommitted repurchase facilities 44 2,200 2,156
Servicing advance facility 79 120 41 03/31/12

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

128



Total Debt $ 2,436 $ 5,935 $ 3,499

Off-Balance Sheet Gestation Facilities:
JP Morgan Chase $ � $ 500 $ 500 09/30/12
___________

(1) Capacity is dependent upon maintaining compliance with the terms, conditions, and covenants of the respective agreements and may be further limited by
asset eligibility requirements.

(2) Provided certain conditions are met, the Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC and Bank of America facilities may be renewed for an additional
year at our request.

68

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

129



Unsecured Debt

Unsecured credit facilities are utilized to fund our short-term working capital needs to fund our MSRs and to supplement asset-backed facilities
and provide for a portion of the operating needs of our mortgage and fleet management businesses.   During the three months ended
December 31, 2011, the maximum and weighted-average daily balances of the Amended Credit Facility were $225 million and $89 million,
respectively.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, the maximum and weighted-average daily balances of the facility were $225 million
and $30 million, respectively.

Unsecured borrowing arrangements consisted of the following as of December 31, 2011:

Total Available Maturity
Balance Capacity Capacity Date

(In millions)
4% notes due in 2012 $ 250 n/a n/a 04/15/12
4% notes due in 2014 210 n/a n/a 09/01/14
Convertible notes 460
9.25% notes due in 2016 449 n/a n/a 03/01/16
7.125% notes due in 2013 423 n/a n/a 03/01/13
Other 7 n/a n/a 04/15/18
Term notes 879
Amended credit facility � $ 525 $ 509(1) 02/29/12(2)
Other � 5 5 09/30/12
Credit Facilities � $ 530 $ 514
Total $ 1,339
____________

(1) Utilized capacity reflects $16 million letters of credit issued under the Amended Credit Facility, which are not included in Debt in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

(2) Provided certain conditions are met, the Amended credit facility may be renewed for an additional year at the Company�s request. See further discussion
under ���Liquidity and Capital Plan� above.

On January 17, 2012 we completed an offering of $250 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2017.  See
Note 23, �Subsequent Events� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

As of February 17, 2012, our credit ratings, and ratings outlook on our senior unsecured debt were as follows:

Senior Short-Term Ratings
Debt Debt Outlook

Moody�s Investors Service Ba2 NP Negative outlook
Standard & Poors BB- B Negative outlook
Fitch BB+ B Negative watch
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A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities, may not reflect all of the risks associated with an investment in our debt
securities and is subject to revision or withdrawal by the assigning rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated independently of any
other rating.  See discussion of the impact of our senior unsecured long-term debt not being investment grade under ��Liquidity and Capital Plan�
above.

See �Part I�Item 1A. Risk Factors�Risks Related to our Company�Our senior unsecured long-term debt ratings are below investment grade (and
were subject to a downgrade in December 2011) and, as a result, we may be limited in our ability to obtain or renew financing on economically
viable terms or at all.� for more information.
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Debt Covenants

Certain of our debt arrangements require the maintenance of certain financial ratios and contain affirmative and negative covenants, including,
but not limited to, material adverse change, liquidity maintenance, restrictions on our indebtedness and the indebtedness of our material
subsidiaries, mergers, liens, liquidations, sale and leaseback transactions, and restrictions on certain types of payments, including dividends and
stock repurchases.

Among other covenants, the Amended Credit Facility, the RBS repurchase facility, the CSFB Mortgage repurchase facility, the Bank of America
repurchase facility, the Wells Fargo Mortgage repurchase facility and the Barclays repurchase facility require that we maintain:  (i) on the last
day of each fiscal quarter, net worth of $1.0 billion and (ii) at any time, a ratio of indebtedness to tangible net worth no greater than 6.5:1.  These
facilities contain the most restrictive net worth and debt to equity covenants; however, certain other outstanding debt agreements contain debt to
equity covenants that are less restrictive.

The Amended Credit Facility, the Bank of America repurchase facility, the RBS repurchase facility and the CSFB Mortgage repurchase facility
require that we maintain a minimum of $1.0 billion in committed mortgage repurchase or warehouse facilities, with no more than $500 million
of gestation facilities included towards the minimum, excluding the uncommitted facilities provided by Fannie Mae.

As of December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all financial covenants related to our debt arrangements.

Under certain of our financing, servicing, hedging and related agreements and instruments, the lenders or trustees have the right to notify us if
they believe we have breached a covenant under the operative documents and may declare an event of default. If one or more notices of default
were to be given, we believe we would have various periods in which to cure certain of such events of default. If we do not cure the events of
default or obtain necessary waivers within the required time periods, the maturity of some of our debt could be accelerated and our ability to
incur additional indebtedness could be restricted. In addition, an event of default or acceleration under certain of our agreements and instruments
would trigger cross-default provisions under certain of our other agreements and instruments.

On December 21, 2011, S&P lowered our senior unsecured debt rating two notches to BB- with a negative outlook.  Fannie Mae has the right to
terminate its $1.0 billion committed mortgage funding agreement as long as our credit rating by S&P remains below BB or if our credit rating by
Moodys falls below Ba2.  As of December 31, 2011, Fannie Mae has the option to terminate the facility, or make changes to our agreements
including, without limitation, (i) a reduction or elimination of the use of certain Fannie Mae products or programs, (ii) the modification of
certain legal agreements, and (iii) the exercise of certain contractual rights by Fannie Mae intended to reduce Fannie Mae�s counterparty risk
exposure. We are currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various agreements with Fannie Mae, including the
committed early funding facility agreement.

None of our other committed financing facilities are subject to termination, acceleration, modification, collateral posting, or adverse price
changes solely as a result of the December 21, 2011 downgrade of our unsecured debt ratings by S&P.

See Note 15, �Stock-Related Matters� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding debt covenants
that may limit our ability to pay dividends.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes our future contractual obligations as of December 31, 2011:

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total
(In millions)

Asset-backed debt(1)(2) $ 3,431 $ 841 $ 731 $ 414 $ 56 $ 85 $ 5,558
Unsecured debt(1) 250 421 250 � 450 8 1,379
Mortgage Loan Securitization
Debt Certificates 6 5 5 4 3 � 23
Operating leases 17 17 14 13 12 54 127
Capital leases(1) 4 3 3 � � � 10
Purchase commitments 177 10 7 1 � � 195

$ 3,885 $ 1,297 $ 1,010 $ 432 $ 521 $ 147 $ 7,292
___________

(1) The table above excludes future cash payments related to interest expense. Interest payments during 2011 totaled $204 million. Interest is calculated on
most of our debt obligations based on variable rates referenced to LIBOR or other short-term interest rate indices. A portion of our interest cost related to
vehicle management asset-backed debt is charged to lessees pursuant to lease agreements.

(2) Represents the contractual maturities for asset-backed debt arrangements as of December 31, 2011, except for our vehicle management asset-backed notes,
where estimated payments have been used based on the expected cash inflows related to the securitized vehicle leases and related assets.

For further information about our Asset-backed debt, Unsecured debt and Mortgage securitization debt certificates, see ��Liquidity and Capital
Resources�Debt� and Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Operating lease obligations include (i) leases for our Mortgage Production and Servicing segments in Mt. Laurel, New Jersey; Jacksonville,
Florida and other smaller regional locations throughout the U.S. and (ii) leases for our Fleet Management Services segment for its headquarters
office in Sparks, Maryland, office space and marketing centers in five locations in Canada and seven smaller regional locations throughout the
U.S.

Other purchase commitments include various commitments to purchase goods or services from specific suppliers made by us in the ordinary
course of our business, including $157 million in 2012 for the purchases of vehicles to be leased, and those related to capital expenditures. Other
purchase commitments exclude our liability for income tax contingencies, which totaled $3 million as of December 31, 2011, since we cannot
predict with reasonable certainty or reliability of the timing of cash settlements to the respective taxing authorities for these estimated
contingencies. For more information regarding our liability for income tax contingencies, see Note 1, �Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For further information about our Operating lease and Other purchase commitments, see Note 14, �Commitments and Contingencies� in the
accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of December 31, 2011, we had commitments with agreed-upon rates or rate protection that we expect to result in closed mortgage loans of
$7.1 billion.
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Commitments to sell loans generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require the payment of a fee. We may
settle the forward delivery commitments on MBS or whole loans on a net basis including the posting of collateral; therefore, the commitments
outstanding do not necessarily represent future cash obligations. Our $15.8 billion of forward delivery commitments on MBS or whole loans as
of December 31, 2011 generally will be settled within 90 days of the individual commitment date.

For further information about our commitments to fund or sell mortgage loans, see Note 6, �Derivatives� in the accompanying Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND GUARANTEES

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into numerous agreements that contain guarantees and indemnities whereby we indemnify another
party for breaches of representations and warranties. See Note 14, �Commitments and Contingencies� within the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

We utilize committed off-balance sheet mortgage gestation facilities as a component of our financing strategy.  See ��Liquidity and Capital
Resources�Debt�Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt� above, and Note 14, �Commitments and Contingencies� within the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

In presenting our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported therein. Several of the estimates and assumptions we are required to make relate to matters that are
inherently uncertain as they pertain to future events. However, events that are outside of our control cannot be predicted and, as such, they
cannot be contemplated in evaluating such estimates and assumptions. If there is a significant unfavorable change to current conditions, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We believe that the estimates and
assumptions we used when preparing our financial statements were the most appropriate at that time. Presented below are those accounting
policies that we believe require subjective and complex judgments that could potentially affect reported results.

Fair Value Measurements

We have an established and documented process for determining fair value measurements. Fair value represents the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. We determine fair value based on quoted
market prices, where available. If quoted prices are not available, fair value is estimated based upon other observable inputs, and may include
valuation techniques such as present value cash flow models, option-pricing models or other conventional valuation methods. In addition, when
estimating the fair value of liabilities, we may use the quoted price of an identical liability when traded and as an asset and quoted prices for
similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets, if available.

We use unobservable inputs when observable inputs are not available. These inputs are based upon our judgments and assumptions, which
represent our assessment of the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, which may include assumptions about
risk, counterparty credit quality and liquidity and are developed based on the best information available. The incorporation of counterparty credit
risk did not have a significant impact on the valuation of our assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2011. The use of different assumptions may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts recorded in our financial statements. See
�� Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk� for a sensitivity analysis based on hypothetical changes in interest rates.

As of December 31, 2011, 44% of our Total assets were measured at fair value on a recurring basis, and 1% of our Total liabilities were
measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
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Approximately 69% of our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were valued using primarily observable inputs. These
amounts were categorized within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy as defined by ASC 820, �Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures� and
are comprised of the majority of our Mortgage loans held for sale and derivative assets and liabilities.

Approximately 33%  of our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were valued using significant unobservable inputs
and were categorized within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy as defined by ASC 820. Approximately 82% of our assets and liabilities
categorized within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy are comprised of our Mortgage servicing rights. See �� Mortgage Servicing Rights�
below.
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The remainder of our assets and liabilities categorized within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy are comprised of certain non-conforming
mortgage loans held for sale, interest rate lock commitments and the conversion option and purchased options associated with the 2014
Convertible Notes. Certain non-conforming mortgage loans held for sale are classified within Level Three due to the lack of observable market
pricing data and the inactive market for trading such mortgage loans. The fair value of our interest rate lock commitments (�IRLCs�) is based upon
the estimated fair value of the underlying mortgage loan, adjusted for: (i) estimated costs to complete and originate the loan and (ii) an
adjustment to reflect the estimated percentage of commitments that will result in a closed mortgage loan, which can vary based on the age of the
underlying commitment and changes in mortgage interest rates. The valuation of our IRLCs approximates a whole-loan price, which includes
the value of the related mortgage servicing rights. Our IRLCs are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy due to the
unobservable inputs used by us and the inactive market for trading such instruments. The estimated fair value of the conversion option and
purchased options associated with the 2014 Convertible Notes uses an option pricing model and is primarily impacted by changes in the market
price and volatility of our Common stock.

See Note 18, �Fair Value Measurements� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding
the fair value hierarchy, our assets and liabilities carried at fair value and activity related to our Level Three financial instruments.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

The fair value of our mortgage servicing rights (�MSRs�) is estimated based upon projections of expected future cash flows, including service fee
income and expenses to service loans. We use a third-party model as a basis to forecast prepayment rates at each monthly point for each interest
rate path calculated using a probability weighted option adjusted spread (�OAS�) model. Prepayment rates used in the development of expected
future cash flows are based on historical observations of prepayment behavior in similar periods, comparing current mortgage rates to the
mortgage interest rate in our servicing portfolio, and incorporates loan characteristics (e.g., loan type and note rate) and factors such as recent
prepayment experience, the relative sensitivity of our capitalized servicing portfolio to refinance if interest rates decline and estimated levels of
home equity.

We utilize an MSR committee, which consists of key members of management, to approve our MSR valuation policies and ensure that the fair
value of our MSRs is appropriate considering all available internal and external data. We validate assumptions used in estimating the fair value
of our MSRs against a number of third-party sources, which may include peer surveys, MSR broker surveys, third-party valuations and other
market-based sources. Key assumptions include prepayment rates, discount rate and volatility.

If we experience a 10% adverse change in prepayment rates, OAS and volatility, the fair value of our MSRs would be reduced by $86 million,
$42 million and $6 million, respectively. These sensitivities are hypothetical and for illustrative purposes only. Changes in fair value based on a
10% variation in assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the
effect of a variation in a particular assumption is calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality, changes in one assumption may
result in changes in another, which may magnify or counteract the sensitivities. Further, this analysis does not assume any impact resulting from
our intervention to mitigate these variations.

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale

Mortgage loans held for sale (�MLHS�) represent mortgage loans originated or purchased by us and held until sold to secondary market investors.
We elected to measure MLHS at fair value, which is intended to better reflect the underlying economics of our business, as well as eliminate the
operational complexities of our risk management activities related to MLHS and applying hedge accounting.
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The fair value of MLHS is estimated by utilizing either: (i) the value of securities backed by similar mortgage loans, adjusted for certain factors
to approximate the value of a whole mortgage loan, including the value attributable to mortgage servicing and credit risk; (ii) current
commitments to purchase loans; or (iii) recent observable market trades for similar loans, adjusted for credit risk and other individual loan
characteristics.  During the year ended December 31, 2011 we transferred certain non-conforming mortgage loans held for sale from Level Three
to Level Two of the valuation hierarchy based on an increase in the availability of market bids and increased trading activity
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observed for these products.  As of December 31, 2011, we classified second-lien loans, including second-lien Scratch and Dent (loans with
origination flaws or performance issues), within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy due to the relative illiquidity observed in the market and
lack of trading activity between willing market participants. The valuation of our MLHS classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy
is based upon either the collateral value or expected cash flows of the underlying loans using assumptions that reflect the current market
conditions. When determining the value of these Level Three assets, we considered our own loss experience related to these assets, as well as
discount factors that we observed when the market for these assets was active.

Goodwill

The carrying value of our Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have
occurred. We elected to early adopt the provisions of Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-08, �Testing Goodwill for Impairment�, on
October 1, 2011, which provides the option to perform a qualitative assessment of goodwill before performing a valuation of the reporting unit.
Goodwill is assessed for impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment considering the following information before calculating the
fair value of reporting units:

§ market capitalization of the corporation, including the allocation of market capitalization between the operating segments and
reporting units;

§ comparison of forecasted earnings to actual results; and

§ peer market valuation comparisons and recent observed transactions

Our reporting units are the Fleet Management Services segment, PHH Home Loans, the Mortgage Production segment excluding PHH Home
Loans and the Mortgage Servicing segment. If it is determined, based upon the qualitative factors noted above, that it is more likely than not that
the fair value of the reporting units are less than the carrying amounts, the fair value of the reporting units will be estimated and compared to the
carrying amounts.  The fair value of reporting units may be determined using an income approach, using discounted cash flows, or a
combination of an income approach and a market approach, wherein comparative market multiples are used.

The carrying value of our Goodwill was $25 million as of December 31, 2011, attributable entirely to our Fleet Management Services segment.
See Note 4, �Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

We are subject to the income tax laws of the various jurisdictions in which we operate, including U.S. federal, state, local and Canadian
jurisdictions. These tax laws are complex, may be subject to different interpretations, and require the use of judgment in their application.
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We record income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, �Income Taxes�, which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized.
Deferred taxes are recorded for the expected future consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns,
based upon enacted tax laws and rates. Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to management�s judgment that realization is more likely than
not, and are reduced by valuation allowances if it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had net deferred tax liabilities, which consisted of deferred tax assets primarily resulting from federal
and state loss carryforwards and credits netted against deferred tax liabilities primarily resulting from the temporary differences created from
originated Mortgage servicing rights and depreciation and amortization (primarily related to accelerated Depreciation on operating leases for tax
purposes). The loss carryforwards are expected to reverse in future periods, offsetting taxable income resulting from the reversal of these
temporary differences.
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Based on projections of taxable income and prudent tax planning strategies available at our discretion, we determined that it is
more-likely-than-not that certain deferred tax assets would be realized; however, we had valuation allowances of $44 million and $54 million as
of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which primarily represent state net operating loss carryforwards that we believe that it is more
likely than not that the loss carryforwards will not be realized.  As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had no valuation allowances for deferred
tax assets generated from federal net operating losses. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in our judgments about the realization
of deferred tax assets in future years, we would adjust the valuation allowances in the period that the change in circumstances occurs, along with
a charge or credit to income tax expense. Significant changes to our estimates and assumptions may result in an increase or decrease to our tax
expense in a subsequent period.

We record liabilities for income tax contingencies using a two-step process. We must first presume the tax position will be examined by the
relevant taxing authority and determine whether it is �more likely than not� that the position will be sustained upon examination, based on its
technical merits. Once an income tax position meets the �more likely than not� recognition threshold, it is then measured to determine the amount
of the benefit to recognize in the financial statements.

Liabilities for income tax contingencies are reviewed periodically and are adjusted as events occur that affect our estimates, such as the
availability of new information, subsequent transactions or events, the lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, the conclusion of tax audits,
the measurement of additional estimated liabilities based on current calculations (including interest and/or penalties), the identification of new
income tax contingencies, the release of administrative tax guidance affecting our estimates of income tax liabilities or the rendering of relevant
court decisions. The ultimate resolution of income tax contingency liabilities could have a significant impact on our effective income tax rate in
a given financial statement period. Liabilities for income tax contingencies, including accrued interest and penalties, were $3 million and $9
million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and are reflected in Other liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase and Indemnification Liability

We have exposure to potential mortgage loan repurchase and indemnifications in our capacity as a loan originator and servicer. The estimation
of the liability for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations considers both (i) specific, non-performing loans
currently in foreclosure where we believe we will be required to indemnify the investor for any losses and (ii) an estimate of probable future
repurchase or indemnification obligations. The liability related to specific non-performing loans is based on a loan-level analysis considering the
current collateral value, estimated sales proceeds and selling cost. The liability related to probable future repurchase or indemnification
obligations is estimated based upon the amount of outstanding repurchase requests as well as recent and historical repurchase and
indemnification trends segregated by year of origination. An estimated loss severity, based on current loss rates for similar loans, is then applied
to probable repurchases and indemnifications to estimate the liability for loan repurchases and indemnifications.

The underlying trends for loan repurchases and indemnifications are volatile and there is a significant amount of uncertainly regarding our
expectations of future loan repurchases and indemnifications and related loss severities. We have observed an increase in loan repurchase and
indemnification requests from investors and insurers due to the deteriorating economic conditions and the related impact on mortgage loan
performance.  Due to the significant uncertainties surrounding these estimates related to future repurchase and indemnification requests by
investors and insurers and home prices, it is possible that our exposure exceeds our mortgage loan repurchase and indemnification liability. Our
estimate of the mortgage loan repurchase and indemnification liability considers the current macro-economic environment and recent repurchase
trends; however, if we experience a prolonged period of higher repurchase and indemnification activity or if weakness in the housing market
continues and further declines in home values occur, then our realized losses from loan repurchases and indemnifications may ultimately be in
excess of our liability. Given the levels of realized losses in recent periods, there is a reasonable possibility that future losses may be in excess of
our recorded liability.
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See Note 13, �Credit Risk� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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Liability for Reinsurance Losses

The liability for reinsurance losses is determined based upon the incurred and incurred but not reported losses provided by the primary mortgage
insurance companies for loans subject to reinsurance.  Additionally, an actuarial analysis of loans subject to mortgage reinsurance is used to
supplement our premium deficiency analysis, which considers current and projected delinquency rates, home prices and the credit characteristics
of the underlying loans including credit score and loan-to-value ratios. This actuarial analysis is updated on a quarterly basis and projects the
future reinsurance losses over the term of the reinsurance contracts as well as the estimated incurred and incurred but not reported losses as of
the end of each reporting period. See Note 13, �Credit Risk� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more
information regarding the activity in our reinsurance liability.

As of December 31, 2011, the actuarial estimate of total losses to be incurred over the remaining term of the reinsurance contracts was
$130 million, which includes losses already incurred and not yet paid. As of December 31, 2011, the reserve for reinsurance losses was
$84 million and expected future premium revenue to be earned over the remaining term of the reinsurance contracts was $48 million. Since the
current reinsurance reserve, combined with expected future premium revenue, is sufficient to cover our expected future losses, we have not
recorded a premium deficiency reserve.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

For information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements and the expected impact on our financial statements, see Note 1,
�Summary of Significant Accounting Policies� in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our principal market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically long-term Treasury and mortgage interest rates due to their impact on
mortgage-related assets and commitments.  Additionally, our escrow earnings on our mortgage servicing rights and our net investment in
variable-rate lease assets are sensitive to changes in short-term interest rates such as LIBOR. We also are exposed to changes in short-term
interest rates on certain variable rate borrowings including our mortgage asset-backed debt, vehicle management asset-backed debt and our
unsecured revolving credit facility.  We anticipate that such interest rates will remain our primary benchmark for market risk for the foreseeable
future.

See �Part II�Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Risk Management� in this Form 10-K
for a further description of our assets and liabilities subject to interest rate risk.

Sensitivity Analysis
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We assess our market risk based on changes in interest rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis.  The sensitivity analysis measures the potential
impact on fair values based on hypothetical changes (increases and decreases) in interest rates.

We use a duration-based model in determining the impact of interest rate shifts on our debt portfolio, certain other interest-bearing liabilities and
interest rate derivatives portfolios.  The primary assumption used in these models is that an increase or decrease in the benchmark interest rate
produces a parallel shift in the yield curve across all maturities.

76

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

145



We utilize a probability weighted option-adjusted spread model to determine the fair value of mortgage servicing rights and the impact of
parallel interest rate shifts on mortgage servicing rights.  The primary assumptions in this model are prepayment speeds, option-adjusted spread
(discount rate) and implied volatility.  However, this analysis ignores the impact of interest rate changes on certain material variables, such as
the benefit or detriment on the value of future loan originations, non-parallel shifts in the spread relationships between mortgage-backed
securities, swaps and Treasury rates and changes in primary and secondary mortgage market spreads.  We rely on market sources in determining
the impact of interest rate shifts for mortgage loans, interest rate lock commitments, forward delivery commitments on mortgage-backed
securities or whole loans and option contracts.  In addition, for interest-rate lock commitments, the borrower�s propensity to close their mortgage
loans under the commitment is used as a primary assumption.

Our total market risk is influenced by a wide variety of factors including market volatility and the liquidity of the markets.  There are certain
limitations inherent in the sensitivity analysis presented, including the necessity to conduct the analysis based on a single point in time and the
inability to include the complex market reactions that normally would arise from the market shifts modeled.

We used December 31, 2011 market rates on our instruments to perform the sensitivity analysis.  The estimates are based on the market risk
sensitive portfolios described in the preceding paragraphs and assume instantaneous, parallel shifts in interest rate yield curves.  These
sensitivities are hypothetical and presented for illustrative purposes only. Changes in fair value based on variations in assumptions generally
cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in fair value may not be linear.

The following table summarizes the estimated change in the fair value of our assets and liabilities sensitive to interest rates as of December 31,
2011 given hypothetical instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve:

Change in Fair Value
Down Down Down Up Up Up
100 bps 50 bps 25 bps 25 bps 50 bps 100 bps

(In millions)
Mortgage assets:
Restricted investments $  2 $  2 $  1 $  (1) $  (2) $  (4)
Mortgage loans held for sale 48 33 18 (21) (46) (100)
Interest rate lock commitments 88 62 35 (45) (98) (227)
Forward loan sale commitments (151) (102) (56) 65 139 300
Option contracts (1) (1) (1) 2 6 23
Total Mortgage loans held for sale, interest
rate lock commitments and related derivatives (16) (8) (4) 1 1 (4)
Mortgage servicing rights (385) (188) (89) 95 195 393
Derivatives related to MSRs 35 11 5 � � �
Total Mortgage servicing rights and related
derivatives (350) (177) (84) 95 195 393
Other assets 1 � � � � (1)
Total mortgage assets (363) (183) (87) 95 194 384
Total vehicle assets 5 3 1 (1) (3) (5)
Interest rate contracts (1) � � � 1 2
Total liabilities (25) (13) (6) 6 12 24
Total, net $  (384) $  (193) $  (92) $  100 $  204 $  405
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of PHH Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PHH Corporation and subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of December 31, 2011
and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2011.  Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in Items 8 and 15.  These financial statements and
financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company�s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PHH Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Also, in our opinion,
such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company�s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Philadelphia, PA
February 28, 2012
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PHH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Revenues
Mortgage fees $ 295 $ 291 $ 275
Fleet management fees 173 157 150
Net fee income 468 448 425
Fleet lease income 1,400 1,370 1,441
Gain on mortgage loans, net 567 635 610
Mortgage interest income 114 110 89
Mortgage interest expense (202) (183) (147)
Mortgage net finance expense (88) (73) (58)
Loan servicing income 456 415 431
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights (733) (427) (280)
Net derivative loss related to mortgage servicing rights (3) � �
Valuation adjustments related to mortgage servicing rights, net (736) (427) (280)
Net loan servicing (loss) income (280) (12) 151
Other income 147 70 37
Net revenues 2,214 2,438 2,606

Expenses
Salaries and related expenses 507 497 482
Occupancy and other office expenses 59 60 59
Depreciation on operating leases 1,223 1,224 1,267
Fleet interest expense 79 91 89
Other depreciation and amortization 25 22 26
Other operating expenses 523 429 403
Total expenses 2,416 2,323 2,326

(Loss) income before income taxes (202) 115 280
Income tax (benefit) expense (100) 39 107

Net (loss) income (102) 76 173
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 25 28 20

Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation $ (127) $ 48 $ 153

Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH
Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.87 $ 2.80

Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH
Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.86 $ 2.77

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except share data)

December 31,
2011 2010

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 414 $ 195
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (including $226 and $254 of
available-for-sale securities at fair value) 574 531
Mortgage loans held for sale 2,658 4,329
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2 and $4 700 573
Net investment in fleet leases 3,515 3,492
Mortgage servicing rights 1,209 1,442
Property, plant and equipment, net 64 46
Goodwill 25 25
Other assets 618 637
Total assets (1) $ 9,777 $ 11,270

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 504 $ 521
Debt 6,914 8,085
Deferred taxes 626 728
Other liabilities 272 358
Total liabilities (1) 8,316 9,692

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14) � �

EQUITY
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,090,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding � �
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 273,910,000 shares authorized;
56,361,155 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011;
55,699,218 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2010 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 1,082 1,069
Retained earnings 338 465
Accumulated other comprehensive income 21 29
Total PHH Corporation stockholders� equity 1,442 1,564
Noncontrolling interest 19 14
Total equity 1,461 1,578
Total liabilities and equity $ 9,777 $ 11,270

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Continued.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS�(Continued)

(In millions)

(1)   The Consolidated Balance Sheets include assets of variable interest entities which can be used only to settle their obligations and liabilities of variable
interest entities which creditors or beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to PHH Corporation and subsidiaries as follows:

December 31,
2011 2010

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 57 $ 47
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 313 241
Mortgage loans held for sale 484 389
Accounts receivable, net 79 64
Net investment in fleet leases 3,390 3,356
Property, plant and equipment, net 1 1
Other assets 66 82
Total assets $ 4,390 $ 4,180

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 36 $ 38
Debt 3,549 3,367
Other liabilities 9 5
Total liabilities $ 3,594 $ 3,410

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(In millions, except share data)

PHH Corporation Stockholders
Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensive

Common Stock Paid-In Retained Income Noncontrolling Total
Shares Amount Capital Earnings (Loss) Interest Equity

Balance at December 31, 2008 54,256,294 $ 1 $ 1,005 $ 263 $ (3) $ 1 $ 1,267

Comprehensive income:
Net income � � � 153 � 20
Currency translation adjustment � � � � 21 �
Change in unfunded pension
liability, net � � � � 1 �
Total comprehensive income � � � 153 22 20 195

Distributions to noncontrolling
interest � � � � � (9) (9)
Proceeds on sale of warrants (Note
10) � � 35 � � � 35
Stock compensation expense � � 13 � � � 13
Stock issued under share-based
payment plans 518,345 � 3 � � � 3

Balance at December 31, 2009 54,774,639 $ 1 $ 1,056 $ 416 $ 19 $ 12 $ 1,504
Adjustments related to the spin-off � � � 1 � � 1

Comprehensive income:
Net income � � � 48 � 28
Currency translation adjustment � � � � 9 �
Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities, net � � � � 1 �
Total comprehensive income � � � 48 10 28 86

Distributions to noncontrolling
interest � � � � � (26) (26)
Purchase of noncontrolling interest � � (1) � � � (1)
Stock compensation expense � � 8 � � � 8
Stock issued under share-based
payment plans 924,579 � 6 � � � 6

Balance at December 31, 2010 55,699,218 $ 1 $ 1,069 $ 465 $ 29 $ 14 $ 1,578

Comprehensive (loss) income:
Net (loss) income � � � (127) � 25
Currency translation adjustment � � � � (5) �
Unrealized gains on
available-for-sale securities, net � � � � 1 �
Change in unfunded pension
liability, net � � � � (4) �
Total comprehensive (loss)
income � � � (127) (8) 25 (110)
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Distributions to noncontrolling
interest � � � � � (20) (20)
Stock compensation expense � � 7 � � � 7
Stock issued under share-based
payment plans 661,937 � 6 � � � 6

Balance at December 31, 2011 56,361,155 $ 1 $ 1,082 $ 338 $ 21 $ 19 $ 1,461

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $ (102) $ 76 $ 173
Adjustments to reconcile Net (loss) income to net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities:
Capitalization of originated mortgage servicing rights (499) (456) (496)
Net unrealized loss on mortgage servicing rights and related derivatives 736 427 280
Vehicle depreciation 1,223 1,224 1,267
Other depreciation and amortization 25 22 26
Origination of mortgage loans held for sale (38,929) (38,140) (29,592)
Proceeds on sale of and payments from mortgage loans held for sale 41,263 35,496 29,930
Net gain on interest rate lock commitments, mortgage loans held for sale
and related derivatives (516) (614) (638)
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (100) 27 123
Other adjustments and changes in other assets and liabilities, net (315) 258 210
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 2,786 (1,680) 1,283

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in vehicles (1,695) (1,463) (1,073)
Proceeds on sale of investment vehicles 407 353 418
Proceeds on sale of mortgage servicing rights � 8 92
Net cash paid on derivatives related to mortgage servicing rights (3) � �
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (25) (17) (11)
Purchases of restricted investments (250) (400) �
Proceeds from sales and maturities of restricted investments 279 148 �
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents (71) 319 18
Other, net 27 12 6
Net cash used in investing activities (1,331) (1,040) (550)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from secured borrowings 63,002 57,760 41,585
Principal payments on secured borrowings (64,284) (54,908) (41,795)
Proceeds from unsecured borrowings 1,304 3,482 2,762
Principal payments on unsecured borrowings (1,205) (3,498) (3,118)
Issuances of common stock 8 10 4
Proceeds on sale of warrants (Note 10) � � 35
Cash paid for purchased options (Note 10) � � (66)
Cash paid for debt issuance costs (35) (51) (54)
Other, net (24) (27) (8)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,234) 2,768 (655)

Effect of changes in exchange rates on Cash and cash equivalents (2) (3) (37)

Net increase in Cash and cash equivalents 219 45 41
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 195 150 109
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 414 $ 195 $ 150

Continued.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS � (Continued)

(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information:
Interest payments $ 204 $ 169 $ 164
Income tax payments (refunds), net 13 (9) (21)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

PHH Corporation and subsidiaries (collectively, �PHH� or the �Company�) is a leading outsource provider of mortgage and fleet management
services operating in the following business segments:

• Mortgage Production � provides mortgage loan origination services and sells mortgage loans.

• Mortgage Servicing � performs servicing activities for originated and purchased loans.

• Fleet Management Services � provides commercial fleet management services.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts and transactions of PHH and its subsidiaries, as well as entities in which the
Company directly or indirectly has a controlling interest and variable interest entities of which the Company is the primary beneficiary. PHH
Home Loans, LLC and its subsidiaries are consolidated within the Consolidated Financial Statements, and Realogy Corporation�s ownership
interest is presented as a noncontrolling interest.  Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated from the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

On March 31, 2011, the Company sold 50.1% of the equity interests in its appraisal services business, Speedy Title and Appraisal Review
Services, (�STARS�) to CoreLogic, Inc. for a total purchase price of $35 million.  The total purchase price consisted of an initial $20 million cash
payment that was received on March 31, 2011, and three future $5 million installment payments to be received on March 31, 2012, 2014 and
2016.  Upon the occurrence of certain events prior to September 30, 2017, the Company may have the right or obligation to purchase
CoreLogic�s interests.  The Company deconsolidated STARS and retained a 49.9% equity interest, which is accounted for under the equity
method and is recorded within Other assets with an initial fair value of $34 million as of March 31, 2011.  The net assets of STARS were not
significant.  A $68 million gain on the sale of the 50.1% equity interest was recorded within Other income, which consisted of the net present
value of the purchase price paid by CoreLogic plus the initial fair value of the remaining equity method investment in STARS.  Subsequent to
March 31, 2011, the Company participates in the appraisal services business through its 49.9% ownership interest in STARS, and is entitled to
its proportionate share of STARS� earnings.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which is commonly
referred to as GAAP, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. These estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, those related to the valuation of mortgage servicing rights, mortgage
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loans held for sale, other financial instruments and goodwill, the estimation of liabilities for mortgage loan repurchases and indemnifications and
reinsurance losses, and the determination of certain income tax assets and liabilities and associated valuation allowances. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Unless otherwise noted and except for share and per share data, dollar amounts presented within these Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements are in millions.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill. In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued new accounting guidance on performing tests of
goodwill impairment, Accounting Standards Update (�ASU�) No. 2011-08, �Testing Goodwill for Impairment�.  This update amends the current
guidance on testing goodwill for impairment. Under the revised guidance, entities testing goodwill for impairment have the option of performing
a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the reporting unit. If entities determine, on the basis of qualitative factors, that the
fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, the two-step impairment test would be required. This update
does not change how goodwill is calculated or assigned to reporting units, nor does it revise the requirement to test goodwill annually for
impairment. In addition, the update does not amend the requirement to test goodwill for impairment between annual tests if events or
circumstances warrant; however, it does revise the examples of events and circumstances that an entity should consider. The amendments are
effective
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. 
The Company elected to early adopt this update, and it did not have an impact on the Company�s financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on performing tests of goodwill impairment, ASU No. 2010-28, �When to Perform
Step 2 of the Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Amounts�.  This new accounting guidance requires
that entities perform a two-step test when evaluating goodwill impairment by first assessing whether the carrying value of the reporting unit
exceeds the fair value (Step 1) and, if it does, perform additional procedures to determine if goodwill has been impaired (Step 2).  This guidance
require entities performing the goodwill impairment test to perform Step 2 of the test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts
if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists based on qualitative considerations.  The Company adopted the updates to goodwill
impairment guidance effective January 1, 2011.  The adoption did not have an impact on the Company�s financial statements.

Receivables.  In April 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-02, �A Creditor�s Determination of Whether a Restructuring Is a Troubled Debt
Restructuring�.  This new guidance requires a creditor performing an evaluation of whether a restructuring constitutes a troubled debt
restructuring, to separately conclude that both (i) the restructuring constitutes a concession and (ii) the debtor is experiencing financial
difficulties.  This standard clarifies the guidance on a creditor�s evaluation of whether it has granted a concession as well as the guidance on a
creditor�s evaluation of whether a debtor is experiencing financial difficulties.  The update also requires entities to disclose additional quantitative
activity regarding troubled debt restructurings of finance receivables that occurred during the period, as well as additional information regarding
troubled debt restructurings that occurred within the previous twelve months and for which there was a payment default during the current
period. The Company adopted the new accounting guidance effective July 1, 2011, and applied it retrospectively to January 1, 2011.  The
adoption did not have an impact on the Company�s financial statements.

In July 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-20, �Disclosures about the Credit Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit
Losses� an update to ASC 310. This update enhances the disclosure requirements of ASC 310 regarding the credit quality of financing
receivables and the allowance for credit losses and requires entities to provide a greater level of disaggregated information about the credit
quality of financing receivables and the allowance for credit losses. In addition, ASU No. 2010-20 requires disclosure of credit quality
indicators, past due information, and modifications of financing receivables. The disclosure provisions of the updates to ASU 2010-20 for end of
period disclosure requirements were adopted effective December 31, 2010, and the disclosures about activity that occurs during a reporting
period were adopted effective January 1, 2011.  The updated disclosures are included in Note 13, �Credit Risk�.

Business Combinations.  In December 2010, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on business combinations, ASU No. 2010-29,
�Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business Combinations�. This new accounting guidance requires a public entity that
presents comparative financial statements to disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination that
occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only. This new accounting
guidance also expands the supplemental pro forma disclosures for Business Combinations to include a description of the nature and amount of
material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and
earnings.  The Company adopted the new business combination guidance effective January 1, 2011.  The adoption did not have an impact on the
Company�s financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement.  In January 2010, the FASB updated ASC 820, �Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures� to add disclosures for
transfers in and out of level one and level two of the valuation hierarchy and to present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances
and settlements in the reconciliation for assets and liabilities classified within level three of the valuation hierarchy. The updates to this standard
also clarify existing disclosure requirements about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair
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value. The disclosure provisions of the updates to ASC 820 were adopted for transfers in and out of level one and level two, level of
disaggregation and inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value effective January 1, 2010, and the disclosures about the
reconciliation of level three activity were adopted effective January 1, 2011 and all updated disclosures are included in Note 18, �Fair Value
Measurements�.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition. In October 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on revenue recognition, ASU No. 2009-13, �Multiple
Deliverable Arrangements�. This new accounting guidance addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables
(i) contains more than one unit of accounting and (ii) how the arrangement consideration should be measured and allocated to the separate units
of accounting. The Company adopted the updates to revenue recognition guidance effective January 1, 2011.  The adoption did not have an
impact on the Company�s financial statements.

Transfers of Financial Assets. In June 2009, the FASB updated ASC 860, �Transfers and Servicing� to eliminate the concept of a qualifying
special-purpose entity, modify the criteria for applying sale accounting to transfers of financial assets or portions of financial assets, differentiate
between the initial measurement of an interest held in connection with the transfer of an entire financial asset recognized as a sale and
participating interests recognized as a sale and remove the provision allowing classification of interests received in a guaranteed mortgage
securitization transaction that does not qualify as a sale as available-for-sale or trading securities. The updates to ASC 860 clarify (i) that an
entity must consider all arrangements or agreements made contemporaneously or in contemplation of a transfer, (ii) the isolation analysis related
to the transferor and its consolidated subsidiaries and (iii) the principle of effective control over the transferred financial asset. The updates also
enhance financial statement disclosures. Revised recognition and measurement provisions are to be applied to transfers occurring on or after the
effective date and the disclosure provisions are to be applied to transfers that occurred both before and after the effective date. The updates to
this standard were adopted effective January 1, 2010. Except for the elimination of qualifying special-purpose entities addressed in the updates
to ASC 810, �Consolidation� below, the adoption of the updates to ASC 860 did not impact the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. In June 2009, the FASB updated Consolidation guidance in ASC 810 to modify certain
characteristics that identify a variable interest entity (�VIE�), revise the criteria for determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE, add an additional
reconsideration event to determining whether an entity is a VIE, eliminating troubled debt restructurings as an excluded reconsideration event
and enhance disclosures regarding involvement with a VIE. Additionally, with the elimination of the concept of qualifying special-purpose
entities (�QSPEs�) in the updates to ASC 860, entities previously considered QSPEs are now within the scope of ASC 810. Entities required to
consolidate or deconsolidate a VIE will recognize a cumulative effect in retained earnings for any difference in the carrying amount of the
interest recognized. The Company adopted the updates to ASC 810 effective January 1, 2010. As a result of the adoption of updates to ASC 810,
assets of consolidated VIEs that can be used only to settle the obligations of the VIE and liabilities of consolidated VIEs for which creditors or
beneficial interest holders do not have recourse to the general credit of the Company are presented separately on the face of the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. As a result of the updates to ASC 860 eliminating the concept of QSPEs, the Company was required to consolidate a mortgage
loan securitization trust that previously met the QSPE scope exception. Upon consolidation, the fair value option of measuring the assets and
liabilities of the mortgage loan securitization trust at fair value was elected under ASC 825, �Financial Instruments.� See Note 18, �Fair Value
Measurements� for the transition adjustment related to the adoption of the updates to ASC 810 and ASC 860, which had no impact on Retained
earnings, and Note 19, �Variable Interest Entities� for further discussion.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.  In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, �Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities�.  This
update requires disclosure of both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the statement of financial
position or subject to an agreement similar to a master netting arrangement. This includes derivatives, sale and repurchase agreements, reverse
sale and repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and lending arrangements. The new accounting guidance is effective beginning
January 1, 2013, and should be applied retrospectively.  This update will enhance the disclosure requirements for offsetting assets and liabilities
but will not impact the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comprehensive Income.  In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, �Presentation of Comprehensive Income�.  Subsequently in
December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, �Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of
Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05�. The updates to comprehensive income
guidance require all nonowner changes in stockholders� equity be presented either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or
two separate but consecutive statements.  In the two-statement approach, the first statement should present total net income and its components
followed consecutively by a second statement that should present total other comprehensive income, the components of other comprehensive
income, and the total of comprehensive income.  The new accounting guidance is effective beginning January 1, 2012, and should be applied
retrospectively.  The adoption of these updates will impact the presentation and disclosure of the Company�s financial statements but will not
impact its results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Fair Value Measurement.  In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, �Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards�.  This update to fair value measurement guidance
addresses changes to concepts regarding performing fair value measurements including: (i) the application of the highest and best use and
valuation premise; (ii) the valuation of an instrument classified in the reporting entity�s shareholders� equity; (iii) the valuation of financial
instruments that are managed within a portfolio; and (iv) the application of premiums and discounts.  This update also enhances disclosure
requirements about fair value measurements, including providing information regarding Level 3 measurements such as quantitative information
about unobservable inputs, further discussion of the valuation processes used and assumption sensitivity analysis.  The new accounting guidance
is effective beginning January 1, 2012, and should be applied prospectively.  The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this update will
have a material impact on its financial statements.

Transfers and Servicing.  In April 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-03, �Reconsideration of Effective Control for Repurchase Agreements�. 
This update to transfers and servicing guidance removes from the assessment of effective control the criterion relating to the transferor�s ability to
repurchase or redeem financial assets on substantially the agreed terms, even in the event of default by the transferee.  This update also
eliminates the requirement to demonstrate that the transferor possesses adequate collateral to fund substantially all the cost of purchasing
replacement financial assets.  The new accounting guidance is effective beginning January 1, 2012, and should be applied prospectively to
transactions or modifications of existing transactions that occur on or after January 1, 2012.  The adoption of this update will not have an impact
on the Company�s financial statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Mortgage Production. Mortgage production includes the origination and sale of residential mortgage loans. Mortgage loans are originated
through various channels, including relationships with financial institutions, real estate brokerage firms, and corporate clients. The Company
also purchases mortgage loans originated by third parties.  Mortgage fees consist of fee income earned on all loan originations, including loans
closed to be sold and fee-based closings. Fee income consists of amounts earned related to application and underwriting fees, fees on cancelled
loans and amounts earned from financial institutions related to brokered loan fees and origination assistance fees resulting from private-label
mortgage outsourcing activities. Fees associated with the origination and acquisition of mortgage loans are recognized as earned.

Gain on mortgage loans, net includes the realized and unrealized gains and losses on Mortgage loans held for sale, as well as the changes in fair
value of all loan-related derivatives, including interest rate lock commitments and freestanding loan-related derivatives.
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Originated mortgage loans are principally sold directly to government-sponsored entities and other investors. Each type of mortgage loan
transfer is evaluated for sales treatment through a review that includes both an accounting and a legal analysis to determine whether or not the
transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor. To the extent the transfer of assets qualifies as a sale, the asset is derecognized and the
gain or loss is recorded on the sale date. In the event the transfer of assets does not qualify as a sale, the transfer would be treated as a secured
borrowing.
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Loans are placed on non-accrual status when any portion of the principal or interest is 90 days past due or earlier if factors indicate that the
ultimate collectability of the principal or interest is not probable. Interest received from loans on non-accrual status is recorded as income when
collected. Loans return to accrual status when the principal and interest become current and it is probable that the amounts are fully collectible.

Mortgage Servicing. Mortgage servicing involves the servicing of residential mortgage loans on behalf of the investor. Loan servicing income
represents recurring servicing and other ancillary fees earned for servicing mortgage loans owned by investors as well as net reinsurance income
or loss resulting from mortgage reinsurance contracts. Servicing fees received for servicing mortgage loans owned by investors are based on a
stipulated percentage of the outstanding monthly principal balance on such loans, or the difference between the weighted-average yield received
on the mortgage loans and the amount paid to the investor, less guaranty fees, and interest on curtailments. Loan servicing income is receivable
only out of interest collected from mortgagors and is recorded as income when collected. Late charges and other miscellaneous fees collected
from mortgagors are also recorded as income when collected. Costs associated with loan servicing are charged to expense as incurred.

Fleet Management and Leasing.  Fleet management services are provided to corporate clients and government agencies and include
management and leasing of vehicles and other fee-based services for clients� vehicle fleets. Vehicles are leased primarily to corporate fleet users
under open-end operating and direct financing lease arrangements where the client bears substantially all of the vehicle�s residual value risk. The
lease term under the open-end lease agreements provides for a minimum lease term of 12 months and after the minimum term, the leases may be
continued at the lessees� election for successive monthly renewals. In limited circumstances, vehicles are leased under closed-end leases where
the Company bears all of the vehicle�s residual value risk. Gains or losses on the sales of vehicles under closed-end leases are recorded in Other
income in the period of sale.

Lease revenues for operating leases, which contain a depreciation component, an interest component and a management fee component, are
recognized over the lease term of the vehicle, which encompasses the minimum lease term and the month-to-month renewals. Lease revenues for
direct financing leases contain an interest component and a management fee component. The interest component is recognized using the
effective interest method over the lease term of the vehicle, which encompasses the minimum lease term and the month-to-month renewals. 
Direct finance leases are placed on non-accrual status when it is determined that the value of past due lease receivables will not be recoverable.

The interest component of lease revenue is determined in accordance with the pricing supplement to the respective lease agreement.  The interest
component of lease revenue is generally calculated on a variable-rate basis that fluctuates in accordance with changes in the variable-rate index;
however, in certain circumstances, the lease may contain a fixed rate that would remain constant for the life of the lease. The depreciation
component of lease revenue is based on the straight-line depreciation of the vehicle over its expected lease term. The management fee
component of lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

Revenue for other fleet management services is recognized as earned when such services are provided to the lessee. These services include fuel
cards, accident management services and maintenance services, and revenue for these services is based on a negotiated percentage of the
purchase price for the underlying products or services provided by certain third-party suppliers and is recognized when the service is provided
by the supplier.

An allowance for uncollectible receivables is recorded when it becomes probable, based on the age of outstanding receivables, that the
receivables will not be collected.  For clients that file for bankruptcy protection, pre-petition balances are fully reserved and post-petition
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balances are reserved if the leases are rejected from the bankruptcy petition or if the client enters into liquidation.

Certain truck and equipment leases are originated with the intention of syndicating to banks and other financial institutions. When operating
leases are sold, the underlying assets are transferred and any rights to the leases and their future leasing revenues are assigned to the banks or
financial institutions. Upon the transfer and assignment of the rights associated with the operating leases, the proceeds from the sale are recorded
as revenue in Fleet lease income and an expense for the undepreciated cost of the asset sold is recognized in Other operating expenses. Upon the
sale or transfer of rights to direct financing leases, the net gain or loss is recorded in Other income. Under certain
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of these sales agreements, a portion of residual risk in connection with the fair value of the asset at lease termination is retained and a liability is
recorded for the retention of this risk.

INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to the income tax laws of the various jurisdictions in which it operates, including U.S. federal, state, local and Canadian
jurisdictions.  A consolidated federal income tax return is filed.  Depending upon the jurisdiction, the Company files consolidated or separate
legal entity state and Canadian income tax returns.

Income tax expense consists of two components: current and deferred.  Current tax expense represents the amount of taxes currently payable to
or receivable from a taxing authority plus amounts accrued for income tax contingencies (including tax, penalty and interest). Deferred tax
expense generally represents the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability balance during the year plus any change in the valuation
allowance.  Income tax expense excludes the tax effects related to adjustments recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as
well as the tax effects of cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles.  Interest and penalties related to income tax contingencies are
recognized in Income tax expense (benefit) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Deferred income taxes are determined using the balance sheet method.  This method requires that income taxes reflect the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities for book and tax purposes.  Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are regularly reviewed to assess their potential realization and to establish a valuation allowance when it is �more likely than not� that
some portion will not be realized.  Generally, any change in the valuation allowance is recorded in income tax expense; however, if the valuation
allowance is adjusted in connection with an acquisition, such adjustment is recorded concurrently through Goodwill rather than Income tax
expense (benefit).

The Company must presume that an uncertain income tax position will be examined by the relevant taxing authority and must determine
whether it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination based on its technical merit. An uncertain income tax
position that meets the �more likely than not� recognition threshold is then measured to determine the amount of the benefit to recognize in the
financial statements.  A liability is recorded for the amount of the unrecognized income tax benefit included in: (i) previously filed income tax
returns and (ii) financial results expected to be included in income tax returns to be filed for periods through the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less are included in Cash and cash equivalents.

RESTRICTED CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS
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Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments primarily relates to (i) amounts specifically designated to purchase assets, repay debt and/or
provide over-collateralization within asset-backed debt arrangements, (ii) funds collected and held for pending mortgage closings and
(iii) accounts held in trust for the capital fund requirements of and potential claims related to mortgage reinsurance activities.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less.  Restricted investments are
recorded at fair value and classified as available-for-sale.

MORTGAGE LOANS HELD FOR SALE

Mortgage loans held for sale represent loans originated or purchased and held until sold to secondary market investors. Mortgage loans are
typically warehoused for a period after origination or purchase before sale into the secondary market.  The servicing rights and servicing
obligations of mortgage loans are generally retained upon sale in the secondary market.

Mortgage loans held for sale are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
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NET INVESTMENT IN FLEET LEASES

Net investment in fleet leases includes vehicles under operating leases and direct financing lease receivables, as well as vehicles that are in
transit awaiting delivery to clients or sale.  From time to time, certain direct financing lease funding structures are utilized, which include the
receipt of substantial lease prepayments for lease originations by the Canadian fleet management operations.

Vehicles under operating leases are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of the vehicles is recorded net of incentives
and allowances from vehicle manufacturers. Leased vehicles are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a term that generally ranges from 3 to 6
years.  Direct finance leases are stated at the net present value of future expected cash flows.

An allowance for uncollectible lease receivables is recorded as a reduction to Net investment in fleet leases when it is determined that the past
due lease receivables will not be recoverable upon sale of the underlying asset.  The exposure to losses typically arises from clients that file for
bankruptcy protection, as pre-petition receivables are fully reserved and post-petition balances are reserved if the leases are rejected from the
bankruptcy petition or if the client enters into liquidation.  Chargeoffs are recorded after the leased vehicles have been disposed and final
shortfall has been determined.

MORTGAGE SERVICING RIGHTS

A mortgage servicing right is the right to receive a portion of the interest coupon and fees collected from the mortgagor for performing specified
mortgage servicing activities, which consist of collecting loan payments, remitting principal and interest payments to investors, managing
escrow funds for the payment of mortgage-related expenses such as taxes and insurance and otherwise administering the mortgage loan
servicing portfolio. Mortgage servicing rights are created through either the direct purchase of servicing from a third party or through the sale of
an originated mortgage loan. Residential mortgage loans represent the single class of servicing rights which are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis.

The initial value of capitalized mortgage servicing rights is recorded as an addition to Mortgage servicing rights in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and within Gain on mortgage loans, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Valuation changes adjust the carrying amount of
Mortgage servicing rights in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are recognized in Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment (including leasehold improvements) are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation, recorded as a component of Other depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, is computed
utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Amortization of leasehold improvements, also recorded as
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a component of Other depreciation and amortization, is computed utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated benefit period of the
related assets or the lease term, if shorter. Estimated useful lives are 30 years for buildings and range from 3 to 5 years for capitalized software,
lesser of the remaining lease term or 20 years for leasehold improvements and 3 to 10 years for furniture, fixtures and equipment.

Internal software development costs are capitalized during the application development stage. The costs capitalized relate to external direct costs
of materials and services and employee costs related to the time spent on the project during the capitalization period. Capitalized software is
evaluated for impairment annually or when changing circumstances indicate that amounts capitalized may be impaired. Impaired items are
written down to their estimated fair values at the date of evaluation.
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GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying value of Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets is assessed for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances
indicate impairment may have occurred.

Goodwill is assessed for impairment by first performing a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the reporting unit.  The
Company�s reporting units are the Fleet Management Services segment, PHH Home Loans, the Mortgage Production segment excluding PHH
Home Loans and the Mortgage Servicing segment. If it is determined, based upon qualitative factors, that it is more likely than not that the fair
value is less than the carrying amount, the fair value of the reporting units will be estimated and compared to the carrying amounts. The fair
value of reporting units may be determined using an income approach, discounted cash flows or a combination of an income approach and a
market approach, wherein comparative market multiples are used.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are comprised entirely of trademarks for all periods presented. Fair value of trademarks is determined by
discounting cash flows determined from applying a hypothetical royalty rate to projected revenues associated with these trademarks.

Intangible assets subject to amortization are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Amortizable intangible assets included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist primarily of customer lists that
are amortized on a straight-line basis over a 20-year period.

Costs to renew or extend recognized intangible assets are expensed as the costs are incurred.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Derivative instruments are used as part of the overall strategy to manage exposure to market risks primarily associated with fluctuations in
interest rates. As a matter of policy, derivatives are not used for speculative purposes. Derivative instruments that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis are included in Other assets or Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

FAIR VALUE

A three-level valuation hierarchy is used to classify inputs into the measurement of assets and liabilities at fair value. The valuation hierarchy is
based upon the relative reliability and availability to market participants of inputs for the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement
date. When the valuation technique used in determining fair value of an asset or liability utilizes inputs from different levels of the hierarchy, the
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level within which the measurement in its entirety is categorized is based upon the lowest level input that is significant to the measurement in its
entirety. The valuation hierarchy consists of the following levels:

Level One. Level One inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities which the Company has the ability
to access at the measurement date.

Level Two. Level Two inputs are observable for that asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and include quoted prices for similar assets
and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, observable inputs for the
asset or liability other than quoted prices and inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other
means. If the asset or liability has a specified contractual term, the inputs must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or
liability.

Level Three. Level Three inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that reflect the Company�s assessment of the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk, and are developed based on the best information
available.

Fair value is based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted prices are not available, fair value is estimated based upon other
observable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used when observable inputs are not available and are based upon judgments and assumptions, which
are the Company�s assessment of the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, which may include assumptions
about risk,
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counterparty credit quality, the Company�s creditworthiness and liquidity and are developed based on the best information available.

When a determination is made to classify an asset or liability within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy, the determination is based upon the
significance of the unobservable factors to the overall fair value measurement of the asset or liability. The fair value of assets and liabilities
classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy also typically includes observable factors. In the event that certain inputs to the valuation
of assets and liabilities are actively quoted and can be validated to external sources, the realized and unrealized gain or loss recorded includes
changes in fair value determined by observable factors.

Changes in the availability of observable inputs may result in the reclassification of certain assets or liabilities. Such reclassifications are
reported as transfers in or out of Level Three as of the beginning of the period that the change occurs.

MORTGAGE LOAN REPURCHASE AND INDEMNIFICATION LIABILITY

The Company has exposure to potential mortgage loan repurchase and indemnifications in its capacity as a loan originator and servicer. The
estimation of the liability for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations considers both (i) specific, non-performing
loans currently in foreclosure where the Company believes it will be required to indemnify the investor for any losses and (ii) an estimate of
probable future repurchase or indemnification obligations.  The liability related to specific non-performing loans is based on a loan-level
analysis considering the current collateral value, estimated sales proceeds and selling cost. The liability related to probable future repurchase or
indemnification obligations is estimated based upon recent and historical repurchase and indemnification trends segregated by year of
origination.  An estimated loss severity, based on current loss rates for similar loans, is then applied to probable repurchases and
indemnifications to estimate the liability for loan repurchases and indemnifications.  The liability for mortgage loan repurchases and
indemnifications is included within Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

LIABILITY FOR REINSURANCE LOSSES

The liability for reinsurance losses is determined based upon based upon the incurred and incurred but not reported losses provided by the
primary mortgage insurance companies for loans subject to reinsurance.  Additionally, an actuarial analysis of loans subject to mortgage
reinsurance is used to supplement our premium deficiency analysis, which considers current and projected delinquency rates, home prices and
the credit characteristics of the underlying loans including credit score and loan-to-value ratios.  This actuarial analysis is updated on a quarterly
basis and projects the future reinsurance losses over the term of the reinsurance contract as well as the estimated incurred and incurred but not
reported losses as of the end of each reporting period.  The liability for reinsurance losses is included within Other liabilities in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

CUSTODIAL ACCOUNTS
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The Company has a fiduciary responsibility for servicing accounts related to customer escrow funds and custodial funds due to investors
aggregating approximately $3.0 billion as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. These funds are maintained in segregated bank accounts, and these
amounts are not included in the assets and liabilities presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company receives certain benefits from
these deposits, as allowable under federal and state laws and regulations. Income earned on these escrow accounts is recorded in Mortgage
interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are evaluated through the date of filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  See Note 23, �Subsequent Events� for a
discussion of significant subsequent events.
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2.  Earnings Per Share

Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation was computed by dividing Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation
during the period by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH
Corporation was computed by dividing Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation by the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding, assuming all potentially dilutive common shares were issued.

The weighted-average computation of the dilutive effect of potentially issuable shares of Common stock under the treasury stock method
excludes the effect of securities that would be anti-dilutive, including: (i) outstanding stock-based compensation awards representing shares from
restricted stock units and stock options; (ii) stock assumed to be issued related to the 2012 Convertible notes; (iii) purchased options and sold
warrants related to the assumed conversion of the 2012 Convertible notes; and (iv) sold warrants related to the Company�s 2014 Convertible
notes.  The computation also excludes the assumed issuance of the 2014 Convertible notes and related purchased options as they are currently to
be settled only in cash. The Convertible Notes are further discussed in Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements.� Shares associated with
anti-dilutive securities are outlined in the table below.

The following table summarizes the calculations of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation for the periods
indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions, except share and per share data)
Net (loss) income attributable to PHH Corporation $ (127) $ 48 $ 153
Weighted-average common shares outstanding � basic 56,349,478 55,480,388 54,625,178
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Share-based payment arrangements(1) � 736,876 590,256
Weighted-average common shares outstanding � diluted 56,349,478 56,217,264 55,215,434

Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.87 $ 2.80

Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to PHH Corporation $ (2.26) $ 0.86 $ 2.77

Antidilutive securities excluded from the computation of dilutive
shares:
Outstanding stock-based compensation awards 2,383,390 372,136 2,784,271
Assumed conversion of 2012 Convertible notes 444,935 276,576 �

(1) Represents incremental shares from restricted stock units and stock options.
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3.  Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The following table summarizes Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investment balances:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 348 $ 277
Restricted investments, at fair value 226 254
Total $ 574 $ 531

The restricted cash related to our reinsurance activities was invested in certain debt securities as permitted under its reinsurance agreements. 
These restricted investments are classified as available-for-sale securities and remain in trust for capital fund requirements and potential
reinsurance losses, as summarized in the following tables:

December 31, 2011
Weighted-
average

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

remaining
maturity

(In millions)
Corporate securities $ 53 $ 54 $ 1 $ � 28 mos.
Agency securities (1) 118 119 1 � 19 mos.
Government securities 52 53 1 � 34 mos.
Total $ 223 $ 226 $ 3 $ � 25 mos.

December 31, 2010
Weighted-
average

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

remaining
maturity

(In millions)
Corporate securities $ 71 $ 71 $ � $ � 30 mos.
Agency securities (1) 106 107 1 � 26 mos.
Government securities 76 76 � � 28 mos.
Total $ 253 $ 254 $ 1 $ � 27 mos.

(1)               Represents bonds and notes issued by various agencies including, but not limited to, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Federal Home Loan Banks.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, realized gains of $1 million from the sale of available-for-sale securities were recorded and realized
losses were not significant.  During the year ended December 31, 2010, the amount of realized gains and losses from the sale of
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available-for-sale securities was not significant.
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4.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets are recorded within the Fleet Management Services segment and consisted of:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

(In millions)
Amortized intangible assets:
Other Assets:
Customer lists $ 40 $ 23 $ 17 $ 40 $ 20 $ 20
Other 13 12 1 13 12 1
Total $ 53 $ 35 $ 18 $ 53 $ 32 $ 21

Unamortized intangible assets:
Goodwill $ 25 $ 25
Other Assets:
Trademarks 15 15
Total $ 40 $ 40

Amortization expense included within Other depreciation and amortization relating to intangible assets was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Customer lists $ 3 $ 2 $ 2
Other � � �
Total $ 3 $ 2 $ 2

Based on the amortizable intangible assets as of December 31, 2011, estimated future amortization expense is expected to approximate $2
million for each of the next five fiscal years.
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5.  Transfers and Servicing of Mortgage Loans

Residential mortgage loans are sold through one of the following methods: (i) sales to or pursuant to programs sponsored by Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae, or (ii) sales to private investors. During the year ended December 31, 2011, 92% of mortgage loan sales were to
the GSEs and the remaining 8% were sold to private investors.

The Company may have continuing involvement in mortgage loans sold by retaining one or more of the following: servicing rights and servicing
obligations, recourse obligations and/or beneficial interests (such as interest-only strips, principal-only strips, or subordinated interests).  The
Company is exposed to interest rate risks through its continuing involvement with mortgage loans sold, including mortgage servicing and other
retained interests, as the value of those instruments fluctuate as changes in interest rates impact borrower prepayments on the underlying
mortgage loans.  See Note 6, �Derivatives� for additional information regarding interest rate risk.  During the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company did not retain any interests from sales or securitizations other than mortgage servicing rights.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, Mortgage servicing rights (�MSRs�) were retained on approximately 94% of mortgage loans sold.
Conforming conventional loans serviced are sold or securitized through Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac programs. Such servicing is generally
performed on a non-recourse basis, whereby foreclosure losses are the responsibility of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. Government loans serviced
are generally sold or securitized through Ginnie Mae programs and are either insured against loss by the Federal Housing Administration or
partially guaranteed against loss by the Department of Veteran Affairs. Additionally, non-conforming mortgage loans are serviced for various
private investors on a non-recourse basis.

A majority of mortgage loans are sold on a non-recourse basis; however, representations and warranties have been made that are customary for
loan sale transactions, including eligibility characteristics of the mortgage loans and underwriting responsibilities, in connection with the sales of
these assets. See Note 13, �Credit Risk� for a further description of representation and warranty obligations.

The total servicing portfolio consists of loans associated with capitalized mortgage servicing rights, loans held for sale, and the servicing
portfolio associated with loans subserviced for others.  The total servicing portfolio, including loans subserviced for others was $182.4 billion,
$166.1 billion, and $151.5 billion as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Mortgage servicing rights recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets are related to the capitalized servicing portfolio, and are created either through the direct purchase of servicing
from a third party, or through the sale of an originated loan.

The activity in the loan servicing portfolio associated with capitalized servicing rights consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 134,753 $ 127,700 $ 129,078
Additions 37,503 32,940 27,739
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Payoffs, sales and curtailments (25,168) (25,887) (29,117)
Balance, end of period $ 147,088 $ 134,753 $ 127,700
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The activity in capitalized MSRs consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 1,442 $ 1,413 $ 1,282
Additions 500 456 497
Changes in fair value due to:
Realization of expected cash flows (223) (261) (391)
Changes in market inputs or assumptions used in the valuation
model (510) (166) 111
Sales � � (86)
Balance, end of period $ 1,209 $ 1,442 $ 1,413

The value of MSRs is driven by the net positive cash flows associated with servicing activities.  These cash flows include contractually specified
servicing fees, late fees and other ancillary servicing revenue and were recorded within Loan servicing income as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Net service fee revenue $ 440 $ 401 $ 422
Late fees 20 20 18
Other ancillary servicing revenue (1) 41 45 40

(1)           Includes a $3 million gain on the sale of excess servicing during the year ended December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the MSRs had a weighted-average life of approximately 4.2 years and 5.7 years, respectively. 
Approximately 67% and 70% of the MSRs associated with the loan servicing portfolio were restricted from sale without prior approval from
private-label clients or investors as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  See Note 18, �Fair Value Measurements� for additional
information regarding the valuation of MSRs.

The following table sets forth information regarding cash flows relating to loan sales in which the Company has continuing involvement:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Proceeds from new loan sales or securitizations $ 38,308 $ 33,756 $ 28,000
Servicing fees received (1) 440 401 422
Other cash flows on retained interests (2) � 1 4
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Purchases of delinquent or foreclosed loans (3) (46) (61) (65)
Servicing advances (4) (1,678) (1,455) (1,085)
Repayment of servicing advances 1,616 1,398 1,050

(1)           Excludes late fees and other ancillary servicing revenue.

(2)           Represents cash flows received on retained interests other than servicing fees.

(3)           Excludes indemnification payments to investors and insurers of the related mortgage loans.

(4)           As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, outstanding servicing advance receivables of $247 million and $187 million, respectively, were included in
Accounts receivable, net.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, pre-tax gains of $605 million, $666 million and $582 million, respectively, related
to the sale or securitization of residential mortgage loans were recognized in Gain on mortgage loans, net in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.
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6.  Derivatives

The Company did not have any derivative instruments designated as hedging instruments as of and during the years ended December 31, 2011
or 2010. The following is a description of the risk management policies related to market and foreign exchange risks.

MARKET RISK

The Company�s principal market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically long-term U.S. Treasury and mortgage interest rates due to their
impact on mortgage-related assets and commitments. The Company also has exposure to LIBOR due to its impact on variable-rate borrowings,
other interest rate sensitive liabilities and net investment in variable-rate lease assets. From time to time various financial instruments are used to
manage and reduce this risk, including swap contracts, forward delivery commitments on mortgage-backed securities or whole loans, futures and
options contracts.

Interest Rate Lock Commitments.  Interest rate lock commitments (�IRLCs�) represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan
applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan from a third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is set prior to funding. The loan
commitment binds the Company (subject to the loan approval process) to fund the loan at the specified rate, regardless of whether interest rates
have changed between the commitment date and the loan funding date. As such, outstanding IRLCs are subject to interest rate risk and related
price risk during the period from the date of the commitment through the loan funding date or expiration date. The loan commitments generally
range between 30 and 90 days; however, the borrower is not obligated to obtain the loan. The Company is subject to fallout risk related to
IRLCs, which is realized if approved borrowers choose not to close on the loans within the terms of the IRLCs. Forward delivery commitments
on mortgage-backed securities or whole loans and options on forward contracts are used to manage the interest rate and price risk. Historical
commitment-to-closing ratios are considered to estimate the quantity of mortgage loans that will fund within the terms of the IRLCs.  See Note
18, �Fair Value Measurements� for further discussion regarding IRLCs.

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale.  The Company is subject to interest rate and price risk on Mortgage loans held for sale from the loan funding
date until the date the loan is sold into the secondary market. Forward delivery commitments on mortgage-backed securities or whole loans are
primarily used to fix the forward sales price that will be realized upon the sale of mortgage loans into the secondary market. Forward delivery
commitments may not be available for all products that the Company originates; therefore, a combination of derivative instruments, including
forward delivery commitments for similar products, may be used to minimize the interest rate and price risk. See Note 18, �Fair Value
Measurements� for additional information regarding mortgage loans and related forward delivery commitments.

Mortgage Servicing Rights.  Mortgage servicing rights (�MSRs�) are subject to substantial interest rate risk as the mortgage notes underlying the
servicing rights permit the borrowers to prepay the loans. Therefore, the value of MSRs generally tends to diminish in periods of declining
interest rates (as prepayments increase) and increase in periods of rising interest rates (as prepayments decrease). Although the level of interest
rates is a key driver of prepayment activity, there are other factors that influence prepayments, including home prices, underwriting standards
and product characteristics. The amount and composition of derivatives used, if any, will depend on the exposure to loss of value on the MSRs,
the expected cost of the derivatives, expected liquidity needs, and the expected increase to earnings generated by the origination of new loans
resulting from the decline in interest rates. This serves as an economic hedge of the MSRs, which provides a benefit when increased borrower
refinancing activity results in higher production volumes, which would partially offset declines in the value of the MSRs thereby reducing the
need to use derivatives. The benefit of this economic hedge depends on the decline in interest rates required to create an incentive for borrowers
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to refinance their mortgage loans and lower their interest rates; however, this benefit may not be realized under certain circumstances regardless
of the change in interest rates.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company executed certain derivative transactions to serve as an economic hedge of a portion of
the interest rate risk associated with its MSRs.  The Company entered into these derivative transactions to ensure that there would be sufficient
capacity under its debt facilities to fund higher origination volumes given the declining mortgage rates, while maintaining compliance with the
leverage covenants in its debt agreements.  The increase in mortgage asset-backed debt, coupled with the decline in value of MSRs resulting
from lower mortgage rates, could have the effect of increasing the indebtedness to tangible net worth ratio in the short term.

As of and during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, there were no derivatives used to offset potential adverse changes in the fair
value of MSRs that could affect reported earnings.

Debt.  The Company may use various hedging strategies and derivative financial instruments to create a desired mix of fixed- and variable-rate
assets and liabilities. Derivative instruments used in these hedging strategies may include swaps and interest rate caps. To more closely match
the characteristics of the related assets, including the net investment in variable-rate lease assets, either variable-rate debt or fixed-rate debt is
issued, which may be swapped to variable LIBOR-based rates.

In conjunction with the issuance of the 2014 Convertible notes the conversion option (derivative liability) and purchased options (derivative
asset) were issued, each of which are indexed to the Company�s Common stock.  The conversion option and purchased options are recognized in
Other liabilities and Other assets, respectively, with the offsetting changes in their fair value recognized in Mortgage interest expense. The
conversion option allowed the Company to reduce the coupon rate of the 2014 Convertible notes and the associated semiannual interest
payments. The purchased options and sold warrants are intended to reduce the potential dilution to the Company�s Common stock upon
conversion of the 2014 Convertible notes and generally have the effect of increasing the conversion price from $25.805 to $34.74 per share.  See
Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements� for further discussion regarding the 2014 Convertible notes and the related conversion option,
purchased options and sold warrants.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Company has exposure to foreign exchange risk through: (i) our investment in our Canadian operations; (ii) any U.S. dollar borrowing
arrangements we may enter into to fund Canadian dollar denominated leases and operations; and (iii) any foreign exchange forward contracts
that we may enter into.  Currency swap agreements are used to manage such risk.
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DERIVATIVE ACTIVITY

Derivative instruments are recorded in Other assets and Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The following table presents the
balances of outstanding derivative instruments on a gross basis and the application of counterparty and collateral netting:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Asset Liability Notional Asset Liability Notional

(In millions)
Interest rate lock commitments $ 184 $ � $ 7,095 $ 42 $ 46 $ 7,328
Forward delivery commitments: (1)
Not subject to master netting arrangements 6 27 3,897 61 14 4,703
Subject to master netting arrangements(2) 32 100 11,893 248 68 16,438
Option contracts 2 � 845 � � �
MSR-related agreements 6 � 1,100 � � �
Interest rate contracts 1 1 477 4 � 653
Convertible note-related agreements(3) 4 4 � 54 54 �
Foreign exchange contracts � � � � � 30
Total, gross 235 132 409 182
Netting adjustments:
Offsetting receivables/payables (32) (32) (241) (241)
Cash collateral paid/received (6) (54) � 190
Total, net $ 197 $ 46 $ 168 $ 131

(1)           The net notional amount of Forward delivery commitments was $8.3 billion and $10.3 billion as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

(2)           Represents derivative instruments that are executed with the same counterparties and subject to master netting arrangements.  Forward delivery
commitments subject to netting shown above were presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Asset Liability Asset Liability

Derivatives Derivatives Derivatives Derivatives
(In millions)

Other Assets $ � $ � $ 10 $ 3
Other Liabilities 32 100 238 65
Total $ 32 $ 100 $ 248 $ 68

(3)           The notional amount of derivative instruments related to the issuance of the 2014 Convertible notes was 9.6881 million shares of the Company�s
Common stock as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.
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As of December 31, 2011, cash collateral posted for derivative agreements that did not qualify for net presentation was $13 million, which was
included in Other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  As of December 31, 2010, there were no amounts posted as collateral that did not
qualify for net presentation.
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The following table summarizes the gains (losses) recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for derivative instruments:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Gain on mortgage loans, net:
IRLCs $ 1,353 $ 1,212 $ 667
Forward delivery commitments (402) (132) (30)
Options contracts (25) (26) �
Net derivative loss related to mortgage servicing rights:
MSR-related agreements (3) � �
Fleet interest expense:
Interest rate contracts (3) (6) (3)
Foreign exchange contracts (7) (11) (41)

7.  Vehicle Leasing Activities

The following tables summarize the components of Net investment in fleet leases:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)

Operating Leases:
Vehicles under open-end operating leases $ 8,058 $ 7,601
Vehicles under closed-end operating leases 176 208
Vehicles under operating leases 8,234 7,809
Less: Accumulated depreciation (5,097) (4,671)
Net investment in operating leases 3,137 3,138

Direct Financing Leases:
Lease payments receivable 81 106
Less: Unearned income (1) (3)
Net investment in direct financing leases 80 103

Off-Lease Vehicles:
Vehicles not yet subject to a lease 290 248
Vehicles held for sale 16 7
Less: Accumulated depreciation (8) (4)
Net investment in off-lease vehicles 298 251
Total $ 3,515 $ 3,492

December 31,
2011 2010
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Vehicles under open-end leases 97% 97%
Vehicles under closed-end leases 3% 3%
Vehicles under variable-rate leases 82% 80%
Vehicles under fixed-rate leases 18% 20%
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The following table presents the future minimum lease payments to be received as of December 31, 2011.  Amounts presented include the
monthly payments for the unexpired portion of the minimum lease term, which is 12 months under open-end lease agreements, and the residual
value guaranteed by the lessee during the minimum lease term.  The interest component included in future minimum payments is based on the
rate in effect at the inception of each lease.

Future Minimum Lease Payments

Operating
Leases

Direct
Financing
Leases

(In millions)
2012   $ 1,009 $ 41
2013  32 6
2014  21 3
2015  12 2
2016  5 1
Thereafter 3 4
Total $ 1,082 $ 57

Contingent rentals include amounts for excess mileage, wear and tear, early termination fees, and, for variable-rate leases, changes in interest
rates subsequent to lease inception. Contingent rentals are recorded in Fleet lease income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Contingent rentals from operating leases were $1 million and $(9) million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2009, respectively, and
were not significant for the year ended December 31, 2010.  Contingent rentals from direct financing leases were not significant.

8.  Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Furniture, fixtures and equipment $ 92 $ 76
Capitalized software 138 118
Building and leasehold improvements 14 10

244 204
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (180) (158)
Total $ 64 $ 46

9.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of:
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December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Accounts payable $ 304 $ 278
Repurchase eligible loans(1) 81 134
Accrued payroll and benefits 56 42
Accrued interest 37 37
Other 26 30
Total $ 504 $ 521

(1)            Repurchase eligible loans represent sold mortgage loans that are held by investors where the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to
repurchase the loan.  Corresponding assets related to the loan balances of $81 million and $134 million were recorded within Other assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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10.  Debt and Borrowing Arrangements

The following table summarizes the components of Debt:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Wt. Avg- Wt. Avg-
Interest Interest

Balance Rate(1) Balance Rate(1)
(In millions)

Term notes, in amortization $ 1,196 2.1% $ 1,167 2.2%
Term notes, in revolving period 374 1.6% 989 2.0%
Variable-funding notes 1,516 1.4% 871 1.9%
Other 32 5.1% 39 5.1%
Vehicle Management Asset-Backed Debt 3,118 3,066
Committed warehouse facilities 2,313 2.0% 2,419 2.1%
Uncommitted warehouse facilities 44 1.2% 1,290 1.2%
Servicing advance facility 79 2.8% 68 2.8%
Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt 2,436 3,777
Term notes 879 8.2% 782 8.1%
Convertible notes 460 4.0% 430 4.0%
Credit facilities � �% � �%
Unsecured Debt 1,339 1,212
Mortgage loan securitization debt certificates, at
fair value(2) 21 7.0% 30 7.0%
Total $ 6,914 $ 8,085

(1)   Represents the weighted-average stated interest rate of the facilities as of the respective date, which may be different from the effective rate due to the
amortization of premiums, discounts and issuance costs.  Facilities are variable-rate, except for the Term notes, Convertible notes, and Mortgage loan
securitization debt certificates which are fixed-rate.

(2)   Cash flows of securitized mortgage loans support payment of the debt certificates and creditors of the securitization trust do not have recourse to the
Company.

The fair value of debt was $6.8 billion and $8.2 billion as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Assets held as collateral that are not available to pay the Company�s general obligations as of December 31, 2011 consisted of:

Vehicle Mortgage
Asset-Backed Asset-Backed
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Debt Debt
(In millions)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 311 $ 7
Accounts receivable 58 92
Mortgage loans held for sale (unpaid principal balance) � 2,423
Net investment in fleet leases 3,404 �
Total $ 3,773 $ 2,522
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The following table provides the contractual debt maturities as of December 31, 2011:

Mortgage Loan
Vehicle Mortgage Securitization

Asset-Backed Asset-Backed Unsecured Debt
Debt(1) Debt Debt Certificates Total

(In millions)
Within one year $ 995 $ 2,436 $ 250 $ 6 $ 3,687
Between one and two years 841 � 421 5 1,267
Between two and three years 731 � 250 5 986
Between three and four years 414 � � 4 418
Between four and five years 56 � 450 3 509
Thereafter 85 � 8 � 93

$ 3,122 $ 2,436 $ 1,379 $ 23 $ 6,960

(1)            Maturities of vehicle management asset-backed notes, a portion of which are amortizing in accordance with their terms, represent estimated payments
based on the expected cash inflows related to the securitized vehicle leases and related assets.

On December 21, 2011, Standard & Poors downgraded the Company�s long term debt rating from BB+ to BB-.  The Company completed the
year ended December 31, 2011 with $414 million of Cash and cash equivalents and $509 million of unsecured capacity under the Amended
Credit Facility.  The Company has developed a liquidity and capital plan to address unsecured debt maturities subsequent to 2012 with a focus
on efforts to ensure that its operations are cash flow positive and may seek to dispose of certain assets or seek alternative funding sources.

In January 2012, the Company completed an offering of $250 million of Convertible Senior Notes due 2017. See Note 23, �Subsequent Events�
for further discussion.

Capacity under all borrowing agreements is dependent upon maintaining compliance with, or obtaining waivers of, the terms, conditions and
covenants of the respective agreements.  Available capacity under asset-backed funding arrangements may be further limited by asset eligibility
requirements.  Available capacity under committed asset-backed debt arrangements and unsecured credit facilities as of December 31, 2011
consisted of:

Utilized Available
Capacity Capacity Capacity

(In millions)
Vehicle Management Asset-Backed Debt:
Term notes, in revolving period $ 374 $ 374 $ �
Variable-funding notes 2,084 1,516 568

Mortgage Asset-Backed Debt:
Committed warehouse facilities 3,615 2,313 1,302
Servicing advance facility 120 79 41
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Unsecured Credit facilities(1) 530 16 514

(1) Utilized capacity reflects $16 million of letters of credit issued under the Amended Credit Facility, which are not included in Debt in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

Capacity for Mortgage asset-backed debt shown above excludes $2.2 billion not drawn under uncommitted facilities.
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VEHICLE MANAGEMENT ASSET-BACKED DEBT

Vehicle management asset-backed debt primarily represents variable-rate debt issued by a wholly owned subsidiary, Chesapeake Funding LLC
(�Chesapeake�), to support the acquisition of vehicles by the Fleet Management Services segment�s U.S. leasing operations and debt issued by the
consolidated special purpose trust, Fleet Leasing Receivables Trust (�FLRT�), the Canadian special purpose trust, used to finance leases originated
by the Canadian fleet operation.  Vehicle-management asset-backed debt structures may provide creditors an interest in: (i) a pool of master
leases or a pool of specific leases; (ii) the related vehicles under lease; and/or (iii) the related receivables billed to clients for the monthly
collection of lease payments and ancillary service revenues (such as fuel and maintenance services).  This interest is generally granted to a
specific series of note holders either on a pro-rata basis relative to their share of the total outstanding debt issued through the facility or through a
direct interest in a specific pool of leases.  Repayment of the obligations of the facilities is non-recourse to the Company and is sourced from the
monthly cash flow generated by lease payments and ancillary service payments made under the terms of the related master lease contracts.

Vehicle management asset-backed debt includes Term notes, which provide a fixed funding amount at the time of issuance, or Variable-funding
notes under which the committed capacity may be drawn upon as needed during a commitment period, which is typically 364 days in duration. 
The available capacity under Variable-funding notes may be used to fund future amortization of other Vehicle management asset-backed debt or
to fund growth in Net investment in fleet leases during the term of the commitment.

As with Variable-funding notes, certain Term notes may contain provisions that allow the outstanding debt to revolve for specified periods of
time.  During these revolving periods, the monthly collection of lease payments allocable to each outstanding series is available to fund the
acquisition of vehicles and/or equipment to be leased to customers.  Upon expiration of the revolving period, the repayment of principal
commences, and the monthly allocated lease payments are applied to the notes until they are paid in full.  During the amortization period, the
monthly collection of lease payments allocable to the series in amortization must be used to make repayments on each series of the notes through
the earlier of (i) 125 months following the commencement of the amortization period, or (ii) when the respective series of notes are paid in full.
The repayments are allocated to each series of amortizing notes based upon the outstanding balance of those notes relative to all other
outstanding series notes issued by Chesapeake as of the commencement of the amortization period. The amount of monthly lease collections
allocated to the repayment of principal on amortizing notes is calculated after the payment of interest, servicing fees, administrator fees and
servicer advance reimbursements.

Term Notes

On September 28, 2011, Chesapeake issued $335 million of Series 2011-2 Term notes.  Proceeds from the notes were used to pay down a
portion of the Series 2010-1 Notes and Series 2011-1 Notes.

As of December 31, 2011, Term notes outstanding that are revolving in accordance with their terms are Chesapeake Series 2010-1 Class B Note,
2011-1 Class B Note and 2011-2. Expiration dates of the revolving periods range from June 27, 2012 to September 19, 2013.
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As of December 31, 2011, Term notes outstanding that are amortizing in accordance with their terms are Chesapeake Series 2009-1, 2009-2,
2009-3 and 2009-4 and the FLRT Series 2010-1.  Final repayment dates of Term notes in their amortization period range from September 7,
2012 to July 7, 2014.

Variable-funding Notes

On December 28, 2011, the 2010-1 and 2011-1 Series Indenture Supplements of Chesapeake were amended to increase the aggregate available
commitments.
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On June 29, 2011, the 2010-1 Series Indenture Supplement of Chesapeake was amended and the Series 2011-1 Indenture Supplement was
entered into.  Proceeds of the Series 2011-1 Variable-funding notes were used to pay down the outstanding balance of the Series 2010-1
Variable-funding notes.  In addition, the maturity of the Series 2010-1 Variable-funding notes was extended and the total committed funding
available to Chesapeake was increased.

As a result of these amendments, pursuant to the 2010-1 and 2011-1 Supplements, Chesapeake may issue up to $875 million and $625 million,
respectively, in aggregate principal under commitments provided by a syndicate of lenders.  As of December 31, 2011, commitments under the
2010-1 and 2011-1 Supplements are scheduled to expire on June 27, 2012 and June 27, 2013, respectively, but are renewable subject to
agreement by the parties. If the scheduled expiration date of the commitments is not extended, the notes� amortization period will begin.

On August 31, 2011, the Series 2010-2 Indenture Supplement of the FLRT facility was amended to extend the maturity date to August 30, 2012. 
The facility was also amended on November 1, 2011 to increase capacity to $584 million.  The commitments of this facility are renewable
subject to agreement by the parties.

MORTGAGE ASSET-BACKED DEBT

Mortgage asset-backed debt primarily represents variable-rate warehouse facilities to support the origination of mortgage loans, which provide
creditors a collateralized interest in specific mortgage loans that meet the eligibility requirements under the terms of the facility.  The source of
repayment of the facilities is typically from the sale or securitization of the underlying loans into the secondary mortgage market.  These
facilities are typically 364-day facilities, and as of December 31, 2011, the range of maturity dates for committed facilities is April 1, 2012 to
December 15, 2012.

Committed Facilities

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has outstanding committed mortgage warehouse facilities with the Royal Bank of Scotland, plc, Credit
Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital LLC, Ally Bank, Bank of America, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC and Fannie Mae.

On December 15, 2011, the $1.0 billion committed facility with Fannie Mae was renewed.  As discussed below under �Covenants�, due to the
December 21, 2011 S&P ratings action, as of December 31, 2011Fannie Mae may terminate the committed facility or waive its termination
rights.  The Company is currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various agreements with Fannie Mae, including the
committed early funding facility agreement.

On December 13, 2011, facilities with $500 million of aggregate commitments were entered into with Barclays Bank PLC, including a PHH
Mortgage warehouse facility, a PHH Mortgage gestation facility and a PHH Home loans warehouse facility, pursuant to master repurchase
agreements and certain related agreements.
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On December 1, 2011, the variable-rate committed facility of PHH Home Loans with Ally Bank was amended to reduce the committed capacity
to $75 million and to extend the maturity date from December 1, 2011 to April 1, 2012, provided that no new loans can be funded after March 1,
2012.

On October 13, 2011, the committed mortgage repurchase facility with Bank of America was amended to renew $400 million of committed
borrowing capacity through October 11, 2012, with the option to renew the agreement for an additional year.

On August 12, 2011, committed 364-day variable-rate mortgage repurchase facilities were entered into with Wells Fargo by PHH Mortgage and
PHH Home Loans, with $300 million and $150 million capacity, respectively, pursuant to master repurchase agreements and certain related
agreements.

On June 24, 2011, the variable-rate committed mortgage repurchase facility with the Royal Bank of Scotland, plc was amended to reduce the
committed capacity to $500 million and was extended to June 22, 2012, among other provisions.
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On May 25, 2011, the committed variable-rate mortgage repurchase facilities with Credit Suisse First Boston Mortgage Capital, LLC were
extended to May 23, 2012, with the option to renew the agreements for an additional year.

Uncommitted Facilities

The Company has outstanding uncommitted mortgage repurchase facilities with Fannie Mae and RBS.

The Fannie Mae uncommitted facility has total capacity of up to $3.0 billion as of December 31, 2011, less certain amounts outstanding under
the $1.0 billion committed Fannie Mae facility.

On June 24, 2011, the Company entered into a $200 million variable-rate uncommitted facility with the Royal Bank of Scotland, plc.

Servicing Advance Facility

The Company has a committed facility with Fannie Mae that provides for the early reimbursement of certain servicing advances made on behalf
of Fannie Mae.

UNSECURED DEBT

Term Notes

As of December 31, 2011, Term Notes include $450 million of 9.25% Senior notes due March 1, 2016 that have been registered under a public
registration statement and $421 million of Medium-term notes due in 2013.

On December 12, 2011, the Company issued $100 million aggregate principal amount of 9.25% Senior Notes due 2016 under an existing
indenture, dated as of August 11, 2010.  Following the reopening, the aggregate principal amount of the 9.25% Senior Notes due 2016 was $450
million.  The Company intends to use the net proceeds of this offering, along with cash on hand, to repay at or prior to maturity the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of our 4.0% Convertible Notes due April 15, 2012.
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The effective interest rate of the term notes, which includes the accretion of the discount and issuance costs, was 8.5% as of December 31, 2011. 
The range of maturity dates for the term notes is March 1, 2013 to April 15, 2018.

Credit Facilities

Credit facilities primarily represents an Amended and Restated Competitive Advance and Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 6,
2006, among PHH, a group of lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent.  The facility has $525 million of commitments
which are scheduled to expire on February 29, 2012.  Provided certain conditions are met, the Company may extend the commitments for an
additional year at its request.  These conditions include, among others, the payment of extension fees and the maintenance minimum liquidity of
at least $250 million as of February 29, 2012.  Minimum liquidity, as defined in the agreement, is the sum of unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents plus available capacity under the facility less the unpaid balance of the 2012 Convertible Notes.

Convertible Notes

Convertible notes include a private offering of $250 million of 4% notes with a maturity date of September 1, 2014 and a private offering of
4.0% notes with a maturity date of April 15, 2012. The convertible notes are senior unsecured obligations, which rank equally with all existing
and future senior debt of the Company.  The 2014 and 2012 convertible notes are governed by indentures dated September 29, 2009 and April 2,
2008, respectively, with The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee. The Company may not redeem the 2014 or 2012 notes prior to their
maturity.
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The effective interest rate of the convertible notes, which includes the accretion of the original issue discount and issuance costs is 12.7%.  As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the carrying amount of the notes is net of an unamortized discount of $40 million and $70 million, respectively,
which is being accreted to Mortgage interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Conversion:

Holders of the 2012 convertible notes may convert all or any portion of the notes at any time through the third business day immediately
preceding their maturity on April 15, 2012.

Holders of the 2014 convertible notes may convert all or any portion of the notes at any time (i) in the event of the occurrence of certain
triggering events related to the price of the notes, the price of the Company�s Common stock or certain corporate events or (ii) from, and
including, March 1, 2014 through the third business day immediately preceding their maturity on September 1, 2014.

The conversion prices of the 2014 and 2012 notes are $25.805 per share and $20.50 per share, respectively.

Subject to certain exceptions, the holders of the convertible notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of their notes upon a
fundamental change, as defined under the respective indentures. The Company will generally be required to increase the conversion rate for
holders that elect to convert their notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change, or upon the occurrence of certain events.

The 2014 notes currently may only be settled in cash upon conversion because the Company has not sought shareholder approval, as required by
the New York Stock Exchange, to allow for the to the issuance of shares of common stock or securities convertible into common stock that will,
or will upon issuance, equal or exceed 20% of outstanding shares.

Upon conversion of the 2012 notes, the Company will deliver the principal portion in cash and, if the conversion price calculated for each
business day over a period of 60 consecutive business days exceeds the principal amount (the �Conversion Premium�), shares of its Common stock
or cash for the Conversion Premium.

There have been no conversions of the 2014 and 2012 notes since issuance.

Related derivatives:
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The Company entered into hedging transactions in connection with the issuance of the notes, including transactions with respect to the
Conversion Premium (or, purchased options) and warrant transactions whereby the Company sold warrants to acquire, subject to certain
anti-dilution adjustments, shares of its Common stock. The purchased options and sold warrants are intended to reduce the potential dilution of
the Company�s Common stock upon conversion.  The initial conversion rates were 38.7522 shares and 48.7805 shares per $1,000 principal
amount for the 2014 and 2012 notes, respectively.  Based on the initial conversion rates, these transactions generally have the effect of
increasing the conversion price for the 2014 and 2012 notes to $34.74 per share and $27.20 per share, respectively.

The Company determined that at the time of issuance that the conversion option and purchased options related to the 2014 notes did not meet all
the criteria for equity classification based on the settlement terms of the notes.  The conversion option and purchased options are recognized as
derivatives and are presented in Other liabilities and Other assets, respectively, with the offsetting changes in their fair value recognized in
Mortgage interest expense in the Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 6, �Derivatives� in these Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information regarding the conversion option and purchased options.

The sold warrants associated with the 2014 notes and the sold warrants, conversion option and purchased options associated with the 2012 notes
meet all the criteria for equity classification because they are indexed to the Company�s stock.  As such, these derivative instruments are recorded
within Additional paid-in capital and have no impact on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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DEBT COVENANTS

Certain debt arrangements require the maintenance of certain financial ratios and contain affirmative and negative covenants, including, but not
limited to, material adverse change, liquidity maintenance, restrictions on indebtedness of the Company and its material subsidiaries, mergers,
liens, liquidations, sale and leaseback transactions, and restrictions on certain types of payments, including dividends and stock repurchases.

Among other covenants, the Amended Credit Facility, the RBS repurchase facility, the CSFB Mortgage repurchase facility, the Bank of America
repurchase facility, the Wells Fargo Mortgage repurchase facility and the Barclays repurchase facility require that the Company maintain:  (i) on
the last day of each fiscal quarter, net worth of $1.0 billion and (ii) at any time, a ratio of indebtedness to tangible net worth no greater than
6.5:1.  These facilities contain the most restrictive net worth and debt to equity covenants; however, certain other outstanding debt agreements
contain debt to equity covenants that are less restrictive.

The Amended Credit Facility, the Bank of America repurchase facility, the RBS repurchase facility and the CSFB Mortgage repurchase facility
require the Company to maintain a minimum of $1.0 billion in committed mortgage repurchase or warehouse facilities, with no more than $500
million of gestation facilities included towards the minimum, excluding the uncommitted facilities provided by Fannie Mae.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants related to its debt arrangements.

Under certain of the Company�s financing, servicing, hedging and related agreements and instruments, the lenders or trustees have the right to
notify the Company if they believe it has breached a covenant under the operative documents and may declare an event of default. If one or more
notices of default were to be given, the Company believes it would have various periods in which to cure certain of such events of default. If it
does not cure the events of default or obtain necessary waivers within the required time periods, the maturity of some of its debt could be
accelerated and its ability to incur additional indebtedness could be restricted. In addition, an event of default or acceleration under certain
agreements and instruments would trigger cross-default provisions under certain of its other agreements and instruments.

Fannie Mae has the right to terminate its $1.0 billion committed early funding agreement as long as our credit rating by S&P remains below BB
or if our credit rating by Moodys falls below Ba2.  As a result of the downgrade of the Company�s senior unsecured debt rating to BB-, as of
December 31, 2011 Fannie Mae has the option to terminate the Committed Funding Letter Agreement, or make changes to our agreements
including, without limitation, (i) a reduction or elimination of the use of certain Fannie Mae products or programs, (ii) the modification of
certain legal agreements, and (iii) the exercise of certain contractual rights by Fannie Mae intended to reduce Fannie Mae�s counterparty risk
exposure. The Company is currently in discussions concerning proposed amendments to our various agreements with Fannie Mae, including the
committed early funding facility agreement.

None of our other committed financing facilities are subject to termination, acceleration, modification, collateral posting, or adverse price
changes solely as a result of the downgrade of our unsecured debt ratings by S&P.
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See Note 15, �Stock-Related Matters� in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding restrictions on the Company�s
ability to pay dividends pursuant to certain debt arrangements.

11.  Pension and Other Post Employment Benefits

Defined Contribution Savings Plans. The Company and PHH Home Loans sponsor separate defined contribution savings plans that provide
certain eligible employees an opportunity to accumulate funds for retirement. Contributions of participating employees are matched on the basis
specified by these plans. The cost for contributions to these plans was $9 million during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively and was included in Salaries and related expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan and Other Employee Benefit Plan.  The Company sponsors a domestic non-contributory defined benefit pension
plan, which covers certain eligible employees. Benefits are based on an
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employee�s years of credited service and a percentage of final average compensation, or as otherwise described by the plan. In addition, a post
employment benefits plan is maintained for retiree health and welfare for certain eligible employees. Both the defined benefit pension plan and
the other post employment benefits plan are frozen plans, wherein the plans only accrue additional benefits for a very limited number of
employees.

The measurement date for all benefit obligations and plan assets is December 31.  The following table provides benefit obligations, plan assets
and the funded status of the plans:

Pension Benefits
Other Post Employment

Benefits
2011 2010 2011 2010

(In millions)
Benefit obligation � December 31 $ 44 $ 38 $ 2 $ 2
Fair value of plan assets � December 31 31 31 � �
Unfunded status (13) (7) (2) (2)
Unfunded pension liability recorded in
Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss):
Net loss 19 13 � �
Net amount recognized � December 31 $ 6 $ 6 $ (2) $ (2)

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, both the net periodic benefit cost related to the defined benefit pension plan and the
expense recorded for the other post employment benefits plan were not significant.

As of December 31, 2011, future expected benefit payments to be made from the defined benefit pension plan�s assets, which reflect expected
future service, are $2 million in the years ending December 31, 2012 through 2016 and $12 million for the five years ending December 31, 2021.

The Company�s policy is to contribute amounts to the defined benefit pension plan sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements as set forth
in employee benefit and tax laws and additional amounts at the discretion of the Company. Contributions of $1 million were made to the plan
during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. An estimate of the expected contributions to the defined benefit pension plan is $1 million
for the year ending December 31, 2012.

12.  Income Taxes

The following table summarizes Income tax (benefit) expense:
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Current:
Federal $ � $ � $ (28)
State (1) 7 1
Foreign 10 5 11
Income tax contingencies:
Change in income tax contingencies (6) � �
Interest and penalties (1) 1 �
Total current income tax expense (benefit) 2 13 (16)
Deferred:
Federal (90) 27 109
State (9) � 20
Foreign (3) (1) (6)
Total deferred income tax (benefit) expense (102) 26 123
Income tax (benefit) expense $ (100) $ 39 $ 107
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The following table summarizes (Loss) income before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Domestic operations $ (220) $ 102 $ 265
Foreign operations 18 13 15
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (202) $ 115 $ 280

No provision has been made for federal deferred taxes on approximately $112 million of accumulated and undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 since it is the present intention of management to reinvest the undistributed earnings indefinitely in those
foreign operations. The determination of the amount of unrecognized federal deferred tax liability for unremitted earnings is not practicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent the basis differences between assets and liabilities measured for financial reporting versus for
income-tax returns purposes.  The following table summarizes the significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities, provisions for losses and deferred income $ 77 $ 69
Federal loss carryforwards and credits 451 271
State loss carryforwards and credits 58 55
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward 23 24
Other 8 10
Gross deferred tax assets 617 429
Valuation allowance (44) (54)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 573 375
Deferred tax liabilities:
Originated mortgage servicing rights 306 397
Purchased mortgage servicing rights 84 66
Depreciation and amortization 809 640
Deferred tax liabilities 1,199 1,103
Net deferred tax liability $ 626 $ 728

The deferred tax assets valuation allowance primarily relates to state loss carryforwards. The valuation allowance will be reduced when and if it
is determined that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The federal and state loss
carryforwards will expire from 2014 to 2032 and from 2012 to 2032, respectively.

The total alternative minimum tax credit is not subject to limitations, and primarily consists of credits of $23 million existing at the time of the
spin-off from Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.) that are available to the Company. As of December 31, 2011, it has
been determined that all alternative minimum tax carryforwards can be utilized in future years; therefore, no reserve or valuation allowance has
been recorded.
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The deferred tax liabilities represent the future tax liability generated upon reversal of the differences between the tax basis and book basis of
certain of our assets.  Deferred liabilities related to our mortgage servicing rights arise due to differences in the timing of income recognition for
accounting and tax purposes for certain servicing rights, which generate an associated basis difference between book and tax. Deferred liabilities
related to depreciation and amortization result primarily from differences in the net book value and tax basis of vehicles in our fleet business due
to differences in depreciation methods.
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Total income taxes differ from the amount that would be computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (202) $ 115 $ 280
Statutory federal income tax rate (35)% (35)% (35)%
Income taxes computed at statutory federal rate $ (71) $ 40 $ 98
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefits (12) 6 15
Liabilities for income tax contingencies (7) 1 �
Changes in state apportionment factors (5) � 2
Changes in valuation allowance 6 2 1
Noncontrolling interest (10) (11) (9)
Other (1) 1 �
Income tax (benefit) expense $ (100) $ 39 $ 107
Effective tax rate (49.7)% 33.7% 38.3%

Significant items that impact the effective tax rate include:

State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefits. The impact to the effective tax rate from state and local income taxes primarily
represents the volatility in the pre-tax income or loss, as well as the mix of income and loss from the operations by entity and state income tax
jurisdiction.  The effective state tax rate has stayed consistent for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.  For the year ended
December 31, 2011 the effective state rate increased, primarily due to the increase in Loss before income taxes from our mortgage business, as
well as the mix of income and loss from the operations by entity within individual state income tax jurisdictions.

Liabilities for income tax contingencies. The impact to the effective tax rate from changes in the liabilities for income tax contingencies
primarily represents decreases in liabilities associated with the resolution and settlement with various taxing authorities, partially offset by
increases in liabilities associated with new uncertain tax positions taken during the period. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the IRS
concluded its examination and review of the Company�s taxable years 2006 through 2009.

Changes in valuation allowance.  The impact to the effective tax rate from changes in valuation allowance primarily represents state loss
carryforwards generated during the year for which the Company believes it is more likely than not that the amounts will not be realized.  For the
year ended December 31, 2011, the change was primarily driven by tax losses generated by our mortgage business.

Noncontrolling interest.  The impact to the effective tax rate from noncontrolling interest represents Realogy Corporation�s portion of income
taxes related to the income or loss attributable to PHH Home Loans.  PHH Home Loans� has elected to report as a partnership for federal and
state income tax purposes, therefore, the tax expense is reported by the individual LLC members.  Accordingly, the Company�s Income tax
(benefit) expense includes only its proportionate share of the income tax related to the income or loss generated by PHH Home Loans.
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The activity in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits (including the liability for potential payment of interest and penalties) consisted
of:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 9 $ 8 $ 8
Activity related to tax positions taken during the current year 2 1 �
Activity related to tax positions taken during prior years (8) � �
Balance, end of period $ 3 $ 9 $ 8
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As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the effective income tax rate would be positively impacted by the favorable resolution of income tax
contingencies or reductions in valuation allowances of approximately $3 million, $11 million, and $10 million, respectively.

The amount of unrecognized income tax benefits may change in the next twelve months primarily due to activity in future reporting periods
related to income tax positions taken during prior years. This change may be material; however, the impact of these unrecognized income tax
benefits cannot be projected on the results of operations or financial position for future reporting periods due to the volatility of market and other
factors.

The estimated liability for the potential payment of interest and penalties included in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits was not
significant as of December 31, 2011 and was $1 million as of December 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2011 foreign and state income tax filings were subject to examination for periods including and subsequent to 2003,
dependent upon jurisdiction.

During the first quarter of 2011, the Company was notified by the Department of Treasury that the audit and review of the Company and its
subsidiaries tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2006 through 2008 have concluded, indicating a no-change examination for those
periods.  The Company was also notified in the first quarter of 2011 that the Internal Revenue Service has reviewed and accepted as filed the
return for the tax year ended December 31, 2009.  The Company and its subsidiaries remain subject to examination by the IRS for the tax years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2011.

13.   Credit Risk

The Company is subject to the following forms of credit risk:

• Consumer credit risk�through mortgage banking activities as a result of originating and servicing residential mortgage loans

• Commercial credit risk�through fleet management and leasing activities

• Counterparty credit risk�through derivative transactions, sales agreements and various mortgage loan origination and servicing agreements
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is primarily related to advances on mortgage loans serviced, trade accounts receivable from fleet management and leasing
activities and receivables from loan production activities.  The following table summarizes Accounts receivable, net:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Fleet management trade receivables $ 358 $ 312
Mortgage servicing advances 247 186
Other 97 79
Accounts receivable, gross 702 577
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2) (4)
Accounts receivable, net $ 700 $ 573
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Consumer Credit Risk

The Company is not subject to the majority of the risks inherent in maintaining a mortgage loan portfolio because loans are not held for
investment purposes and are generally sold to investors within 30 days of origination.  The majority of mortgage loan sales are on a non-recourse
basis; however, the Company has exposure in certain circumstances in its capacity as a loan originator and servicer to loan repurchases and
indemnifications through representation and warranty provisions.  Additionally, the Company has exposure through its reinsurance agreements
that are inactive and in runoff.

Loan performance is an indicator of the inherent risk associated with our origination and servicing activities.  In limited circumstances, the
Company has exposure to possible losses on loans within the servicing portfolio due to loan repurchases and indemnifications, as further
discussed below.

The following tables summarize certain information regarding the total loan servicing portfolio, which includes loans associated with the
capitalized Mortgage servicing rights as well as loans subserviced for others:     

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Loan Servicing Portfolio Composition:
Owned $ 150,315 $ 140,160
Subserviced 32,072 25,915
Total $ 182,387 $ 166,075
Conventional loans $ 145,885 $ 136,261
Government loans 29,903 23,100
Home equity lines of credit 6,599 6,714
Total $ 182,387 $ 166,075
Weighted-average interest rate 4.6% 4.9%

December 31,
2011 2010

Number of
Loans Unpaid Balance

Number of
Loans Unpaid Balance

Portfolio Delinquency(1)
30 days 2.24% 1.83% 2.36% 2.01%
60 days 0.60% 0.51% 0.67% 0.60%
90 or more days 0.98% 0.95% 1.21% 1.27%
Total 3.82% 3.29% 4.24% 3.88%
Foreclosure/real estate owned(2) 1.83% 1.85% 2.30% 2.37%

(1)   Represents the loan servicing portfolio delinquencies as a percentage of the total number of loans and the total unpaid balance of the portfolio.
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(2)   As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were 15,689 and 18,554 of loans in foreclosure with unpaid principal balance of $2.8 billion and $3.3 billion,
respectively.

116

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

215



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Foreclosure-Related Reserves

Representations and warranties are provided to purchasers and insurers on a significant portion of loans sold and are assumed on purchased
mortgage servicing rights.  In the event of a breach of these representations and warranties, the Company may be required to repurchase a
mortgage loan or indemnify the purchaser, and any loss on the mortgage loan may be borne by the Company. If there is no breach of a
representation and warranty provision, there is no obligation to repurchase the loan or indemnify the investor against loss.  In limited
circumstances, the full risk of loss on loans sold is retained to the extent the liquidation of the underlying collateral is insufficient. In some
instances where the Company has purchased loans from third parties, it may have the ability to recover the loss from the third party.

Foreclosure-related reserves are maintained for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations and on-balance sheet loans
in foreclosure and real estate owned.  A summary of the activity in foreclosure-related reserves is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010
(In millions)

Balance, beginning of period $ 111 $ 86
Realized foreclosure losses (82) (63)
Increase in reserves due to:
Changes in assumptions 80 74
New loan sales 18 14
Balance, end of period $ 127 $ 111

Foreclosure-related reserves consist of the following:

Loan Repurchases and Indemnifications

The maximum exposure to representation and warranty provisions exceeds the amount of loans in the capitalized portfolio of $147.1 billion;
however, the range of total possible losses cannot be estimated because the Company does not service all of the loans for which it has provided
representations or warranties.  As of December 31, 2011, approximately $187 million of loans have been identified in which the Company has
full risk of loss or has identified a breach of representation and warranty provisions; 14% of which were at least 90 days delinquent (calculated
based upon the unpaid principal balance of the loans).

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, liabilities for probable losses related to repurchase and indemnification obligations of $95 million and $74
million, respectively, are included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  In determining our liability, the Company considers
both:  (i) specific non-performing loans that are currently in foreclosure where the Company believes it will be required to indemnify the
investor for any losses and (ii) an estimate of probable future repurchase or indemnification obligations.  The liability related to specific
non-performing loans is based on a loan-level analysis considering the current collateral value, estimated sales proceeds and selling cost. The
liability related to probable future repurchase or indemnification obligations is estimated based upon recent and historical repurchase and
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indemnification trends segregated by year of origination.  An estimated loss severity, based on current loss rates for similar loans, is then applied
to probable repurchases and indemnifications to estimate the liability for loan repurchases and indemnifications.
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Mortgage Loans in Foreclosure and Real Estate Owned

Mortgage loans in foreclosure represent the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans for which foreclosure proceedings have been initiated,
plus recoverable advances made on those loans. These amounts are recorded net of an allowance for probable losses on such mortgage loans and
related advances.

Real estate owned, which are acquired from mortgagors in default, are recorded at the lower of the adjusted carrying amount at the time the
property is acquired or fair value. Fair value is determined based upon the estimated net realizable value of the underlying collateral less the
estimated costs to sell.

The carrying values of the mortgage loans in foreclosure and real estate owned were recorded within Other assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as follows:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Mortgage loans in foreclosure(1) $ 112 $ 128
Allowance for probable losses (19) (22)
Mortgage loans in foreclosure, net $ 93 $ 106
Real estate owned $ 51 $ 54
Adjustment to estimated net realizable value (13) (15)
Real estate owned, net $ 38 $ 39

(1) Includes $62 million and $61 million of advances as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Mortgage Reinsurance

The Company has exposure to consumer credit risk through losses from two contracts with primary mortgage insurance companies that are
inactive and in runoff.  The exposure to losses through these reinsurance contracts is based on mortgage loans pooled by year of origination.

As of December 31, 2011, the contractual reinsurance period for each pool was 10 years and the weighted-average reinsurance period was 4
years.  Loss rates on these pools are determined based on the unpaid principal balance of the underlying loans.  The Company indemnifies the
primary mortgage insurers for losses that fall between a stated minimum and maximum loss rate on each annual pool.  In return for absorbing
this loss exposure, the Company is contractually entitled to a portion of the insurance premium from the primary mortgage insurers.
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The Company is required to hold cash and securities in trust related to this potential obligation, which were $226 million, included in Restricted
cash, cash equivalents and investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2011.  The amount of cash and securities held in
trust is contractually specified in the reinsurance agreements and is based on the original risk assumed under the contracts and the incurred losses
to date.

As of December 31, 2011, $84 million was included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for incurred and incurred but not
reported losses associated with mortgage reinsurance activities (estimated on an undiscounted basis), which includes $7 million of known unpaid
reinsurance losses outstanding.
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A summary of the activity in reinsurance-related reserves is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010
(In millions)

Balance, beginning of period $ 113 $ 108
Realized reinsurance losses (65) (38)
Increase in liability for reinsurance losses 36 43
Balance, end of period $ 84 $ 113

Commercial Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to commercial credit risk for its clients under the vehicle lease and fleet management service agreements.  Such risk is
managed through an evaluation of the financial position and creditworthiness of the client, which is performed on at least an annual basis.  The
lease agreements generally allow the Company to refuse any additional orders upon the occurrence of certain credit events; however, the
obligation remains for all leased vehicle units under contract at that time.  The fleet management service agreements can generally be terminated
upon 30 days written notice.  As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no significant client concentrations related to vehicle leases or fleet
management service agreements.

Vehicle leases are primarily classified as operating leases; however, certain leases are classified as direct financing leases and recorded within
Net investment in fleet leases in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as more fully described below.  During the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, the amount of direct financing leases sold were $63 million and $51 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the status of direct financing leases and related receivables:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Current amount $ 64 $ 85
30-59 days � 4
60-89 days � 3
Greater than 90 days(1) 16 19
Direct financing lease receivables, gross(2) 80 111
Allowance for credit losses � (3)
Direct financing lease receivables, net(3) $ 80 $ 108

(1) Includes $16 million of leases that are still accruing interest as of both December 31, 2011 and 2010.

(2)
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There were no direct financing leases on non-accrual status as of December 31, 2011. Direct financing leases on non-accrual status were $3 million as of
December 31, 2010.

(3) December 31, 2010 includes amounts related to the current billings of direct financing leases, which are recorded within Accounts receivable, net in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The portion of direct financing leases from Net investment in fleet leases is included in the table above based on the most aged monthly lease
billing of each lessee.  Historical credit losses for receivables related to vehicle leasing and fleet management services have not been significant. 
Receivables are charged-off after leased vehicles have been disposed and final shortfall has been determined.
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Counterparty Credit Risk

Counterparty credit risk exposure includes risk of non-performance by counterparties to various agreements and sales transactions. Such risk is
managed by evaluating the financial position and creditworthiness of such counterparties and/or requiring collateral, typically cash, in derivative
and financing transactions. The Company attempts to mitigate counterparty credit risk associated with derivative contracts by monitoring the
amount for which it is at risk with each counterparty to such contracts, requiring collateral posting, typically cash, above established credit
limits, periodically evaluating counterparty creditworthiness and financial position, and where possible, dispersing the risk among multiple
counterparties.

As of December 31, 2011, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk with any individual counterparty or groups of counterparties
with respect to derivative transactions. Concentrations of credit risk associated with receivables are considered minimal due to a diverse client
base.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, approximately 22% and 21% of mortgage loan originations were derived from our relationships with
Realogy and its affiliates, and Merrill Lynch Home Loans, a division of Bank of America, National Association, respectively.

14.  Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Contingencies

The Company is party to various claims and legal proceedings from time to time related to contract disputes and other commercial, employment
and tax matters.

In January 2012, the Company was notified that the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau had opened an investigation to determine whether
the Company�s mortgage insurance premium ceding practices to captive reinsurers comply with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and
other laws enforced by the CFPB. The CFPB requested certain related documents and information for review.  The Company has provided
reinsurance services in exchange for premiums ceded and believe that we have complied with the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and
other laws.  The Company did not provided reinsurance on loans originated after 2009. There can be no assurance whether or not this
investigation will result in the imposition of any penalties and fines against us or our subsidiaries.

In connection with the heightened focus on foreclosure practices across the mortgage industry in 2010 and 2011, the Company has received
inquiries from regulators and attorneys general of certain states as well as from the Committee on Oversight and Government Reform of the U.S.
House of Representatives and the U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee, requesting information regarding foreclosure practices, processes and
procedures, among other things.  Although the Company has not been assessed any material penalties associated with its foreclosure practices
through December 31, 2011, we have been assessed compensatory fees for failing to meet foreclosure timelines outlined in the Agency servicing
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guides.  We expect that the higher level of focus on foreclosure practices will result in higher legal and servicing related costs as well as
potential regulatory fines and penalties.

It is reasonably possible that the Company could experience an increase in foreclosure-related litigation in the future.  However, the amount of
any losses in connection with such matters cannot be reasonably estimated given the inherent uncertainty around the outcome of such matters.
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Tax Contingencies

In connection with the Company�s spinoff from Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.), a Tax Sharing Agreement was
entered into to govern the allocation of liabilities for taxes between Cendant and the Company, for tax years prior to and including the spin-off.
The Company, since it was a subsidiary of Cendant through January 31, 2005, was included in an IRS audit of Cendant for the tax years ended
December 31, 2003 through 2006, and may have been subject to liability to both the IRS, and Cendant, for certain taxes that might have been
assessed pursuant to the audit, as provided under applicable law and as provided in the tax sharing agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the IRS concluded its examination of Cendant�s taxable years 2003 through 2006, and the material
issues related to the Company�s potential obligations to Cendant under the Tax Sharing Agreement have been favorably resolved.  As a result of
the conclusion of the examination, the Company recorded an additional deferred tax asset of $1 million, with a corresponding increase to
Retained earnings.

Lease and Purchase Commitments

The Company is committed to making rental payments under noncancelable operating and capital leases related to various facilities and
equipment.  In addition, during the normal course of business, various commitments are made to purchase goods or services from specific
suppliers, including those related to capital expenditures.

The following table summarizes the Company�s commitments as of December 31, 2011:

Future Minimum Future Minimum
Operating Lease Capital Lease Purchase

Payments Payments Commitments
(In millions)

2012 $ 17 $ 4 $ 177
2013 17 3 10
2014 14 3 7
2015 13 � 1
2016 12 � �
Thereafter 54 � �
Total $ 127 $ 10 $ 195

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, rental expense of $24 million, $24 million, and $21 million, respectively, was
recorded in Occupancy and other office expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Indemnification of Cendant

In connection with our spin-off from Cendant Corporation (now known as Avis Budget Group, Inc.), the Company entered into a separation
agreement with Cendant (the �Separation Agreement�), pursuant to which, the Company has agreed to indemnify Cendant for any losses (other
than losses relating to taxes, indemnification for which is provided in the Amended Tax Sharing Agreement) that any party seeks to impose upon
Cendant or its affiliates that relate to, arise or result from: (i) any of the Company�s liabilities, including, among other things: (a) all liabilities
reflected in the Company�s pro forma balance sheet as of September 30, 2004 or that would be, or should have been, reflected in such balance
sheet, (b) all liabilities relating to the Company�s business whether before or after the date of the spin-off, (c) all liabilities that relate to, or arise
from any performance guaranty of Avis Group Holdings, Inc. in connection with indebtedness issued by Chesapeake Funding LLC (which
changed its name to Chesapeake Finance Holdings LLC effective March 7, 2006), (d) any liabilities relating to the Company�s or its affiliates�
employees and (e) all liabilities that are expressly allocated to the Company or its affiliates, or which are not specifically assumed by Cendant or
any of its affiliates, pursuant to the Separation Agreement or the Amended Tax Sharing Agreement; (ii) any breach by the Company or its
affiliates of the Separation Agreement or the Amended Tax Sharing Agreement and (iii) any liabilities relating to information in the registration
statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on January 18, 2005, the information statement filed by the Company as an exhibit to its Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2005 (the �January 19, 2005 Form 8-K�) or the investor presentation filed as an exhibit to the January 19,
2005 Form 8-K, other than portions thereof provided by Cendant.

There are no specific limitations on the maximum potential amount of future payments to be made under this indemnification, nor is the
Company able to develop an estimate of the maximum potential amount of future payments to be made under this indemnification, if any, as the
triggering events are not subject to predictability.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, numerous agreements are entered into that contain guarantees and indemnities where a third-party is
indemnified for breaches of representations and warranties. Such guarantees or indemnifications are granted under various agreements, including
those governing leases of real estate, access to credit facilities, use of derivatives and issuances of debt or equity securities. The guarantees or
indemnifications issued are for the benefit of the buyers in sale agreements and sellers in purchase agreements, landlords in lease contracts,
financial institutions in credit facility arrangements and derivative contracts and underwriters in debt or equity security issuances.

While some guarantees extend only for the duration of the underlying agreement, many survive the expiration of the term of the agreement or
extend into perpetuity (unless subject to a legal statute of limitations). There are no specific limitations on the maximum potential amount of
future payments that the Company could be required to make under these guarantees, and the maximum potential amount of future payments
cannot be estimated. With respect to certain guarantees, such as indemnifications of landlords against third-party claims, insurance coverage is
maintained that mitigates any potential payments.

Representations and warranties are provided to purchasers and insurers on a significant portion of loans sold and are assumed on purchased
mortgage servicing rights.  See further discussion in Note 13, �Credit Risk�.
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In connection with certain of Mortgage-asset-backed borrowing arrangements, we have entered into agreements to unconditionally and
irrevocably guarantee payment on the obligations of our subsidiaries.

Committed mortgage gestation facilities are a component of the Company�s financing arrangements.  Certain gestation agreements are accounted
for as sale transactions and result in mortgage loans and related debt that are not included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  As of
December 31, 2011, there were $500 million of commitments available under off-balance sheet gestation facilities.
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15.  Stock-Related Matters

Restrictions on Paying Dividends

Many of the Company�s subsidiaries (including certain consolidated partnerships, trusts and other non-corporate entities) are subject to
restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or otherwise transfer funds to other consolidated subsidiaries and, ultimately, to PHH Corporation
(the parent company). These restrictions are pursuant to certain of the Company�s asset-backed debt agreements and to regulatory restrictions
applicable to the equity of the Company�s reinsurance subsidiary. The aggregate restricted net assets of these subsidiaries totaled $1.2 billion as
of December 31, 2011. These restrictions on net assets of certain subsidiaries, however, do not directly limit the ability to pay dividends from
consolidated Retained earnings.

Certain of the Company�s debt arrangements also require the maintenance of financial ratios and contain restrictive covenants applicable to
consolidated financial statement elements, as well as restricted payment covenants that potentially could limit the ability to pay dividends.

Requirements of debt arrangements that could limit the ability to pay dividends include, but are not limited to:

• Pursuant to the Amended Credit Facility:

a) the Company may declare or pay any dividend only so long as the Company�s corporate ratings are equal to or better than at least two
of the following: Baa3 from Moody�s Investors Service, BBB- from Standard & Poor�s and BBB- from Fitch Ratings (in each case on stable
outlook or better);

b) if the provisions of (a) are not met, the Company may declare or pay any dividend only so long as:

• the Company is not in default under the Amended Credit Facility; and

• (i) the Convertible Notes due in 2012 have been repaid, prefunded, extended or refinanced; (ii) the aggregate unrestricted Cash and
cash equivalents is at least $50 million; and (iii) no amounts are borrowed under the Amended Credit Facility and no more than $50 million of
letters of credit are outstanding.
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c) If the provisions of (a) and (b) are not met, the Company may declare or pay any dividend only with the written consent of the lenders
representing more than 50% of the aggregate commitments under the Amended Credit Facility.

• Pursuant to the Senior Note indenture, the Company is restricted from paying dividends if, after giving effect to the dividend
payment, the debt to tangible equity ratio exceeds 6:1 on the last day of each month.

• Pursuant to the Medium-term note indenture, the Company is restricted from paying dividends if, after giving effect to the dividend
payment, the debt to equity ratio exceeds 6.5:1.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company may not pay dividends without the written consent of the lenders of the Amended Credit facility.
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16.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The after-tax components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

Unrealized
Gains On

Currency Available-
Translation for-Sale Pension
Adjustment Securities Adjustment Total

(In millions)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 6 $ � $ (9) $ (3)
Change during 2009 21 � 1 22
Balance at December 31, 2009 27 � (8) 19
Change during 2010 9 1 � 10
Balance at December 31, 2010 36 1 (8) 29
Change during 2011 (5) 1 (4) (8)
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 31 $ 2 $ (12) $ 21

All components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) presented above are net of income taxes; however the currency translation
adjustment presented above excludes income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered to be indefinitely
invested.

The tax effect of the change in unfunded pension liability was $(2) million and $1 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2009,
respectively, and was not significant for the year ended December 31, 2010.  The tax effect of the changes in unrealized gains on available for
sale securities was $1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 and was not significant for the year ended December 31, 2010.  There were
no available-for-sale securities outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2009.

17.  Stock-Based Compensation

The PHH Corporation Amended and Restated 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan (the �Plan�) governs awards of share based compensation. 
Employees have been awarded stock-based compensation in the form of RSUs and stock options to purchase shares of Common stock under the
Plan. The stock option awards have a maximum contractual term of ten years from the grant date. Service-based stock awards generally vest
upon the fulfillment of a service condition ratably over a period of up to five years from the grant date.  Certain service-based stock awards
provided for the possibility of accelerated vesting if certain performance criteria were achieved.  Performance-based stock awards require the
fulfillment of a service condition and the achievement of certain performance criteria and vest between two and three years from the grant date if
both conditions are met. The performance criteria may also impact the number of awards that may vest. All outstanding and unvested stock
options and RSUs have vesting conditions pursuant to a change in control. In addition, RSUs are granted to non-employee Directors as part of
their compensation for services rendered as members of the Company�s Board of Directors. These RSUs vest immediately when granted. New
shares of Common stock are issued to employees and Directors to satisfy the stock option exercise and RSU conversion obligations. The Plan
also allows awards of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and other stock- or cash-based awards. RSUs granted entitle employees to
receive one share of PHH Common stock upon the vesting of each RSU. The aggregate number of shares of PHH Common stock issuable under
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the Plan is 11,050,000.

Compensation cost for service-based stock awards is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, subject to
accelerated recognition of compensation cost for the portion of the award for which it is probable that the performance criteria will be achieved.
Compensation cost for performance-based stock awards is recognized over the requisite service period for the portion of the award for which it
is probable that the performance condition will be achieved. Compensation cost is recognized net of estimated forfeitures.
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2009 Modified Awards. A Transition Services and Separation Agreement was executed with a former Chief Executive Officer in August 2009.
Under the terms of this agreement, the former Chief Executive Officer�s stock-based awards were modified to extend the vesting period for
unvested awards and the exercise period for vested stock options. The 2009 Modified Awards resulted in incremental compensation cost of
approximately $2 million, which was recorded in Salaries and related expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended
December 31, 2009.

The following table summarizes expense recognized related to stock-based compensation arrangements:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Stock-based compensation expense $ 7 $ 7 $ 13
Income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense (3) (2) (5)
Stock-based compensation expense, net of income taxes $ 4 $ 5 $ 8

As of December 31, 2011, there was $9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding and unvested stock options and
RSUs all of which would be recognized upon a change in control. As of December 31, 2011, there was $7 million of unrecognized compensation
cost related to outstanding and unvested stock options and RSUs that are expected to vest and be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.0 years.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Weighted-
Average

Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic

Number of Exercise Term Value
Options Price (In years) (In millions)

Performance-Based Stock Options
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 18,409 $ 21.16
Exercised (6,929) 21.16
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 11,480 $ 21.16 2.4 $ �
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 11,480 $ 21.16 2.4 $ �
Stock options vested and expected to vest 11,480 $ 21.16 2.4 $ �
Service-Based Stock Options
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 1,646,209 $ 18.19
Granted 442,096 19.39
Exercised (383,832) 18.11
Forfeited or expired (61,857) 15.30
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Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,642,616 $ 18.67 5.5 $ �
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 1,030,312 $ 18.60 3.3 $ �
Stock options vested and expected to vest 1,639,873 $ 18.67 5.5 $ �

Generally, options are granted with exercise prices at the fair market value of the Company�s shares of Common stock, which is considered equal
to the closing share price on the date of grant. However, the exercise price of certain stock options granted during the year ended December 31,
2009 is equal to 1.2 times the closing share price on the grant date.
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value per stock option for awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 was
$7.93, $10.51 and $7.17, respectively.  The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option valuation model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Expected life (in years) 5.9 2.7 4.0
Risk-free interest rate 1.40% 0.90% 1.70%
Expected volatility 51.3% 40.5% 60.6%
Dividend yield � � �

The expected life of the stock options is estimated based on their vesting and contractual terms. The risk-free interest rate reflected the yield on
zero-coupon Treasury securities with a term approximating the expected life of the stock options. The expected volatility was based on the
historical volatility of the Company�s Common stock.

The intrinsic value of options exercised was $3 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. The amount was not significant during the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2009.

Restricted Stock Units

The following tables summarize restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Number of
RSUs(1)

Weighted-
Average
Grant-
Date Fair
Value

Performance-Based RSUs
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 340,597 $ 14.72
Granted 100,847 16.34
Converted (54,000) 19.64
Forfeited (81,600) 21.04
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 305,844 $ 14.63
RSUs expected to be converted into shares of Common stock 285,959 $ 14.69
Service-Based RSUs
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 941,222 $ 17.58
Granted(2) 92,216 16.31
Converted (372,229) 18.86
Forfeited (47,674) 16.32
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 613,535 $ 16.69
RSUs expected to be converted into shares of Common stock 570,946 $ 16.74
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(1) The performance criteria impact the number of awards that may vest.  The number of RSUs represents the expected number to be earned.

(2) Includes 65,216 RSUs earned by non-employee Directors for services rendered as members of the Board of Directors.

The total fair value of RSUs converted into shares of Common stock during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $9 million,
$10 million, and $6 million, respectively.
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18.  Fair Value Measurements

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, all financial instruments were either recorded at fair value or the carrying value approximated fair value,
with the exception of Debt and derivative instruments included in Total PHH Corporation stockholders� equity. See Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing
Arrangements� for the fair value of Debt as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. For financial instruments that were not recorded at fair value, such
as Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash and cash equivalents, the carrying value approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of
such instruments.

The incorporation of counterparty credit risk did not have a significant impact on the valuation of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value as
of December 31, 2011 or 2010.

See Note 1, �Summary of Significant Accounting Policies� for a description of the valuation hierarchy of inputs used in determining fair value
measurements.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

For assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the valuation methodologies, significant inputs, and classification pursuant
to the valuation hierarchy are as follows:

Restricted Investments. Restricted investments are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy.  Restricted investments represent
certain high credit quality debt securities, including Corporate securities, Agency securities and Government securities, that are classified as
available-for-sale and held in trust for the capital fund requirements of and potential claims related to mortgage reinsurance. The fair value of
restricted investments is estimated using current broker prices from multiple pricing sources. Significant assumptions impacting the valuation of
these instruments include interest rates and the levels of credit risk.  See Note 3, �Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments� for
additional information.

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale. Mortgage loans are classified within Level Two and Level Three of the valuation hierarchy.

For Level Two Mortgage loans held for sale (�MLHS�), fair value is estimated through a market approach by using either: (i) the fair value of
securities backed by similar mortgage loans, adjusted for certain factors to approximate the fair value of a whole mortgage loan, including the
value attributable to servicing rights and credit risk, (ii) current commitments to purchase loans or (iii) recent observable market trades for
similar loans, adjusted for credit risk and other individual loan characteristics. The Agency mortgage-backed security market is a highly liquid
and active secondary market for conforming conventional loans whereby quoted prices exist for securities at the pass-through level, which are
published on a regular basis. The Company has the ability to access this market and it is the market into which conforming mortgage loans are
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typically sold.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, certain Scratch and Dent (as defined below), and non-conforming loans were transferred from Level
Three to Level Two of the valuation hierarchy based on an increase in the availability of market data and increased trading activity.  Although
the market for non-conforming and Scratch and Dent loans does not have the same liquidity as the market for conforming loans, the number of
observable market participants and the number of non-distressed transactions has increased while the implied risk premium has decreased to the
point where available market information on transactions and quoted prices for similar assets are determinative of fair value.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, construction loans were transferred from Level Three to Level Two of the valuation hierarchy based
on a change in the valuation approach to a collateral based valuation using Level Two inputs.  The change in valuation approach was made
because the remaining population of construction loans consisted primarily of delinquent loans.

As of December 31, 2011, Level Three MLHS are valued using a discounted cash flow model and include second lien loans, including Scratch
and Dent second lien loans.
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The following table reflects the difference between the carrying amounts of Mortgage loans held for sale measured at fair value, and the
aggregate unpaid principal amount that the Company is contractually entitled to receive at maturity:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Total

Loans 90 days or
more past due and
on non-accrual

status Total

Loans 90 days or
more past due and
on non-accrual

status
(In millions)

Mortgage loans held for sale:
Carrying amount $ 2,658 $ 23 $ 4,329 $ 14
Aggregate unpaid principal balance 2,592 34 4,356 21
Difference $ 66 $ (11) $ (27) $ (7)

The following table summarizes the components of Mortgage loans held for sale:

December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
First mortgages:
Conforming (1) $ 2,483 $ 4,123
Non-conforming 109 138
Construction loans 4 11
Total first mortgages 2,596 4,272
Second lien 10 11
Scratch and Dent (2) 50 40
Other 2 6
Total $ 2,658 $ 4,329

(1) Represents mortgage loans that conform to the standards of the government-sponsored entities.

(2) Represents mortgage loans with origination flaws or performance issues.

Securitized Mortgage Loans. Securitized mortgage loans are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy. Securitized mortgage
loans represent loans securitized using a trust that is consolidated as a variable interest entity. See Note 19, �Variable Interest Entities� for
additional information. Loans held in the securitization trust are fixed-rate second lien residential mortgage loans that were originated primarily
in 2007.  The fair value of securitized mortgage loans is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which projects remaining cash flows with
expected prepayment speeds, loss rates and loss severities as the key drivers.
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Derivative Instruments. Derivative instruments are classified within Level Two and Level Three of the valuation hierarchy.  See Note 6,
�Derivatives� for additional information regarding derivative instruments.

Interest Rate Lock Commitments: Interest rate lock commitments (�IRLCs�) are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy.
IRLCs represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or an agreement to purchase a loan from a third-party originator,
whereby the interest rate on the loan is set prior to funding. The fair value of IRLCs is based upon the estimated fair value of the underlying
mortgage loan, including the expected net future cash flows related to servicing the mortgage loan, adjusted for: (i) estimated costs to complete
and originate the loan and (ii) an adjustment to reflect the estimated percentage of IRLCs that will result in a closed mortgage loan (or
�pullthrough�). The estimate of pullthrough is based on changes in pricing and actual borrower behavior. The average pullthrough percentage used
in measuring the fair value of IRLCs was 74% and 78% as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Forward Delivery Commitments: Forward delivery commitments are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy. Forward
delivery commitments fix the forward sales price that will be realized upon the sale of mortgage loans into the secondary market. The fair value
of forward delivery commitments is primarily based upon the current agency mortgage-backed security market to-be-announced pricing specific
to the loan program, delivery coupon and delivery date of the trade. Best efforts sales commitments are also entered into for certain loans at the
time the borrower commitment is made. These best efforts sales commitments are valued using the committed price to the counterparty against
the current market price of the interest rate lock commitment or mortgage loan held for sale.

Option Contracts:  Option contracts are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy. Option contracts represent the rights to buy or
sell mortgage-backed securities at specified prices in the future. The fair value of option contracts is based upon the underlying current to be
announced pricing of the agency mortgage-backed security market, and a market-based volatility.

MSR-Related Agreements: MSR-related agreements are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy.  MSR-related agreements
represent a combination of derivatives used to offset possible adverse changes in the fair value of MSRs, which may include options on swap
contracts and interest rate swap contracts.  The fair value of MSR-related agreements is determined using quoted prices for similar instruments.

Interest Rate Contracts: Interest rate contracts are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy.  Interest rate contracts represent
interest rate cap and swap agreements which are used to mitigate the impact of increases in short-term interest rates on variable-rate debt used to
fund fixed-rate leases.  The fair value of interest rate contracts is based upon projected short term interest rates and a market-based volatility.

Convertible Note-Related Agreements: Derivative instruments related to the Convertible notes due in 2014 include conversion options and
purchased options.  Convertible note-related agreements are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy due to the inactive, illiquid
market for the agreements. The fair value of the conversion option and purchased options is determined using an option pricing model and is
primarily impacted by changes in the market price and volatility of the Company�s Common stock. The convertible notes and related purchased
options and conversion option are further discussed in Note 10, �Debt and Borrowing Arrangements�.

Foreign Exchange Contracts: Foreign exchange contracts are classified within Level Two of the valuation hierarchy.  Foreign exchange
contracts are used to mitigate the exchange risk associated with Canadian dollar denominated lease assets collateralizing U.S. dollar
denominated borrowings.  The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is determined using current exchange rates. As of December 31, 2010
the amount recorded for foreign exchange contracts was not significant, and as of December 31, 2011, the Company did not hold any foreign
exchange contracts.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. Mortgage servicing rights (�MSRs�) are classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy due to the use of
significant unobservable inputs and the inactive market for such assets.

The fair value of MSRs is estimated based upon projections of expected future cash flows considering prepayment estimates (developed using a
model described below), the Company�s historical prepayment rates, portfolio characteristics, interest rates based on interest rate yield curves,
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implied volatility and other economic factors. A probability weighted option adjusted spread (�OAS�) model generates and discounts cash flows
for the MSR valuation. The OAS model generates numerous interest rate paths, then calculates the MSR cash flow at each monthly point for
each interest rate path and discounts those cash flows back to the current period. The MSR value is determined by averaging the discounted cash
flows from each of the interest rate paths. The interest rate paths are generated with a random distribution centered around implied forward
interest rates, which are determined from the interest rate yield curve at any given point of time.
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A key assumption in the estimate of the fair value of MSRs is forecasted prepayments. A third-party model is used as a basis to forecast
prepayment rates at each monthly point for each interest rate path in the OAS model. Prepayment rates used in the development of expected
future cash flows are based on historical observations of prepayment behavior in similar periods, comparing current mortgage interest rates to
the mortgage interest rates in the servicing portfolio, and incorporates loan characteristics (e.g., loan type and note rate) and factors such as
recent prepayment experience, the relative sensitivity of the capitalized loan servicing portfolio to refinance if interest rates decline and
estimated levels of home equity. On a quarterly basis, assumptions used in estimating fair value are validated against a number of third-party
sources, which may include peer surveys, MSR broker surveys, third-party valuations and other market-based sources.

The significant assumptions used in estimating the fair value of MSRs were as follows (in annual rates):

December 31,
2011 2010

Weighted-average prepayment speed (CPR) 18% 12%
Option adjusted spread, in basis points 857 844
Volatility 33% 29%

The following table summarizes the estimated change in the fair value of MSRs from adverse changes in the significant assumptions:

December 31, 2011
Weighted-
Average

Prepayment
Speed

Option
Adjusted
 Spread Volatility

(In millions)
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ (86) $ (42) $ (6)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change (165) (81) (13)

These sensitivities are hypothetical and presented for illustrative purposes only. Changes in fair value based on a 10% variation in assumptions
generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the
effect of a variation in a particular assumption is calculated without changing any other assumption; in reality, changes in one assumption may
result in changes in another, which may magnify or counteract the sensitivities. Further, this analysis does not assume any impact resulting from
management�s intervention to mitigate these variations.

Mortgage Loan Securitization Debt Certificates. Mortgage loan securitization debt certificates are classified within Level Three of the valuation
hierarchy. This debt represents senior securitization certificates payable to third-parties through the securitization trust, which is consolidated as
a variable interest entity.  The fair value of mortgage loan securitization debt certificates is estimated using a discounted cash flow model which
projects remaining cash flows with expected prepayment speeds.
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Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31, 2011

Level
One

Level
Two

Level
Three

Cash
Collateral

and Netting (1) Total
(In millions)

ASSETS
Restricted investments $ � $ 226 $ � $ � $ 226
Mortgage loans held for sale � 2,641 17 � 2,658
Mortgage servicing rights � � 1,209 � 1,209
Other assets:
Derivative assets:
Interest rate lock commitments � � 184 � 184
Forward delivery commitments � 38 � (32) 6
Option contracts � 2 � � 2
MSR-related agreements � 6 � (6) �
Interest rate contracts � 1 � � 1
Convertible note-related agreements � � 4 � 4
Securitized mortgage loans � � 28 � 28
LIABILITIES
Debt:
Mortgage loan securitization debt certificates $ � $ � $ 21 $ � $ 21
Other liabilities:
Derivative liabilities:
Forward delivery commitments � 127 � (86) 41
Interest rate contracts � 1 � � 1
Convertible note-related agreements � � 4 � 4
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December 31, 2010
Cash

Level Level Level Collateral
One Two Three and Netting(1) Total

(In millions)
ASSETS
Restricted investments $ � $ 254 $ � $ � $ 254
Mortgage loans held for sale � 4,157 172 � 4,329
Mortgage servicing rights � � 1,442 � 1,442
Other assets:
Derivative assets:
Interest rate lock commitments � � 42 � 42
Forward delivery commitments � 309 � (241) 68
Interest rate contracts � 4 � � 4
Convertible note-related agreements � � 54 � 54
Securitized mortgage loans � � 42 � 42
LIABILITIES
Debt:
Mortgage loan securitization debt certificates $ � $ � $ 30 $ � $ 30
Other liabilities:
Derivative liabilities:
Interest rate lock commitments � � 46 � 46
Forward delivery commitments � 82 � (51) 31
Convertible note-related agreements � � 54 � 54

(1)            Represents adjustments to arrive at the carrying amount of assets and liabilities presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the effect of netting
the payable or receivable and cash collateral held or placed with the same counterparties under master netting arrangements.

Activity in assets and liabilities classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy consisted of:

Year Ended December 31, 2011
Interest Mortgage loan

Mortgage Mortgage rate lock Securitized securitization
loans held servicing commitments, mortgage debt
for sale rights net loans certificates

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 172 $ 1,442 $ (4) $ 42 $ 30
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) for
assets (12) (733) 1,353 (1) �
Realized and unrealized losses for
liabilities � � � � 2
Purchases 25 1 � � �
Issuances 310 499 � � �
Settlements (307) � (1,165) (13) (11)
Transfers into level three 84 � � � �
Transfers out of level three (255) � � � �
Balance, end of period $ 17 $ 1,209 $ 184 $ 28 $ 21

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

244



132

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

245



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended December 31, 2010
Interest Mortgage loan

Mortgage Mortgage rate lock Securitized securitization
loans held servicing commitments, Investment mortgage debt
for sale rights net securities loans certificates

(In millions)
Balance, beginning of period $ 111 $ 1,413 $ 26 $ 12 $ � $ �
Realized and unrealized gains
(losses) for assets (27) (427) 1,212 � 7 �
Realized and unrealized losses
for liabilities � � � � � 4
Purchases, issuances and
settlements, net 61 456 (1,242) (1) (16) (14)
Transfers into level three 104 � � � � �
Transfers out of level three (77) � � � � �
Transition adjustment (1) � � � (11) 51 40
Balance, end of period $ 172 $ 1,442 $ (4) $ � $ 42 $ 30

(1)            Represents the transition adjustment related to the adoption of updates to Consolidation and Transfers and Servicing accounting guidance resulting in
the consolidation of a mortgage loan securitization trust.  (See Note 1, �Summary of Significant Accounting Policies� and Note 19, �Variable Interest Entities� for
additional information).

The Company conducts a review of fair value hierarchy classifications on a quarterly basis. Changes in the availability of observable inputs may
result in the reclassification, or transfer, of certain assets or liabilities.  Such reclassifications are reported as transfers into or out of a level as of
the beginning of the quarter that the change occurs. Transfers into Level three generally represent mortgage loans held for sale with performance
issues, origination flaws or other characteristics that impact their salability in active secondary market transactions.  Transfers out of Level three
generally represent mortgage loans held for sale with corrected performance issues or origination flaws or loans that were foreclosed upon. 
Mortgage loans in foreclosure are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, as discussed in further detail below.

As discussed above under Mortgage loans held for sale, for the year ended December 31, 2011, Transfers out of level three also represent the
transfer of certain mortgage loans between Level Three to Level Two of the valuation hierarchy based on an increase in the availability of
market bids and increased trading activity.
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Realized and unrealized gains (losses) related to assets and liabilities classified within Level Three of the valuation hierarchy were included in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010
(In millions)

Gain on mortgage loans, net:
Mortgage loans held for sale $ (19) $ (36)
Interest rate lock commitments 1,353 1,212
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights:
Mortgage servicing rights (733) (427)
Mortgage interest income:
Mortgage loans held for sale 7 9
Securitized mortgage loans 5 6
Mortgage interest expense:
Mortgage securitization debt certificates (5) (6)
Other income:
Securitized mortgage loans (6) 1
Mortgage securitization debt certificates 3 1

Unrealized gains (losses) included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations related to assets and liabilities classified within Level Three of
the valuation hierarchy that are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010

(In millions)
Gain on mortgage loans, net $ 181 $ (20)
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights (510) (166)
Other income (3) 2

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Other Assets.  Other assets that are evaluated for impairment using fair value measurements on a non-recurring basis consists of mortgage loans
in foreclosure and real estate owned (�REO�). The evaluation of impairment reflects an estimate of losses currently incurred at the balance sheet
date, which will likely not be recoverable from guarantors, insurers or investors. The impairment of mortgage loans in foreclosure, which
represents the unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans for which foreclosure proceedings have been initiated, plus recoverable advances on
those loans, is based on the fair value of the underlying collateral, determined on a loan level basis, less costs to sell. Fair value of the collateral
is estimated by considering appraisals and broker price opinions, which are updated on a periodic basis to reflect current housing market
conditions. REO, which are acquired from mortgagors in default, are recorded at the lower of adjusted carrying amount at the time the property
is acquired or fair value of the property, less estimated costs to sell. Fair value of REO is estimated using appraisals and broker price opinions,
which are updated on a periodic basis to reflect current housing market conditions.
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The allowance for probable losses associated with mortgage loans in foreclosure and the adjustment to record REO at their estimated net
realizable value were based upon fair value measurements from Level Two of the valuation hierarchy.  During the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, total foreclosure-related charges of $80 million and $72 million, respectively, were recorded in Other operating expenses, which
include changes in the estimate of losses related to off-balance sheet exposure to loan repurchases and indemnifications in addition to the
provision for valuation adjustments for mortgage loans in foreclosure and REO. See Note 13, �Credit Risk� for further discussion regarding the
balances of mortgage loans in foreclosure, REO, and the off-balance sheet exposure to loan repurchases and indemnifications.
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19.  Variable Interest Entities

The Company determines whether an entity is a variable interest entity (�VIE�) and whether it is the primary beneficiary at the date of initial
involvement with the entity. The Company reassesses whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE upon certain events that affect the VIE�s
equity investment at risk and upon certain changes in the VIE�s activities. The purposes and activities of the VIE are considered in determining
whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, including the variability and related risks the VIE incurs and transfers to other entities and their
related parties. Based on these factors, a qualitative assessment is made and, if inconclusive, a quantitative assessment of whether it would
absorb a majority of the VIE�s expected losses or receive a majority of the VIE�s expected residual returns. If the Company determines that it is
the primary beneficiary of the VIE, the VIE is consolidated within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company�s involvement in variable interest entities primarily relate to PHH Home Loans, a joint venture with Realogy Corporation, fleet
vehicle financing activities and a mortgage securitization trust.  The activities of significant variable interest entities are more fully described
below.

Assets and liabilities of significant consolidated variable interest entities are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31, 2011
Chesapeake FLRT and Mortgage

PHH Home and D.L. PHH Lease Securitization
Loans Peterson Trust Receivables LP Trust

(In millions)
ASSETS
Cash $ 52 $ 2 $ � $ �
Restricted cash(1) 2 262 49 �
Mortgage loans held for sale 476 � � �
Accounts receivable, net 21 58 � �
Net investment in fleet leases � 2,818 572 �
Property, plant and equipment, net 1 � � �
Other assets 18 8 12 28
Total assets $ 570 $ 3,148 $ 633 $ 28
Assets held as collateral(2) $ 463 $ 3,138 $ 610 $ �
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 21 $ 2 $ 13 $ �
Debt 434 2,549 538 21
Other liabilities 9 � � �
Total liabilities(3) $ 464 $ 2,551 $ 551 $ 21
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December 31, 2010
Chesapeake FLRT and Mortgage

PHH Home and D.L. PHH Lease Securitization
Loans Peterson Trust Receivables LP Trust

(In millions)
ASSETS
Cash $ 40 $ 4 $ � $ �
Restricted cash (1) � 202 39 �
Mortgage loans held for sale 384 � � �
Accounts receivable, net 14 50 � �
Net investment in fleet leases � 2,854 502 �
Property, plant and equipment, net 1 � � �
Other assets 10 12 18 42
Total assets $ 449 $ 3,122 $ 559 $ 42
Assets held as collateral (2) $ 331 $ 3,106 $ 506 $ �
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 20 $ 3 $ 16 $ �
Debt 304 2,577 450 30
Other liabilities 5 � � �
Total liabilities (3) $ 329 $ 2,580 $ 466 $ 30

(1)            Restricted cash of Chesapeake Funding and FLRT primarily relates to amounts specifically designated to purchase assets, to repay debt and/or to
provide over-collateralization related to vehicle management asset-backed debt arrangements.

(2)            Assets held as collateral relate to the entity�s borrowing arrangements and are not available to pay the Company�s general obligations.  See Note 10, �Debt
and Borrowing Arrangements� for further information.

(3)            Total liabilities exclude intercompany payables as discussed below.

In addition to the assets and liabilities of significant variable interest entities that were consolidated as outlined above, the Company had the
following involvement with these entities as of and for the year ended December 31:

Net income (loss)(1)
2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
PHH Home Loans $ 46 $ 46 $ 38
Chesapeake and D.L. Peterson Trust 53 40 30
FLRT and PHH Lease Receivables LP 7 (3) �
Mortgage Securitization Trust (2) (3) 3 �

PHH Corporation Intercompany
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Investment(3) receivable (payable)(3)
2011 2010 2011 2010

(In millions)
PHH Home Loans $ 57 $ 66 $ 14 $ 38
Chesapeake and D.L. Peterson Trust 761 751 27 (2)
FLRT and PHH Lease Receivables Trust LP 96 84 (14) 4
Mortgage Securitization Trust 7 12 � �

(1)            Includes adjustments for the elimination of intercompany transactions.

(2)            Entity was consolidated January 1, 2010 as a result of updates to Consolidation and Transfers and Servicing accounting guidance.

(3)            Amounts are eliminated in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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PHH Home Loans

The Company owns 50.1% of PHH Home Loans and Realogy Corporation owns the remaining 49.9%. The operations of PHH Home Loans are
governed by the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement.  PHH Home Loans was formed for the purpose of originating and selling mortgage
loans primarily sourced through Realogy�s owned real estate brokerage business, NRT, and corporate relocation business, Cartus.  All loans
originated by PHH Home Loans are sold to PHH Mortgage or to unaffiliated third-party investors at arm�s-length terms. The PHH Home Loans
Operating Agreement provides that at least 15% of the total loans originated by PHH Home Loans are sold to unaffiliated third party investors.
PHH Home Loans does not hold any mortgage loans for investment purposes or retain mortgage servicing rights for any loans it originates.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, PHH Home Loans originated residential mortgage loans of $9.6 billion, $10.5
billion and $10.3 billion, respectively, and PHH Home Loans brokered or sold $6.2 billion, $7.9 billion and $11.1 billion, respectively, of
mortgage loans to the Company under the terms of a loan purchase agreement.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, approximately 22% of
the mortgage loans originated by the Company were derived from Realogy Corporation�s affiliates, of which approximately 84% were originated
by PHH Home Loans.  As of December 31, 2011, the Company had outstanding commitments from PHH Home Loans to purchase or fund $759
million of mortgage loans and lock commitments expected to result in closed mortgage loans.

The Company did not make any capital contributions to support the operations of PHH Home Loans during the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009.  Distributions received from PHH Home Loans were $20 million, $11 million and $8 million during the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company manages PHH Home Loans through its subsidiary, PHH Broker Partner, with the exception of certain specified actions that are
subject to approval by Realogy through PHH Home Loans� board of advisors, which consists of representatives of Realogy and the Company.
The board of advisors has no managerial authority, and its primary purpose is to provide a means for Realogy to exercise its approval rights over
those specified actions of PHH Home Loans for which Realogy�s approval is required. PHH Mortgage operates under a Management Services
Agreement with PHH Home Loans, pursuant to which PHH Mortgage provides certain mortgage origination processing and administrative
services for PHH Home Loans. In exchange for such services, PHH Home Loans pays PHH Mortgage a fee per service and a fee per loan,
subject to a minimum amount.

PHH Home Loans is financed through equity contributions, sales of mortgage loans to PHH Mortgage and other investors, and secured and
unsecured subordinated indebtedness. The Company maintains an unsecured subordinated Intercompany Line of Credit with PHH Home Loans
with $100 million capacity. This indebtedness is not collateralized by the assets of PHH Home Loans. The Company has extended the
subordinated financing to increase PHH Home Loans� capacity to fund mortgage loans and to support certain covenants of the entity. There were
no borrowings outstanding under this Intercompany Line of Credit as of December 31, 2011 or 2010.

Subject to certain regulatory and financial covenant requirements, net income generated by PHH Home Loans is distributed quarterly to its
members pro rata based upon their respective ownership interests. PHH Home Loans may also require additional capital contributions from the
Company and Realogy under the terms of the Operating Agreement if it is required to meet minimum regulatory capital and reserve
requirements imposed by any governmental authority or any creditor of PHH Home Loans or its subsidiaries.
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Realogy�s ownership interest is presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a noncontrolling interest. The Company�s determination of
the primary beneficiary was based on both quantitative and qualitative factors, which indicated that its variable interests will absorb a majority of
the expected losses and receive a majority of the expected residual returns of PHH Home Loans. The Company has maintained the most
significant variable interests in the entity, which include the majority ownership of common equity interests, the outstanding Intercompany Line
of Credit, PHH Home Loans Loan Purchase and Sale Agreement, and the Management Services Agreement. The Company has been the primary
beneficiary of PHH Home Loans since its inception, and there have been no current period events that would change the decision regarding
whether or not to consolidate PHH Home Loans.
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The Company is not solely obligated to provide additional financial support to PHH Home Loans; however, the termination of this joint venture
could have a material adverse effect on the Company�s business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Additionally, the
insolvency or inability for Realogy to perform its obligations under the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, or its other agreements with the
Company, could have a material adverse effect on the Company�s business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Pursuant to the PHH Home Loans Operating Agreement, Realogy has the right to terminate the Strategic Relationship Agreement and terminate
this venture upon the occurrence of certain events. If Realogy were to terminate its exclusivity obligations with respect to the Company or
terminate this venture, it could have a material adverse impact on the Company�s business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, beginning on February 1, 2015, Realogy may terminate the Operating Agreement at any time by giving two years� notice to the
Company. Upon Realogy�s termination of the agreement, Realogy will have the option either to require that PHH purchase their interest in PHH
Home Loans at fair value, plus, in certain cases, liquidated damages, or to cause the Company to sell its interest in PHH Home Loans to a third
party designated by Realogy at fair value plus, in certain cases, liquidated damages. In the case of a termination by Realogy following a change
in control of PHH, the Company may be required to make a cash payment to Realogy in an amount equal to PHH Home Loans� trailing 12
months net income multiplied by the greater of (i) the number of years remaining in the first 12 years of the term of the agreement or (ii) two
years.

The Company has the right to terminate the Operating Agreement upon, among other things, a material breach by Realogy of a material
provision of the agreement, in which case the Company has the right to purchase Realogy�s interest in PHH Home Loans at a price derived from
an agreed-upon formula based upon fair market value (which is determined with reference to that trailing 12 months EBITDA) for PHH Home
Loans and the average market EBITDA multiple for mortgage banking companies.

Upon termination, all of PHH Home Loans agreements will terminate automatically (excluding certain privacy, non-competition, venture-related
transition provisions and other general provisions), and Realogy will be released from any restrictions under the PHH Home Loans agreements
that may restrict its ability to pursue a partnership, joint venture or another arrangement with any third-party mortgage operation.

Chesapeake and D.L. Peterson Trust

Vehicle acquisitions in the U.S. for the Fleet Management services segment are primarily financed through the issuance of asset-backed variable
funding notes issued by the Company�s wholly owned subsidiary Chesapeake Funding LLC.  D.L. Peterson Trust (�DLPT�), a bankruptcy remote
statutory trust, holds the title to all vehicles that collateralize the debt issued by Chesapeake Funding. DLPT also acts as a lessor under both
operating and direct financing lease agreements.  Chesapeake Funding�s assets primarily consist of a loan made to Chesapeake Finance Holdings
LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Chesapeake Finance owns all of the special units of beneficial interest in the leased vehicles
and eligible leases and certain other assets issued by DLPT, representing all interests in DLPT.

The Company determined that each of Chesapeake Funding, Chesapeake Finance and DLPT are VIEs and that it is the primary beneficiary due
to insufficient equity investment at risk. The determination was made on a qualitative basis, considering the nature and purpose of each of the

Edgar Filing: PHH CORP - Form 10-K

254



entities and how risk transfers to interest holders through their variable interests.  The Company holds the significant variable interests, which
include equity interests, ownership of certain amounts of asset-backed debt issued by Chesapeake and interests in DLPT. There are no
significant variable interests that would absorb losses prior to the Company or that hold variable interests that exceed those of the Company.
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During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, certain capital transactions were executed between the Company and Chesapeake
whereby the Company made contributions to Chesapeake for increased escrow requirements, debt issuance costs and additional paydown of
outstanding notes of Chesapeake of $10 million, $2 million, and $67 million during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.  Distributions received from Chesapeake were $33 million, $27 million and $22 million during the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In accordance with the Amended and Restated Servicer Agreement, the Company acts as a servicer for Chesapeake Finance and DLPT and in
accordance with the Administrative Agreement, the Company acts as an administrator of the entities.  The Company received related fees from
Chesapeake of $6 million, $7 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Fleet Leasing Receivables Trust

Fleet Leasing Receivables Trust (�FLRT�) is a Canadian special purpose trust and its primary business activities include the acquisition,
disposition and administration of purchased or acquired lease assets from our other Canadian subsidiaries and the borrowing of funds or the
issuance of securities to finance such acquisitions. PHH Fleet Lease Receivables LP is a bankruptcy remote special purpose entity that holds the
beneficial ownership of lease assets transferred from Canadian subsidiaries.

Upon the initial funding of the FLRT entity during the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company determined that it is the primary
beneficiary and that FLRT and PHH Fleet Lease Receivables LP are VIEs.  The determination was made on a qualitative basis after considering
the nature and purpose of the entities and how the risk transferred to interest holders through their variable interests.

Certain FLRT debt transactions are structured whereby subsidiaries of the Company contribute the beneficial ownership in vehicles under lease
to PHH Fleet Lease Receivables LP and receive distributions upon the issuance of the debt by FLRT.  During the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries contributed $349 million and $329 million of vehicles to FLRT, respectively, and received
distributions of $339 million and $252 million, respectively.

The Company acts as initial servicer, collections agent and financial services agent of FLRT and PHH Fleet Lease Receivables LP.  Related fees
of $1 million were paid to the Company by FLRT for each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Mortgage Loan Securitization Trust

As a result of the adoption of updates to ASC 810 and ASC 860 as of January 1, 2010, a mortgage loan securitization trust that previously met
the qualifying special purpose entity scope exception was consolidated. The Company holds subordinate debt certificates of the trust with a fair
value of $7 million and $12 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company�s investment in the subordinated debt and
residual interests, in connection with its function as servicer for the trust, provides the Company with a controlling financial interest in the trust.
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Distributions received from the securitization trust for the Company�s residual interests were $2 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010.

As discussed in Note 23, �Subsequent Events�, in January 2012 the Company sold its residual interests in the securitization trust.
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20.  Related Party Transactions

Certain Business Relationships

Thomas P. (Todd) Gibbons, one of the Company�s Directors effective July 1, 2011, is Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of the Bank of
New York Mellon Corporation, the Bank of New York Mellon, and BNY Mellon, N.A. (collectively �BNY Mellon�).  The Company has certain
relationships with BNY Mellon, including financial services, commercial banking and other transactions. BNY Mellon participates as a lender in
several of the Company�s credit facilities, functions as the custodian for loan files, and functions as the indenture trustee on the Convertible notes
due in 2012 and 2014, and the Senior notes due in 2016, as well as several of the Vehicle management asset-backed debt facilities.  The
Company also executes forward loan sales agreements and interest rate contracts with BNY Mellon.  These transactions were entered into in the
ordinary course of business upon terms, including interest rate and collateral, substantially the same as those prevailing at the time. The fees paid
to BNY Mellon, including interest expense, during the year ended December 31, 2011 were not significant.

21.  Segment Information

Operations are conducted through three business segments: Mortgage Production, Mortgage Servicing and Fleet Management Services.

• Mortgage Production � provides mortgage loan origination services and sells mortgage loans.

• Mortgage Servicing � performs servicing activities for originated and purchased loans.

• Fleet Management Services � provides commercial fleet management services.

Certain income and expenses not allocated to the three reportable segments and intersegment eliminations are reported under the heading Other. 
The Company�s operations are substantially located in the U.S.

Management evaluates the operating results of each of the reportable segments based upon Net revenues and segment profit or loss, which is
presented as the income or loss before income tax expense or benefit and after net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interest. The
Mortgage Production segment profit or loss excludes Realogy Corporation�s noncontrolling interest in the profit or loss of PHH Home Loans.
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Segment results for the year ended and as of December 31, were as follows:

Total Assets
2011 2010

(In millions)
Mortgage Production segment $ 3,085 $ 4,605
Mortgage Servicing segment 2,018 2,291
Fleet Management Services segment 4,337 4,216
Other 337 158
Total $ 9,777 $ 11,270

Net Revenues Segment Profit (Loss)(2)
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage Production segment(1) $ 914 $ 911 $ 880 $ 258 $ 268 $ 306
Mortgage Servicing segment (343) (63) 82 (557) (241) (85)
Fleet Management Services segment 1,646 1,593 1,649 75 63 54
Other (3) (3) (5) (3) (3) (15)
Total $ 2,214 $ 2,438 $ 2,606 $ (227) $ 87 $ 260
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Interest Income Interest Expense
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage Production segment $ 101 $ 97 $ 79 $ 125 $ 113 $ 90
Mortgage Servicing segment 15 15 12 76 69 61
Fleet Management Services segment 3 2 9 82 94 95
Other (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (10)
Total $ 117 $ 112 $ 98 $ 281 $ 274 $ 236

Depreciation on Operating Leases Other Depreciation and Amortization
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009

(In millions)
Mortgage Production segment $ � $ � $ � $ 9 $ 10 $ 14
Mortgage Servicing segment � � � 1 1 1
Fleet Management Services segment 1,223 1,224 1,267 11 11 11
Other � � � 4 � �
Total $ 1,223 $ 1,224 $ 1,267 $ 25 $ 22 $ 26

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2011, Net revenues and segment profit for the Mortgage Production segment includes a $68 million gain on the 50.1% sale
of the equity interests in the Company�s appraisal services business.

(2) The following is a reconciliation of (Loss) income before income taxes to segment (loss) profit:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
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